Advanced industrial societies all over the world face a massive epidemic of chronic disease caused by insufficient vitamin D. Modern life keeps us indoors away from the sun which supplies 90 per cent of the vitamin D which we need.

A billion or more people in Europe obtain insufficient sunlight and vitamin D putting them at increased risk of diabetes, high blood pressure, arthritis, multiple sclerosis and the common cancers including cancer of the bowel, breast, prostate, ovary and lymph glands as well as diseases of bone.

This epidemic of chronic disease caused by insufficient vitamin D is probably as large as the epidemics caused by smoking and obesity, but the importance of vitamin D for health is still not properly recognised by governments.

This report of a meeting in London at the House of Commons, chaired by Ian Gibson MP, examines the evidence for the D-deficiency epidemic and considers how policy on fortification of food, sunbathing, and use of supplements might be changed to provide more vitamin D and better protection against chronic disease in the 21st century.

Previously published by Health Research Forum:

Sunlight Robbery – Health benefits of sunlight are denied by current public health policy in the UK. Author: Oliver Gillie Available as a free download from www.healthresearchforum.org.uk



Price including postage: £12.50 in UK € 20.00 in EU \$20.00 in USA and Canada From: Health Research Forum 68, Whitehall Park London N19 3TN, UK

Copies of this report may be downloaded free from the Health Research Forum website at: **www.healthresearchforum.org.uk**





SUNLIGHT, VITAMIN D & HEALTH

A report of a conference held at the House of Commons in November 2005, organised by the Health Research Forum

> **Editor: Oliver Gillie** Health Research Forum Occasional Reports: No 2

SUNLIGHT, VITAMIN D 2: HEALTH

A report of a conference held at the House of Commons in November 2005, organised by the Health Research Forum

> **Editor: Oliver Gillie** Health Research Forum Occasional Reports: No 2



Published by Health Research Forum Publishing, 68 Whitehall Park, London, N19 3TN, UK

First Edition 2006

© Health Research Forum Publishing

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or

transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise,

without the prior permission of the editor and publisher.

ISBN-0-9553200-0-3

Acknowledgements

Very many people have helped me in many ways to pursue my interest in vitamin D and sunlight. I could not have achieved much without their help and wish to thank them all. I am particularly grateful to the following people: Jim Anderson, Barbara Boucher, Michael Crozier, George Davey-Smith, Sir Richard Doll, Ian Gibson MP, Dianne Godar, Bill Grant, Jeremy Laurance, Julian Peto, Philippa Pigache, Jan Thompson, Reinhold Vieth, Deanna Wilson.

Oliver Gillie

Health Research Forum

This report is published by Health Research Forum, a private non-profit making research organisation, founded by Oliver Gillie in 2004.

Oliver Gillie

Oliver Gillie is a freelance medical researcher and writer. Formerly he was medical correspondent of The Sunday Times, then medical editor and later special correspondent of The Independent newspaper. He has BSc and PhD degrees from Edinburgh University where he studied genetics and developmental biology under Professor C.H. Waddington at the Institute of Animal Genetics, Edinburgh. He also undertook research at the National Institute for Medical Research, Mill Hill, under Sir Peter Medawar.

Contact: Oliver Gillie, 68 Whitehall Park, London N19 3TN, UK. E-mail: olivergillie@blueyonder.co.uk – Telephone: +44 20 7561 9677

Design and production: Design Unlimited Editing and sub-editing: Deanna Wilson, Toby Vincent and Guy Crozier

Contents

Preface
Introduction
Summary
The vitamin D epidemic: truth and consequences. Michael F. Holick
Health consequences of insufficient vitamin D. Armin Zitterman
Genes, environment and prostate cancer risk. Nicholas J. Rukin, Christopher J. Luscombe and Richard C. Strange 25-32
Vitamin D: photobiology and relevance for cancer. Johan Moan, Zoya Lagunova and Alina Porojnicu
Insufficient sunshine as a cause of multiple sclerosis. George Ebers
How much vitamin D is enough for optimum health? Reinhold Vieth
Vitamin D insufficiency in the UK and diabetes. Elina Hyppönen
Evidence of deficiency and insufficiency of vitamin D in the UK. Barbara J. Boucher
Do we need more sun exposure? Brian Diffey
A new health policy for sunlight and vitamin D. Oliver Gillie
Author Biographies

Preface

This is a fascinating collection of papers gleaned from the conference on Sunlight, Vitamin D and Health, held in the House of Commons in November 2005. This publication could not come at a more timely point. As the authors persuasively demonstrate, there is a great need for the government to revise its advice on vitamin D intake. There is growing evidence which suggests that most adults in the UK receive such low levels of vitamin D that they are at risk of all sorts of chronic diseases, including rickets, osteomalacia and osteoporosis.

It has become almost received wisdom that vitamin D insufficiency is not a serious health problem, and as such we don't have to worry about it too much. An extraordinary state of affairs if one thinks of the dearth of sunlight (a key source of vitamin D) available in the British Isles! Oliver Gillie, one of the authors in the collection, reveals that our current guidelines on sunlight intake are probably borrowed from those given by the Australian government to its public.

Whatever position one may take, it is important that the research gathered in these pages receives an objective if not a sympathetic ear. It seems ludicrous to me that we can be so dogmatic about this area and continue to foster an environment in which vitamin D is almost feared, as its main source – sunlight – is explicitly linked in the public (and professional) psyche to skin cancer. No other vitamin suffers as much indirect bad press as vitamin D, simply through association and often without hard evidence to justify the unease among officials when it is suggested that current levels should be increased by offering better supplements, changing diets and, most controversially, by increased sunbathing.

This publication is therefore, I hope, the beginning of a more proactive approach to public health advice. I, like many of the authors, would like to see the government instigate a national campaign to encourage the public to eat foods rich in vitamin D. I'd like it to revise its current guidelines, reintroduce vitamin D supplements for breast-fed babies and review its recommendations on the level and use of vitamin supplements.

A long list perhaps, but entirely achievable. If this goes too far for some, at the very least, good research projects must be sought to provide us with more information in this area. This report is the first step in a very right direction.

Ian Gibson, MP House of Commons Westminster January 2006

Ian Gibson is member of Parliament for Norwich North. He is a member of the House of Commons Select Committee for Science and Technology, and a member of the All Party Group on Cancer.

Introduction

I would like to introduce this collection of papers with a tribute to Sir Richard Doll, who died in 2005 at the grand old age of 92. Julian Peto and I went to talk to him about vitamin D while he was still fit and well.

Doll had shown that a four-monthly oral dose of 100,000 IUs vitamin D3 reduced fractures in people over 65 [1]. The study, undertaken with Daksha Trivedi and Kay Tee Khaw, also showed a non-significant reduction in mortality in the subjects who took vitamin D. Impressed by these results, and believing that vitamin D probably had beneficial effects other than those on bone, Doll himself took a monthly vitamin D tablet equivalent to about 1,000 IUs per day. In fact the tablet he was taking was vitamin D2, which only has one-third the potency of D3. High-dose vitamin D preparations are only available on prescription in the UK and are all formulated with D2. Most clinicians are not aware of the important difference in potency between D2 and D3.

Doll had courageously changed his mind about the importance of vitamin D and the beneficial effects of exposure to the sun. As chairman of the UK Advisory Group on Non-ionising Radiation (AGNIR) he had signed off a report of the National Radiological Protection Board (NRPB) which states that casual exposure to the sun in the UK provides people with sufficient vitamin D [2]. That belief is still a



Sir Richard Doll

foundation stone of official policy on sunlight in the UK, but when Doll looked further into the evidence he realised that it had little scientific support. However, he did not want his revised opinion to be made public until he had formally notified the NRPB, so he telephoned Professor Tony Swerdlow, the presiding chairman of AGNIR, to report his change of view.

In the months before his death Doll was reviewing the literature on vitamin D and sunlight. The study he had undertaken with Trivedi and Khaw was intended to be a pilot project, and Doll still hoped to obtain funding for a larger trial which would examine a wider range of possible benefits. He was also seeking support for a conference on vitamin D, and the meeting at the House of Commons at which this collection of papers was presented is a tribute to him and to his interest in vitamin D.

Doll believed in the utility of science and had seen at first hand what benefits can come from a clear understanding and exposition of the causes of disease. No doubt with this experience in mind, he left Julian and me with this thought-provoking comment as we departed: 'This isn't difficult science. We should have answers.'

He clearly felt that the subject of vitamin D had not had the attention it deserved from scientists and that a great deal could be achieved. There are still major disagreements among health researchers about the strength of the evidence that insufficient vitamin D or sunlight increases the risk of various diseases. But all are agreed that this is an important problem, and that these initiatives need to be supported by substantial funds and positive government action.

The meeting at the House of Commons was hosted and chaired by Dr Ian Gibson, MP. As well as being a member of Parliament Dr Gibson is a distinguished scientist with a long career in scientific research. He has been deservedly chosen on two occasions to be the ePolitix health champion, the member of Parliament who has done most for health causes during the course of a year. We are very grateful for his support.

After the morning meeting I met the speakers and other like-minded people to discuss what can be done to obtain the co-operation of the UK government, the European Union and others for further research and action to improve vitamin D levels in people everywhere. Several of those present said they would raise the issues with their professional bodies and would suggest that meetings and symposia be planned to discuss the subject. We also agreed to set up an organisation, which we have provisionally called the Vitamin D Forum, to keep all those interested in the subject of Vitamin D, Sunlight and Health in touch. Anyone reading this who would like to know more about the Vitamin D Forum should contact me.

I would also like to express my thanks to Ad Brand and the European Sunlight Association who provided financial support for this meeting. The ESA represents manufacturers of sunlamps and their associates. They have been enlightened sponsors and have not endeavoured to influence the choice of speakers or the programme of the meeting in any way. The ESA has paid travel and subsistence expenses to speakers but no honoraria have been paid to speakers for participating in this meeting. I myself have no commercial interests in this work and have received no payments of any kind in connection with it.

Oliver Gillie, Health Research Forum, January 2006

References:

- **1.** Trivedi, D., Doll, R. and Khaw, K., Effect of four-monthly oral vitamin D3 (cholecalciferol) supplementation on fractures and mortality in men and women living in the community: randomised double blind controlled trial. British Medical Journal 2003; **326**: 469-474.
- 2. *Health effects of ultraviolet radiation.* National Radiological Protection Board. Report of an Advisory Group on Non-ionising Radiation 2002; **13**. No 1. Published by NRPB, Didcot, Oxon.

Summary: vitamin D, sunlight and health

Cancer risk reduced by vitamin D and sunbathing

Six out of 10 adults of working age in the UK, and probably in other European countries too, are at risk of chronic disease because they do not get enough vitamin D. The diseases caused, at least in part, by insufficient vitamin D or insufficient sunlight include not only bone conditions such as osteoporosis and rickets but diabetes, multiple sclerosis and several different kinds of cancer, as well as high blood pressure and probably heart disease.

Knowledge of the connection between vitamin D insufficiency and chronic disease other than diseases of bone has, until very recently, been minimal among doctors and others responsible for public health. So this meeting was organised at the House of Commons by Oliver Gillie, director of the Health Research Forum, a not-for-profit organisation, with the backing of Ian Gibson, MP, to review the scientific evidence linking insufficient vitamin D with chronic disease. Public health policy concerning vitamin D and sunlight was also reviewed at the meeting.

Exposure to summer sun improves survival from cancer according to Professor Johan Moan of the Institute for Cancer Research in Oslo, Norway, who has studied what happened to all the people diagnosed with cancer in Norway between 1964 and 2000 (page 33). He found that the risk of a person dying within three years of diagnosis with prostate, breast, colon, or lung cancer, or with Hodgkin's lymphoma, is up to 50% lower for those diagnosed during summer and autumn compared with winter.

'In Nordic countries, and in Britain, practically no vitamin D is generated in the skin during the winter months because solar radiation contains too little ultraviolet B,' said Professor Moan. 'In summer, calcidiol, a form of vitamin D that circulates in blood, is up to 100% greater than in winter. It seems likely that calcidiol protects against these cancers. We have also found that the risk of death from cancer varies in Norway from one part of the country to another, depending on the amount of solar radiation that is received.'

In the UK the risk of getting prostate cancer has also been found to vary with the amount of sun a man is exposed to, according to work by Professor Richard Strange of Keele University Medical School, Staffordshire (page 25). Men who sunbathe, or have holidays in sunny climates, and those who have suffered from sunburn, have a lower risk of prostate cancer. (In these observations sunburn is simply a sign of heavy sun exposure. Burning should be avoided because it carries a risk of skin cancer.)

'A lower level of exposure to UV light is linked to increased risk of prostate cancer in northern European men. Men with the lightest skin type, fair with freckles, have the least risk of prostate cancer, presumably because they are able to make use of the weakest sunlight to produce vitamin D,' said Professor Strange.

'I used to cover up and use sun cream when I went out walking in the hills but now I don't. I try to get as much sun as I safely can,' he said.

Multiple sclerosis linked to long winters

Insufficient exposure to the sun is also associated with a higher risk of multiple sclerosis. Evidence from Australia suggests that exposure to the sun during childhood and adolescence is particularly important for reducing the risk of MS (BMJ 2003; 327-316), and low exposure to the sun in winter was found to be associated with an increased risk of MS in Australia.

Above latitude 37°North the sun is not strong enough to provide any vitamin D in winter. The further north a country is the less sun it gets in summer and the shorter its summer season. This explains why Scotland, which also has a cloudy maritime climate that obscures the summer sun, has probably the highest incidence of MS in the world. Much other evidence shows a link between MS and latitude. In France, as explained by George Ebers on page 41, the incidence of MS in French farmers is significantly greater in the north than in the south of the country.

Extensive studies of twins, adopted children and half-siblings by George Ebers and colleagues have shown that MS is not caused primarily by risk factors within families such as diet or infection. Heredity influences a person's susceptibility to MS, but the place where a person is born and the time of year that they are born seems to be crucial in deciding whether or not they develop the disease. Risk of MS is greatest for those born in May, at the end of the winter when vitamin D levels are lowest.

The epidemiological findings on MS may be explained by insufficient sunlight causing low levels of vitamin D that prevent normal development of the nervous system early in life. The link with insufficient sun now seems beyond doubt. But it remains to be proved that lack of vitamin D is the actual cause of MS, although this seems likely.

The importance of this research on MS, which has taken many years to reach this stage, cannot be underestimated. The disease strikes people in the prime of life and after 15 years half of them are unable to walk without assistance. In Scotland as many as one in 400 people may be affected. The lifetime cost of caring for each person with MS comes to around £1.5m. So the annual cost of caring for the 70,000 people in the UK with MS comes to several billion pounds. If this disease can be prevented by more exposure to sunlight in the early years, as seems likely, it will be an astounding achievement for medical science to have shown the way.

Sunshine vitamin prevents early diabetes

Insufficient vitamin D in early life is associated with an increased risk of diabetes later on. Babies whose mothers take vitamin D during pregnancy and babies who are given vitamin D during the first year of life have a lower risk of developing diabetes type 1, according to Dr Elina Hyppönen of the Institute of Child Health, University College, London (page 50).

Breast-fed infants are most at risk of vitamin D deficiency and diabetes type 1 because milk from mothers living in northern Europe contains little vitamin D. Artificial baby milks are supplemented with vitamin D and so bottle-fed babies are not at risk of developing low vitamin D levels until after weaning.

Babies whose mothers come from ethnic minorities are at greater than average risk of diabetes type 1 because their mothers have lower than average vitamin D levels. Dark- skinned people have lower levels of vitamin D because dark skin exposed to the sun makes less vitamin D in a given time than white skin.

Dr Hyppönen, who is Finnish, has a baby of her own. She said: 'I have been unable to find any suitable products here in the UK, and so I am giving my baby vitamin drops that I obtained in Finland. There is a need to form appropriate vitamin D supplement recommendations for breast-fed babies in the UK, and to ensure that suitable products are available.'

Babies at risk because NHS vitamin drops withdrawn

Until 1975 infants in the UK were given free National Health Service vitamin drops containing vitamin D. But subsequently the vitamin drops, which were classified as a 'welfare food', were given only to mothers receiving state benefits. Mothers who were not entitled to free NHS infant vitamin drops could buy them, but the government never promoted them properly and so uptake gradually fell.

For the last two years or so NHS vitamin drops have not been available for mothers to buy because there was a problem with leakage from the bottles and all stock had to be withdrawn (page 63). Paediatricians in the UK have been pressing for government action to replace the defective product and after a two-year delay tenders have been put out for the products to be supplied. Meanwhile, doctors in Birmingham and Bristol, where there are large immigrant communities, have felt so frustrated by government inaction that they have launched their own scheme to provide a vitamin D supplement for babies under one year and for pregnant or lactating mothers. These schemes are paid for by the local Primary Care Trust.

Heart disease epidemic in sun-starved Britons

High levels of heart disease in Britain may also be caused by insufficient vitamin D. The higher incidence of heart disease in Scotland compared with England, or in England compared with southern European countries such as France, Italy or Spain may be explained by relatively weak sunlight and short summers in the north. In fact the good health associated with the Mediterranean diet may be accounted for as much by the Mediterranean sun as by the regional food.

Dr Armin Zitterman from the Heart and Diabetes Center, Ruhr University of Bochum, Germany, argued that insufficient vitamin D causes the calcification of arteries that commonly occurs in people with heart disease (page 18). Higher levels of vitamin D produced by supplements or sun exposure prevent heart disease by reducing inflammatory processes and disorganised cell proliferation in blood vessels and in the heart, he believes.

'Protection against chronic disease can be obtained in winter by taking 2,000 IUs (50 micrograms) vitamin D per day. In summer, enough vitamin D can be obtained by sunbathing for 10 minutes or so in the middle of the day, exposing the whole body. This will protect against bone disease and is likely to prevent heart disease too,' said Dr Zittermann.

But government advice in the UK is seriously out of date and misleads the public into thinking that adults ob-

tain sufficient vitamin D from casual exposure of only the hands and face to the sun. In fact, very little vitamin D is obtained from casual exposure to the sun in northern Europe. Most Europeans get little vitamin D from food, especially if they do not eat margarine or oily fish and choose a wholemeal breakfast cereal such as muesli that contains no vitamin D.

'Current dietary guidelines for vitamin D in the UK are incorrect in stating that adults below age 50 require no vitamin D and specify too little for older people,' said Reinhold Vieth, professor of nutritional sciences at the University of Toronto, Canada (page 47). 'Sun avoidance advice makes the vitamin D problem even worse in the UK. The result is an unacceptably high occurrence of what should be regarded as toxic vitamin D deficiency.'

This toxic deficiency of vitamin D is associated with a higher incidence of many chronic diseases: not only heart disease but several types of cancer including the commonest cancers – those of the breast, prostate and bowel. While there is evidence from clinical trials that high-dose vitamin D (1,000-2,000 IUs, or 25-50 mg vitamin D per day) can prevent rickets, osteoporosis, fractures, falls, arthritis and high blood pressure, the suggestion that vitamin D might prevent other disease comes from observational studies. The high-dose vitamin D supplement recommended by Dr Zittermann and others cannot at present be obtained over the counter in the UK but it can be bought from abroad through several suppliers, using the internet.

Inadequate levels of vitamin D in UK population

Vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency are very common in the UK as shown by figures compiled by Dr Barbara Boucher (page 53) from the Centre for Diabetes and Metabolic Medicine, Queen Mary School of Medicine and Dentistry, London, using a number of sources.

'The attendant risks from low vitamin D levels of rickets in children and of osteomalacia and increased fracture rates in adults are especially regrettable in the country that identified vitamin D almost a century ago,' said Dr Boucher. 'It has been known since the 1920s that these problems do not arise with adequate exposure to summer sunlight, even in this northern country, and that dietary supplementation (with, for example, cod liver oil) can both cure and prevent these problems.

'Furthermore, the continuing high prevalence rates of hypovitaminosis D is likely to be increasing the prevalence of the many non-bony disorders that are strongly associated with vitamin D inadequacy. These disorders include many common cancers (for example, breast, colon, prostate), type 2 diabetes, ischaemic heart disease, tuberculosis, rheumatoid arthritis, periodontal disease and autoimmune diseases such as type 1 diabetes of childhood and multiple sclerosis, as well as increased fracture rates in old age.'

New foods and better sun advice could curb cancer and other chronic disease

Government action could overcome the problems caused by insufficient vitamin D in the UK. Oliver Gillie said: 'The solution is simple compared with persuading people to give up smoking or lose weight, and could have a dramatic effect in reducing chronic disease. More foods need to be fortified with vitamin D so the public can, if it wants, choose foods such as bread, milk, butter and cooking oil that contain the vitamin.

'Official advice on sun exposure needs to be changed in most European countries. The SunSmart programme run by Cancer Research UK, and similar programmes in other European countries, aims only to prevent skin cancer. It is based on a mistaken calculation of the amount of sunlight and vitamin D that is needed for prevention of chronic disease. The vitamin D requirement factored into the calculation is far too low.

'As a result, Cancer Research UK's SunSmart programme has probably caused many more deaths from cancer than it has prevented. The SunSmart policy may also be partly responsible for apparent increases in chronic diseases such as multiple sclerosis and diabetes. Sadly, Cancer Research UK has not seen fit to alter its advice substantially, despite many warnings.

'In the British Isles or other parts of northern Europe we should not avoid sunlight in the middle of the day as instructed by Cancer Research UK because it prevents us from getting enough vitamin D. We should follow the Sun-Safe advice, presented here for the first time. The SunSafe advice aims to encourage people to expose themselves to the sun safely and raise their vitamin D levels, without burning and with minimum risk of skin cancer. A tan is entirely natural and a sign of good health.'

The SunSafe advice (see box over, and page 66) has been specially designed for northern Europe. In contrast, Cancer Research UK's SunSmart advice, which is endorsed by the UK government and promoted at government expense, was designed originally for the sun-drenched Australian climate and is totally unsuited to our climate here.

The SunSafe Advice – Safe and Smart

- **1.** Sunbathe safely without burning every day if you can.
- **2.** The middle of the day is a good time for sunbathing in the UK.
- **3.** Start by sunbathing for 2-3 minutes each side. Gradually increase from day to day.
- 4. Don't use sun screen while sunbathing.
- **5.** If feeling hot or uncomfortable expose a different area, cover up, move into the shade or use sun screen.
- **6.** When abroad, where the sun is generally stronger, expose yourself for shorter times until you find out how much is safe.
- 7. Children benefit from sun exposure, but need guidance.
- **8.**A tan is natural and is generally associated with good health.

Box: The SunSafe advice is based on up-to-date scientific evidence and on the common-sense approach to sun exposure that was taken in the UK before advice such as SunSmart was promoted. It encourages safe exposure to the sun, which is our major source of vitamin D, and so can be expected to contribute to prevention of disease caused by vitamin D insufficiency.

Caution urged on sun exposure

A sceptical view (page 57) was presented to the meeting by Brian Diffey, professor of medical physics at Newcastle University, who is an adviser to Cancer Research UK. He believes that evidence remains insufficient to advocate a public health policy of deliberate sun exposure as a means of reducing chronic disease, especially cancer.

'We receive more than enough sun exposure during recreational activities,' he said. 'Public health messages that make patients feel blameworthy that their cancer may be self-imposed, for example by not getting enough sunlight, need a strong evidence base. Any compromise on the key messages in the UK SunSmart programme could lead to more cavalier behaviour, resulting in an even greater adverse impact on skin cancer incidence and mortality with no resulting benefit seen in other cancers.'

The miracle of vitamin D: importance for bone health and prevention of common cancers, autoimmune diseases and cardiovascular heart disease

More than 90% of most people's vitamin D requirement comes from casual exposure to sunlight. 'Aggressive sun protection will result in vitamin D deficiency if there is inadequate vitamin D intake from the diet and supplemental sources,' Michael Holick, professor of medicine, physiology and biophysics at Boston University Medical Center, Boston, USA, told the meeting (page 8). 'Very few foods naturally contain vitamin D and so it is not possible to get more than a fraction of the vitamin D required for good health from the diet.

'It has been assumed that young and middle-aged adults are not at risk for vitamin D deficiency. However, their lifestyle is such that they are constantly working indoors and when outdoors they wear a sunscreen because of their concern over sun exposure and the risk of skin cancer. As a result they often obtain insufficient vitamin D.'

The body has a huge capacity to produce vitamin D (page 8). A person in a bathing suit exposed to sunlight or ultraviolet B radiation for sufficient time to cause a light pinkness to the skin will raise the blood levels of vitamin D to the same degree as if the individual took between 10,000 and 25,000 IUs of vitamin D. But anything that alters the amount of ultraviolet B radiation that penetrates into the skin will have a dramatic influence on the production of vitamin D. Increase in skin pigmentation, use of sunscreens, increase in latitude, increase in the angle of the sun due to seasonal changes, and age all dramatically influence the production of vitamin D. The application of a sunscreen with an SPF (specific protection factor) of 8 to the skin will reduce the production of vitamin D by 97.5%.

Dr Holick believes there needs to be a re-evaluation of the beneficial effects of sunlight. 'There is no question that chronic excessive exposure to sunlight increases the risk of squamous and basal cell carcinoma of the skin. However, by contrast, lifetime moderate sun exposure appears to be associated with a lower risk of malignant melanoma which is the major cause of deaths from skin cancer. Most melanoma occurs on the least sun-exposed areas of the body. Recently it has been reported that those with the most sun exposure were less likely to die of malignant melanoma once they developed the disease. And high frequency of sunbathing by age 20 has been found to reduce the risk of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma by 30 to 40%.'

Dr Holick welcomed the recent recommendation by medical bodies in Australia and New Zealand advising a bal-

ance between avoiding an increased risk of skin cancer and achieving enough UV radiation to maintain adequate vitamin D levels. 'Hopefully this recommendation will be embraced by the regulatory agencies and the dermatology societies in Europe and the United States,' he said. 'It's time to stop demonising the sun and appreciate the wealth of benefits that sunlight has for human health and for the prevention of many serious chronic diseases.'

The vitamin D epidemic: truth and consequences

Michael F. Holick, PhD, MD, Professor of Medicine, Physiology and Biophysics, Program Director of General Clinical Research Center, Director of Bone Health Care Clinic, Boston University Medical Center, Boston, USA

Most humans depend on sun exposure to satisfy their requirement for vitamin D3. During exposure to sunlight, ultraviolet B radiation (290-315 nm) is responsible for converting 7-dehydrocholesterol, the precursor of vitamin D3, to previtamin D3 which, in turn, is rapidly converted to vitamin D3. Season, latitude, time of day, skin pigmentation, obesity, ageing, sunscreen use and glass all influence the cutaneous synthesis of vitamin D3. Vitamin D3 is biologically inert and requires metabolism in the liver to 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 (25[OH]D).

Once formed, this major circulating form of vitamin D3, which is used to determine the vitamin D status, is converted in the kidney to its active form, 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 interacts with its vitamin D receptor in the intestine to enhance intestinal calcium absorption, and interacts with the vitamin D receptor in the osteoblast, which results in the formation of osteoclasts to remove calcium from the skeleton.

In addition to its role in regulating calcium homeostasis, vitamin D3 is very important for a wide variety of physiological and metabolic functions. The vitamin D receptor exists in most tissues and cells in the body, and most tissues and cells in the body also have the enzymatic machinery to produce 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. It is believed that the local production of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 is important for helping to prevent many common cancers, including colon, prostate, breast, ovary and oesophageal cancers.

1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 is also recognised by the immune cells and modulates immune function, which may be important in the prevention of many common autoimmune disorders including type I diabetes, multiple sclerosis, rheumatoid arthritis and Crohn's disease. In addition, 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 is a potent regulator of renin production and therefore may be important in the prevention of hypertension and cardiovascular heart disease.

Monitoring serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations yearly is important to guarantee that both children and adults are vitamin D sufficient, which will help prevent many serious chronic diseases and maximise bone health. Sensible sun exposure without sun protection, usually five to 10 minutes of exposure of arms and legs or hands, face and arms, two to three times a week between the hours of 10 a.m. and 3 p.m. in the spring, summer and autumn is adequate to satisfy the body's vitamin D requirement. In the absence of sunlight, 1,000 IUs of vitamin D3 are necessary to maintain a healthy level of 25-hydroxyvitamin D above 30 ng/ml (75 nmol/l).

Photoproduction of vitamin D and factors that alter its production

When solar ultraviolet B radiation (UVB; 290-315 nm) penetrates the skin, the 7-dehydrocholesterol in the plasma membrane of the skin cells absorbs it. This results in the ring opening of 7-dehydrocholesterol to form previtamin D3. Previtamin D3 is thermodynamically unstable and is rapidly converted to vitamin D3. Once formed, it is ejected out of the plasma membrane into the extracellular space where it finds its way into the dermal capillary bed, and is bound to the vitamin D binding protein (see Figure 1) [1].

Anything that influences the number of UVB photons penetrating into the skin will affect the synthesis of vitamin D3 [2, 3]. An increase in the zenith angle of the sun results in more of the UVB photons being absorbed by the stratospheric ozone layer. Very few, if any, UVB photons strike the earth's surface at higher latitudes, especially during the early morning and late afternoon and in the winter and, therefore, vitamin D synthesis is limited if not completely absent [1, 4, 5]. Thus during late autumn and into early spring very little, if any, vitamin D3 is produced in the skin of people living above 37° latitude (see Figure 2) [1-6].

At the latitude of London little, if any, vitamin D3 is made from sun exposure between the middle of October and the middle of April. Increased skin pigmentation and the topical application of sunscreen can reduce the number of UVB photons penetrating into the skin by as much as 99% and, therefore, reduces vitamin D3 synthesis by the same degree (see Figure 3) [2, 3, 6, 7, 8]. This is typically seen with a sunscreen with an SPF (sun protection factor) of 15 or a darkly pigmented individual, typically of African origin, with skin type 5.

Peoples of the Middle East, who have skin type 4, typically have a 95 to 98% reduction in cutaneous vitamin D3 production compared to a fair-skinned person of Celtic origin (skin type 2). In black Africans, this reaches 99%. Ageing diminishes 7-dehydrocholesterol levels in the skin, and there is a four-fold decline in vitamin D synthesis by the





Figure 2



Schematic representation for cutaneous production of vitamin D and its metabolism and regulation for calcium homeostasis and cellular growth. During exposure to sunlight, 7-dehydrocholesterol (7-DHC) in the skin absorbs solar ultraviolet (UVB) radiation and is converted to previtamin D3 (preD3). Once formed, D3 undergoes thermally-induced transformation to vitamin D3. Further exposure to sunlight converts preD3 and vitamin D3 to biologically inert photoproducts. Vitamin D coming from the diet or from the skin enters the circulation and is metabolised in the liver by the vitamin D-25-hydroxylase (25-OHase) to 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 (25(OH)D3). 25(OH)D3 re-enters the circulation and is converted in the kidney by the 25-hydroxyvitamin D3-1 α hydroxylase (1-OHase) to 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 [1,25(OH)2D3]. A variety of factors, including serum phosphorus (Pi) and parathyroid hormone (PTH) regulate the renal production of 1,25(OH)2D. 1,25(OH)2D regulates calcium metabolism through its interaction with its major target tissues, the bone and the intestine. 1,25(OH)2D3 also induces its own destruction by enhancing the expression of the 25-hydroxyvitamin D-24-hydroxylase (24-OHase). 25(OH)D is metabolised in other tissues for the purpose of regulation of cellular growth.

(Copyright Michael F. Holick, 2003, used with permission.)

С

12:00

D

12:90

0.00

Hour of Day

14:00

Hour of Day

16.00

-O- APR

18.00

formation

ő

Previtamin

2

Previtamin D, formation

2

0.00

Influence of season, time of day in July, and latitude on the synthesis of previtamin D3 in Northern (A and C: Boston, Edmonton, Bergen) and Southern hemispheres (B: Buenos Aires, Johannesburg, Cape Town, Ushuaia and D: **Buenos Aires**, Johannesburg, Cape Town, Ushuaia). The hour indicated in C and D is the end of the one-hour exposure time in July. Adapted from and reproduced with permission [5].

Figure 3



(A) Circulating concentrations of vitamin D3 after a single exposure to 1 minimal erythemal dose (MED) of simulated sunlight either with a sunscreen, with a sun protection factor of 8 (SPF-8), or a topical placebo cream.



Figure 4



Change in serum concentrations of vitamin D in: (A) two lightly pigmented white (skin type 2); (B) three heavily pigmented black subjects (skin type 5) after

total-body exposure to 54mJ/cm2 of UVB radiation; (C) Serial change in circulation vitamin D after reexposure of one black subject in panel B to a 320mJ/cm2 dose of UVB radiation.

Reproduced with permission.7

age of 70 years (see Figure 4) [9,10]. Obese individuals sequester the vitamin D3 produced in the skin and, therefore, require larger body surface exposure or longer exposures to satisfy their body's requirement [11]. Glass absorbs all UVB and thus exposure through glass is not effective in producing vitamin D3 in the skin [3].



Changes in serum 25(OH)D levels from baseline in subjects spending 15 or 30 minutes a day outdoors for four weeks.

Reproduced with permission [12].

It is well recognised by reptile hobbyists that they need to expose their pet reptiles to a source of UVB radiation in order to satisfy their animal's vitamin D requirement. Recent studies have suggested that adults exposed to UVB in a tanning bed, or children and adults exposed to sunlight can markedly raise their blood levels of vitamin D3 (see Figure 5) [12-17]. The incorporation of UVB radiation into an activity room at a UK nursing home was the most effective way of maintaining circulating concentrations of 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 (25(OH)D) (see Figure 6) [18].

Figure 6



The use of subliminal UVB lighting near the ceiling to produce vitamin D3 in the skin of nursing home residents.

Reproduced with permission [18].

Vitamin D metabolism

Once vitamin D3 is made in the skin or ingested in the diet, it undergoes a 25-hydroxylation in the liver to 25(OH)D [1-2]. Both vitamin D2 and vitamin D3 are converted to 25(OH)D2 and 25(OH)D3, respectively (D represents either D2 or D3). 25(OH)D is metabolised in the kidney to 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D (1,25(OH)₂D). Once formed, 1,25(OH)₂D interacts with its specific nuclear vitamin D receptor (VDR) in the small intestine and bone to regulate calcium homeostasis (see Figure 1) [1-2]. Most tissues and cells not related to calcium metabolism also have a VDR, including skin, breast, colon, prostate, brain, pancreas, heart, skeletal, muscle and immune cells [19].

Recently it has been recognised that most tissues in the body also possess the 25-hydroxyvitamin D-1 α -hydroxylase



Typical presentation of two children with rickets. The child in the middle is normal; the children on either side have severe muscle weakness and bone deformities including bowed legs (right) or knock knees (left). (Copyright Michael F. Holick, 2003, used with permission.)

(1-OHase; cyp 27B1) [20-22]. Thus the colon, prostate, lung, skin, macrophages and other tissues in the body have the capacity to locally produce $1,25(OH)_2D$. Once formed, $1,25(OH)_2D$ not only alters the transcription of a wide variety of genes that regulate proliferation and differentiation, but also induces its own destruction by enhancing the expression of the 25-hydroxyvitamin D-24-hydroxylase(24-OHase;cyp 24) (See Figure 1) [1, 2].

Vitamin D for bone health

Vitamin D is essential for the development of growth of the skeleton and for the maintenance of good bone health. Vitamin D deficiency causes rickets in children, resulting in growth retardation and bone deformities, especially of the long bones in the legs (see Figure 7) [1, 2]. For adults, vitamin D deficiency is more subtle, causing osteomalacia and precipitating and exacerbating osteoporosis. Osteoporosis is a silent disease until fracture occurs. Osteomalacia, however, is often associated with isolated or generalised aching bone pain, muscle weakness and muscle discomfort. Often these patients are misdiagnosed as having fibromyalagia, or chronic fatigue syndrome, and are treated with a nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory agent [23-26].

Vitamin D and prevention of chronic diseases

There is strong epidemiological evidence that living at higher latitudes increases your risk of many serious chronic diseases, including colon, breast and prostate cancer, type I diabetes, multiple sclerosis, hypertension and cardiovascular heart disease [1, 2, 27-45]. With the recognition that most tissues and cells in the body can produce 1,25(OH)₂D3 locally, it is now better understood how the association of increased exposure to sunlight results in a decrease in the risk of these serious and common diseases. By raising the blood levels of 25(OH)D the 25(OH)D can be converted to 1,25(OH)₂D in most tissues in the body. Once formed, 1,25(OH)₂D, among its many other functions, inhibits cancer cell growth, modulates the immune system, enhances muscle strength, increases the production of insulin and decreases the production of renin (see Figure 8) [1, 2].

Definition of vitamin D deficiency and intoxication

Most experts agree that a 25(OH)D of at least 20 ng/ml (50 nmol/l) is the minimum level for vitamin D sufficiency. However, to maximise the effect of vitamin D for health, a 25(OH)D level should be at least 30 ng/ml (75 nmol/l) [1, 46, 47]. Studies have shown that, above 30 ng/ml, PTH (parathyroid hormone) levels are at their ideal minimal concentration [46, 47, 48]. In addition, 25(OH)D above 30 ng/ml maximises intestinal calcium absorption and also provides most cells and tissues in the body with enough substrate 25(OH)D to make 1,25(OH)₂D [46].

Most reports suggest that vitamin D intoxication occurs when 25(OH)D levels are above 150 ng/ml (375 nmol/l) [49]. Vitamin D intoxication by definition is a markedly elevated 25(OH)D level greater than 150 ng/ml and associated with hypercalcaemia, hypercalciuria and often hyperphosphataemia. This can lead to renal calcification, nephrocalcinosis, soft tissue calcifications and kidney stones.





Metabolism of 25(OH)D3 to 1,25(OH)₂D3 in kidney and other organs, and the biological consequences. (Copyright Michael F. Holick, 2001, used with permission.)

Recommendation

More than 90% of most people's vitamin D requirement comes from casual exposure to sunlight. Aggressive sun protection will result in vitamin D deficiency if there is inadequate vitamin D intake from the diet and supplemental sources. Very few foods naturally contain vitamin D. These include oily fish such as salmon, mackerel and herring and typically they contain 400-500 IUs/3.5 oz. In the United States and Canada milk is fortified with vitamin D. However, most European countries forbid the fortification of milk with vitamin D because of an outbreak of vitamin D intoxication in the 1950s [50]. Thus, Europeans are at very high risk of vitamin D deficiency.

It has been estimated world wide that between 30 and 50% of both children and adults are at risk of vitamin D deficiency (see Figure 9) [51-61]. This is especially true for people of colour because of their diminished capacity to make vitamin D in their skin from casual exposure to sunlight. It has been estimated that exposure to sunlight in a bathing suit to one minimal erythemal dose (MED), which is equivalent to a slight pinkness to the skin and not a sunburn, resulted in the production of vitamin D that is equivalent to taking an oral dose of between 10,000 and 25,000 IUs of vitamin D2 (see Figure 10) [1, 2]. Thus, the skin has a large capacity to make vitamin D3 and only minimum exposure for a limited time is necessary to satisfy the body's vitamin D requirement. This is even true for elderly people, who have a diminished ability to make vitamin D3 in their skin.



Percentage of subjects in the four age groups who were vitamin D deficient (25-hydroxyvitamin D level<20 ng/ml) at the end of winter and at the end of summer. There was a significant difference in the proportion of subjects with vitamin D insufficiency between the end-of-winter and end-of-summer groups (P<0.05). Reproduced with permission (Am J Med 2002;112:659-662). An alternative is to obtain vitamin D from sun exposure to an artificial ultraviolet B radiation source such as a tanning bed or a room that is outfitted with ultraviolet B radiation [12,13,14,16,18]. Both have been successful in raising blood levels of 25(OH)D in both healthy adults and in elderly infirm patients. The tanning bed is also very effective in maintaining adequate 25(OH)D levels in patients with fat malabsorption syndrome such as Crohn's disease, Whipple's disease and severe hepatic failure [62].

It has been estimated that the body uses 5,000 IUs of vitamin D3 a day [63]. In order to sustain adequate blood levels of 25(OH)D above 30 ng/ml it is necessary to ingest 1,000 IUs of vitamin D3 a day [64]. It is known that vitamin D2 is about 20 to 40% as effective as vitamin D3 in maintaining 25(OH)D levels [65].



Vitamin D deficiency should be aggressively treated. The vitamin D tank is empty and needs to be filled. This can be accomplished by giving pharmacological doses of vitamin D, such as 50,000 IUs of vitamin D2 once a week for eight weeks, followed by maintenance with 50,000 IUs of vitamin D2 once every other week. Alternatives are to give 100,000 IUs of vitamin D3 every two to three months; 50,000 IUs of vitamin D2 every other week is equivalent to taking about 30,000 IUs of vitamin D3, and thus, 1,000 IUs of vitamin D3 a day, or 30,000 to 50,000 IUs of vitamin D3 once a month, or 100,000 IUs of vitamin D2 once a month will maintain healthy 25(OH)D levels [66]. Intramuscular and intravenous vitamin D administration have often proved ineffective in maintaining 25(OH)D levels.

Conclusions

The photosynthesis of vitamin D has been occurring on earth for more than 750 million years [1, 2]. Phytoplankton, zooplankton and most vertebrates have depended on the sun for their vitamin D requirement. Vitamin D is not only important for maintaining and maximising bone health, but also has a wide range of other functions that are critically important for maximising overall health and well-being.

There needs to be a re-evaluation of the beneficial effects of sunlight. There is no question that chronic excessive exposure to sunlight increases the risk of squamous and basal cell carcinoma of the skin [67]. However, by contrast, lifetime moderate sun exposure appears to be associated with a lower risk of malignant melanoma [67]. Most melanoma occurs on the least sun-exposed areas. Recently it has been reported that those with the most sun exposure were less likely to die of malignant melanoma once they developed the disease, and that high frequency of sunbathing by age 20 reduced the risk of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma by 30 to 40% [68, 69].

The recent recommendation by the New Zealand Bone and Mineral Society, the Australian College of Dermatologists and the Cancer Council of Australia, suggesting that balance is required between avoiding an increased risk of skin cancer and achieving enough UV radiation to maintain adequate vitamin D levels is most welcome. Hopefully this recommendation will be embraced by the regulatory agencies and the dermatology societies in Europe and the United States. It's time to stop demonising the sun and appreciate the wealth of benefits that sunlight has for human health and for the prevention of many serious chronic diseases.

References:

- 1. Holick, M. F., Sunlight and vitamin D for bone health and prevention of autoimmune diseases, cancers, and cardiovascular disease. Am J Clin Nutr 2004; **80**(suppl): 1,678S-1,688S.
- 2. Holick, M. F., Vitamin D: A millennium perspective. J Cell Biochem 2003; 88: 296-307.
- 3. Holick, M. F., *McCollum Award Lecture, 1994: vitamin D—new horizons for the 21st century.* Am J Clin Nutr 1994; **60**(4): 619-630.
- 4. Holick, M. F. and Jenkins, M., UV Advantage. New York: ibooks, 2004.
- Lu, Z., Chen, T. C., Kline, L., Markestead, E., Pettifore, J., Ladizesky, M. and Holick, M. F., *Photosynthesis of previtamin D₃ in cities around the world.* In: Biologic Effects of Light. Proceedings of the Biologic Effects of Light symposium in Atlanta, GA, 1991 (eds. Holick, M. F. and Kligman, A.). Walter De Gruyter & Company, Berlin 1992: 48-52.
- 6. Webb, A. R., Kline, L. and Holick, M. F., Influence of season and latitude on the cutaneous synthesis of vitamin D₃: Exposure to winter sunlight in Boston and Edmonton will not promote vitamin D₃ synthesis in human skin. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1988; **67**: 373-378.
- 7. Clemens, T. L., Henderson, S. L., Adams, J. S. and Holick, M. F., *Increased skin pigment reduces the capacity* of skin to synthesis vitamin D₃. Lancet 1982; **1** (8,263): 74-76.
- 8. Matsuoka, L. Y., Ide, L., Wortsman, J., MacLaughlin, J. and Holick, M. F., *Sunscreens suppress cutaneous vitamin D*₃ synthesis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1987; **64**: 1,165-1,168.
- 9. MacLaughlin, J. and Holick, M. F., *Aging decreases the capacity of human skin to produce vitamin D*₃. J Clin Invest 1985; **76**: 1,536-1,538.
- 10. Holick, M. F., Matsuoka, L. Y. and Wortsman, J., Age, Vitamin D, and solar ultraviolet. Lancet 1989; 1,104-1,105.
- 11. Wortsman, J., Matsuoka, L. Y., Chen, T.C., Lu, Z. and Holick, M. F., *Decreased bioavailability of vitamin D in obesity.* Am J Clin Nutr 2000; **72**: 690-693.
- 12. Reid, I. R., Gallagher, D. J. A. and Bosworth, J., *Prophylaxis against vitamin D deficiency in the elderly by regular sunlight exposure.* Age Ageing 1985; **15**: 35-40.
- **13.** Chel, V. G. M., Ooms, M. E., Popp-Snijders, C., Pavel, S., Schothorst, A. A., Meulemans, C. C. E. *et al.*, *Ultraviolet irradiation corrects vitamin D deficiency and suppresses secondary hyperparathyroidism in the elderly*. J Bone Miner Res 1998; **13**: 1,238-1,242.
- 14. Jones, G. and Dwyer, T., Bone mass in prepubertal children: gender differences and the role of physical activity and sunlight exposure. J Clin Endocrino Metab 1998; 83: 4, 274-4, 279.
- **15.** Shao, Q., Chen, T. C. and Holick, M. F., *Sun-Tanning bed radiation increases vitamin D synthesis in human skin in vivo.* In: Biologic Effects of Light. Proceedings of the Biologic Effects of Light symposium in Atlanta, GA, 1991 (eds. Holick, M. F. and Kligman, A.). Walter de Gruyter & Company, Berlin 1992: 62-66.
- **16.** Tangpricha, V., Turner, A., Spina, C., Decastro, S., Chen, T. and Holick, M. F., *Tanning is associated with optimal vitamin D status (serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentration) and higher bone mineral density.* Am J Clin Nutr 2004; **80**: 1,645-1,649.
- 17. Holick, M. F., Vitamin D: The underappreciated D-lightful hormone that is important for skeletal and cellular health. Current Opinion in Endocrinology and Diabetes 2002; **9**: 87-98.
- **18.** Chuck, A., Todd, J. and Diffey, B., *Subliminal ultraviolet-B irradiation for the prevention of vitamin D deficiency in the elderly: a feasibility study.* Photochem Photoimmun Photomed 2001; **17**(4): 168-171.
- Stumpf, W. E., Sar, M., Reid, F. A., et al., Target cells for 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ in intestinal tract, stomach, kidney, skin, pituitary, and parathyroid. Science 1979; 206: 1,188-1,190.
- **20.** Tangpricha, V., Flanagan, J. N., Whitlatch, L. W., *et al.*, 25-*hydroxyvitamin D-1*,α-*hydroxylase in normal and malignant colon tissue.* Lancet 2001; **357** (9269): 1,673-1,674.
- **21.** Cross, H. S., Bareis, P., Hofer, H., Bischof, M. G., Bajna, E. and Kriwanek, S., 25-Hydroxyvitamin D_3 -1 α hydroxylase and vitamin D receptor gene expression in human colonic mucosa is elevated during early cancerogenesis. Steroids 2001; **66**: 287-292.
- 22. Mawer, E. B., Hayes, M. E., Heys, S. E., *et al.*, *Constitutive synthesis of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D*₃ by a human small cell lung cell line. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1994; **79**: 554-560.
- 23. Gloth III, F. M., Lindsay, J. M., Zelesnick, L. B. and Greenough III, W. B., *Can vitamin D deficiency produce an unusual pain syndrome?* Arch Intern Med 1991; **151**: 1,662-1,664.
- 24. Plotnikoff, G. A. and Quigley, J. M., Prevalence of severe hypovitaminosis D in patients with persistent, nonspecific musculoskeletal pain. Mayo Clin Proc 2003; **78**: 1,463-1,470.
- 25. Holick, M. F., Vitamin D deficiency: What a Pain it is. Mayo Clin Proc 2003; 78(12): 1,457-1,459.

- 26. Glerup, H., Middelsen, K., Poulsen, L., et al., Hypovitaminosis D myopathy without biochemical signs of osteomalacia bone involvement. Calcif Tissue Int 2000; 66: 419-424.
- **27.** Apperly, F. L., *The relation of solar radiation to cancer mortality in North America.* Cancer Research 1941; **1**: 191-195.
- 28. Garland, C. F., Garland, F. C., Shaw, E. K., Comstock, G. W., Helsing, K.J. and Gorham, E. D., Serum 25hydroxyvitamin D and colon cancer: Eight-year prospective study. Lancet 1989; 18: 1,176-1,178.
- **29.** Garland, F. C., Garland, C. F., Gorham, E.D. and Young, J. F., *Geographic variation in breast cancer mortality in the United States: A hypothesis involving exposure to solar radiation.* Preventive Med 1990; **19**: 614-622.
- Garland, C., Shekelle, R. B., Barrett-Connor, E., Criqui, M. H., Rossof, A. H. and Oglesby, P., Dietary vitamin D and calcium and risk of colorectal cancer: A 19-year prospective study in men. Lancet 1985; February 9: 307-309.
- **31.** Hanchette, C. L. and Schwartz, G. G., *Geographic patterns of prostate cancer mortality.* Cancer 1992; **70**: 2,861-2,869.
- **32.** Grant, W. B., An estimate of premature cancer mortality in the US due to inadequate doses of solar ultraviolet-B radiation. Cancer 2002; **70**: 2,861-2,869.
- **33.** Bodiwala, D., Luscombe, C. J., Liu, S., Saxby, M., French, M. and Jones, P. W., *Prostate cancer risk and exposure to ultraviolet radiation: further support for the protective effect of sunlight.* Cancer Lett 2003; **192**(2): 145-149.
- **34.** Grant, W. B., *An ecologic study of the role of solar UV-B radiation in reducing the risk of cancer using cancer mortality data, dietary supply data and latitude for European countries.* In: Biologic Effects of Light 2001. Proceedings of a symposium, Boston, MA (ed. Holick, M. F.). Kluwer Academic Publishing, Boston 2002: 267-276.
- 35. Chen, T. C and Holick, M. F., *Vitamin D and prostate cancer prevention and treatment.* Trends in Endocrinol Metabol 2003; 14: 423-430.
- **36.** Hernán, M. A., Olek, M. J. and Ascherio, A., *Geographic variation of MS incidence in two prospective studies of US women.* Neurology 1999; **51**: 1,711-1,718.
- 37. Ponsonby, A-L., McMichael, A., and van der Mei, I., *Ultraviolet radiation and autoimmune disease: insights from epidemiological research.* Toxicology 2002; **181-182**: 71-78.
- **38.** Embry, A. F., Snowdon, L. R. and Vieth, R., *Vitamin D and seasonal fluctuations of gadolinium-enhancing magnetic resonance imaging lesions in multiple sclerosis.* Ann Neurol 2000; 48: 271-272.
- **39.** Rostand, S. G., Ultraviolet light may contribute to geographic and racial blood pressure differences. Hypertension 1979; **30**: 150-156.
- **40.** van der Mei, I., Ponsonby, A-L., Dwyer, T., Blizzard, L., Simmons, R. and Taylor, B. V., *Past exposure to sun, skin phenotype, and risk of multiple sclerosis: case-control study.* BMJ 2003; **327**: 316.
- **41.** Mahon, B. D., Gordon, S. A., Cruz, J., Cosman, F. and Cantorna, M. T., *Cytokine profile in patients with multiple sclerosis following vitamin D supplementation.* Journal of Neuroimmunology 2003; **134**: 128-132.
- **42.** Bodiwala, D., Luscombe, C. J., Liu, S., Saxby, M., French, M. and Jones, P. W., *Prostate cancer risk and exposure to ultraviolet radiation: further support for the protective effect of sunlight.* Cancer Lett 2003; **192**(2): 145-149.
- **43.** Tuohimaa, P., Tenkanen, L., Ahonen, M., Lumme, S., Jellum, E. and Hallmans, G., *Both high and low levels of blood vitamin D are associated with a higher prostate cancer risk: A longitudinal, nested case-control study in the Nordic countries.* Int J Cancer 2004; **108**(1): 104-108.
- **44.** Hyppönen E., Läärä,, E., Jarvelin, M-R. and Virtanen, S. M., *Intake of vitamin D and risk of type 1 diabetes: a birth-cohort study.* Lancet 2001; **358**: 1,500-1,503.
- **45.** Merlino, L. A., Curtis, J., Mikuls, T. R., Cerhan, J. R., Criswell, L. A. and Saag, K. G., *Vitamin D intake is inversely associated with rheumatoid arthritis.* Arthritis & Rheumatism 2004; **50**(1): 72-77.
- **46.** Heaney, R. P., Dowell, M. S., Hale, C. A. and Bendich, A., *Calcium absorption varies within the reference range for serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D. J Am Coll Nutr 2003; 22(2): 142-146.*
- **47.** Chapuy, M. C., Preziosi, P., Maaner, M., Arnaud, S., Galan, P., Hercberg, S., *et al.*, *Prevalence of vitamin D insufficiency in an adult normal population.* Osteopor Int 1997; **7**: 439-443.
- **48.** Holick, M. F., Siris, E. S., Binkley, N., Beard, M. K., Khas, A., Katzer, J. T., Petruschke, R. A., Chen, E. and de Papp, A. E., *Prevalence of vitamin D inadequacy among postmenopausal North American women receiving osteoporosis therapy.* J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2005; **90**: 3, 215-3, 224.
- 49. Koutkia, P., Chen, T. C. and Holick, M. F., Vitamin D Intoxication Associated with an Over-the-Counter

Supplement. N Engl J Med 2001; **345**(1) :66-67.

- 50. British Paediatric Association. Hypercalcaemia in infants and vitamin D. BMJ 1956; 2: 149.
- **51.** Nesby-O'Dell, S., Scanlon, K. S., Cogswell, M. E., Gillespie, C., Hollis, B. W. and Looker, A. C., *Hypovitaminosis D* prevalence and determinants among African American and white women of reproductive age: third national health and nutrition examination survey, 1988-1994. Am J Clin Nutr 2002; **76**(1): 187-192.
- **52.** Holick, M. F., Vitamin D: importance in the prevention of cancers, type 1 diabetes, heart disease, and osteoporosis. Am J Clin Nutr 2004; **79**: 362-371.
- 53. Tangpricha, V., Pearce, E. N., Chen, T. C. and Holick, M. F., *Vitamin D insufficiency among free-living healthy young adults*. American Journal of Medicine 2002; **112**(8): 659-662.
- 54. Taha, S. A., Dost, S. M. and Sedrani, S. H., 25-Hydroxyvitamin D and total calcium: Extraordinarily low plasma concentrations in Saudi mothers and their neonates. Pediatr Res 1984; 18: 739-741.
- 55. Sedrani, S. H., Low 25-hydroxyvitamin D and normal serum calcium concentrations in Saudi Arabia: Riyadh region. Ann Nutr Metab 1984; 28: 181-185.
- 56. Gloth, F. M., Gundberg, C. M., Hollis, B. W., Haddad, H. G. and Tobin, J. D., *Vitamin D deficiency in homebound elderly persons.* JAMA 1995; **274**: 1,683-1,686.
- 57. Gloth, F. M., Tobin, J. D., Sherman, S. S. and Hollis, B. W., *Is the recommended daily allowance for vitamin D too low for the homebound elderly?* J Am Geriatr Soc 1991; **39**: 137-141.
- **58.** Lips, P., Duong, T., Oleksik, A., Black, D., Cummings, S., Cox, D., et al., A Global Study of Vitamin D Status and Parathyroid Function in Postmenopausal Women with Osteoporosis: Baseline Data from the Multiple Outcomes of Raloxifene Evaluation Clinical Trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2001; **86**: 1,212-1,221.
- Thomas, K. K., Lloyd-Jones, D. H., Thadhani, R. I., et al., Hypovitaminosis D in medical inpatients. N Engl J Med 1998; 338: 777-783.
- 60. Gordon, C. M., DePeter, K. C., Feldman, H. A., Estherann, G. and Emans, S. J., *Prevalence of vitamin D deficiency among healthy adolescents.* Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2004; **158**: 531-537.
- **61.** Sullivan, S. S., Rosen, C. J., Haltman, W., Chen, T. C. and Holick, M. F., *Adolescent girls in Maine are at risk for vitamin D insufficiency*. J Am Diet Assoc 2005; **105**: 971-974.
- 62. Koutkia, P., Lu, Z., Chen, T. C. and Holick, M. F., *Treatment of vitamin D deficiency due to Crohn's disease with tanning bed ultraviolet B radiation.* Gastroenterology 2001; **121**: 1,485-1,488.
- **63.** Barger-Lux, M. J., Heaney, R. P., Dowell, S., Chen, T. C. and Holick, M. F., *Vitamin D and its major metabolites:* serum levels after graded oral dosing in healthy men. Osteoporos Int 1998; **8**(3): 222-230.
- **64.** Tangpricha, V., Koutkia, P., Rieke, S. M., Chen, T. C., Perez, A. and Holick, M. F., *Fortification of orange juice with vitamin D: A novel approach to enhance vitamin D nutritional health.* Am J Clin Nutrit 2003; **77**: 1,478-1,483.
- Armas, L. A. G., Hollis, B. and Heaney, R. P., Vitamin D₂ is much less effective than vitamin D₃ in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004; 89: 5,387-5,391.
- 66. Trivedi, D. P., Doll, R. and Khaw, K. T., Effect of four-monthly oral vitamin D₃ (cholecalciferol) supplementation on fractures and mortality in men and women living in the community: randomised double-blind controlled trial. BMJ 2003; **326**: 469.
- **67.** Kennedy, C., Bajdik, C. D., Willemze, R., de Gruijl, F. R. and Bavinck, J. N., *The influence of painful sunburns and lifetime of sun exposure on the risk of actinic keratoses, seborrheic warts, melanocytic nevi, atypical nevi and skin cancer.* J Invest Dermatol 2003; **120**(6): 1,087-1,093.
- Begg, C. B., Orlow, I., Hummer, A. J., Armstrong, B. K., Kricker, A., Marrett, L. D., Millikan, R. C., Gruber, S. B., Anton-Culver. H., Zanetti, R., Gallagher, R. P., Dwyer, T., Rebbeck, T. R., Mitra, N., Busam, K., From, L. and Berwick, M., (Genes Environment and Melanoma Study Group). *Lifetime risk of melanoma in CDKN2A mutation carriers in a population-based sample.* J Natl Cancer Inst 2005; **97**(20): 1,507-1,515.
- **69.** Chang, E. T., Smedby, K. E., Hjalgrim, H., Porwit-MacDonald, A., Roos, G., Glimelius, B. and Adami, H. O., *Family history of hemotopoietic malignancy and risk of lymphoma.* J Natl Cancer Inst 2005; **97**(19): 1,466-1,474.

Disclosure: This work was supported in part by NIH Grants, MOIRR00533 and AR36963, and the UV Foundation.

The author can be contacted at Boston University Medical Center, 715 Albany Street, M-1013, Boston, MA 02118, USA. Tel: +1 617 638 4545, fax: +1 617 638 8882, e-mail: mfholick@bu.edu.

Health consequences of insufficient vitamin D

Armin Zittermann, PhD, Department of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery, Heart Center North-Rhine Westfalia, Ruhr University of Bochum, Bad Oeynhausen, Germany

During the 18th and the 19th century, the process of industrialisation and urbanisation was associated with low sun exposure among a large percentage of infants, leading to a high prevalence of vitamin D deficiency. As a consequence rickets, also known as the English disease, was very frequent. Since the early 20th century, highly effective preventive measures such as fortification of infant foods with vitamin D, exposure of young children to artificial UV lamps, and vitamin D supplementation have helped to make rickets rare nowadays in Europe. However, there is increasing evidence that vitamin D insufficiency or even deficiency is a major health problem in adults (see later).

Vitamin D physiology and pathophysiology

Sunlight is the major provider of vitamin D for humans. The UVB spectrum of sunlight (290-315 nm) induces skin synthesis of pre-vitamin D3 from its precursor, 7-dehydrocholesterol. Food is a second source of vitamin D, but only a few foods such as eel, herring and salmon are good vitamin D sources (15-30 μ g [600-1,200 IUs] per 100g edible portion). Consequently, dietary vitamin D usually contributes only 10-20% of human vitamin D supply.



The different stages of vitamin D status are deficiency, insufficiency, hypovitaminosis, adequacy, and toxicity (see Figure 1). Circulating 25(OH)D is the hallmark for determining vitamin D status. In the case of vitamin D deficiency, severe clinical symptoms such as osteomalacia, myopathy, severe secondary hyperparathyroidism (SHPT) – a serum parathyroid hormone (PTH) level of more than 65 picograms per millilitre (pg/ml) – and calcium malabsorption are seen. In the insufficient stage, pathophysiological biochemical alterations such as mild hyperparathyroidism and low intestinal calcium absorption rates are present. However, severe clinical symptoms are usually not observed. Hypovitaminosis D characterises a stage where the body stores of vitamin D are already below physiologically desirable levels. Only minor functional alterations such as slightly elevated serum PTH levels are seen. In the stage of adequacy, no disturbances of vitamin D-dependent body functions occur, while toxicity is due to vitamin D-dependent adverse reactions such as calcium hyperabsorption from the gut and net calcium resorption from bone, leading to hypercalcaemia.

Vitamin D status

In a summary of a large number of studies from North America and Europe on vitamin D status in young adults and elderly subjects, through to the end of the 1980s, healthy elderly subjects had mean 25(OH)D levels in the insufficiency range throughout the year [1]. In institutionalised subjects, most 25(OH)D levels were in the deficiency range. In Europe, young adults often had circulating 25(OH)D levels in the insufficiency range during winter.

Alarming results have recently been reported in urban dwellers in Europe [2]. Middle-aged urban dwellers in Hungary had only modest seasonal variations in circulating 25(OH)D levels, and a high percentage of subjects had a low vitamin D status throughout the year, despite marked seasonal fluctuations in daily sunshine. The prevalence of 25(OH)D levels below 50 nmol/l during spring, summer, autumn and winter was 71%, 46.3%, 49.4%, and 56.7%, respectively.

Similarly, white British people in an outpatient clinic at a city hospital had mean 25(OH)D levels around 50 nmol/l throughout the year without seasonal fluctuations [3]. Moreover, mean 25(OH)D levels below 30 nmol/l in summer and below 15 nmol/l in winter were reported in South Asian immigrants in Great Britain. Very low mean 25(OH)D levels of 8 nmol/l in winter and 18 nmol/l in summer were observed in Indian physicians and nurses living in Delhi [4]. They had a daily sun exposure of only 25 minutes.

While elderly subjects and dark-skinned people living at Northern latitude are worst affected, a significant percentage of all age groups is at risk of insufficient vitamin D status. There is now increasing evidence that vitamin D insufficiency may play a role in the aetiology of various chronic diseases such as osteoporosis, hypertension, cardiovascular disease and diabetes mellitus. All these diseases are frequent in industrialised countries. Experimental studies support the assumption that the health consequences of inadequate vitamin D supply are manifold.

Experimental studies

Ex-vivo tissue studies have demonstrated that vitamin D receptors can be found in almost all mammalian tissues. Recently, two different groups of scientists have also generated vitamin D receptor-deficient (VDR) mice. Similar to patients with severe vitamin D deficiency, this animal model develops severe hypocalcaemia and secondary hyperparathyroidism [5,6]. Therefore, vitamin D receptor knockout mice provide an excellent possibility to study the health consequences of vitamin D deficiency *in vivo*. These animals have to be fed with supraphysiological amounts of calcium in order to avoid progressive worsening of the disease. The vitamin D receptor knockout mice develop a wide range of pathophysiological changes (see Figure 2). Beside bone diseases such as osteomalacia and osteoporosis, these changes include myopathy, cardiovascular risk factors, behavioural changes, altered immune response, impaired insulin secretion, and premalignant changes of specific cell lines. The wide range of adverse effects in vitamin D receptor knockout mice is in line with the wide tissue distribution of the vitamin D receptor.



Osteoporosis

Carefully performed intervention trials have demonstrated that vitamin D supplementation, in combination with an adequate calcium supply, is able to reduce osteoporotic fracture risk in elderly subjects [7-9]. Although some recently performed intervention studies have questioned the beneficial effects of oral vitamin D supplementation on fracture prevention [10-12], these investigations contain several flaws. The study by Aloia *et al* [10] was performed

in Afro-Americans, a population that has a relatively low risk of developing osteoporotic fractures; in the studies by Porthouse *et al* [12] and Grant *et al* [11], the supplemented vitamin D dose was rather low (20 µg, or 800 IUs, a day) and no serum concentrations of 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels were measured during follow-up, making it impossible to assess study compliance. In order to reduce fracture risk significantly, a serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D level of at least 70 nmol/l is necessary. Moreover, we have to keep in mind that osteoporosis is a paediatric disease. Peak bone mass, which is usually achieved in the second or third decade of life, is an important predictor of the risk of developing osteoporosis in later life. In this context, it is central that the increase in bone mineral density in young adolescent girls is directly related to serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels [13].

Diabetes mellitus

The prevalence of diabetes mellitus is four- to five-fold higher and serum 25(OH)D is significantly lower in dark-skinned Asian immigrants in the UK than in British Caucasians [14,13]. Moreover, serum glucose and the prevalence of diabetes rise [15] and serum 25(OH)D falls with age [1]. In a study performed in elderly subjects with insufficient vitamin D status (mean 25[OH]D levels: 42 nmol/l), the subgroup with the lowest tertile of 25(OH)D had a significantly higher blood glucose increase and a higher blood insulin increase after an oral glucose load, compared with the subgroup with the highest tertile of 25(OH)D levels [16].

In a large study with glucose-tolerant young subjects whose 25(OH)D levels ranged between six and 200 nmol/l, 25(OH)D showed an independent negative relation with plasma glucose at fasting, 90 minutes, and 120 minutes during an oral glucose tolerance test [17] Moreover, there was also an independent positive correlation between 25(OH)D and the insulin sensitivity index.

In a Finnish study, regular vitamin D supplementation of 50 μ g/day during infancy in the 1960s was associated with a marked reduction in the risk of type I diabetes 30 years later, in comparison with un-supplemented infants (relative risk 0.12). Children suspected of having rickets during the first year of life had a three-fold increased prevalence of type I diabetes, in comparison with those not thought to have had rickets [18].

Hypertension

It has been demonstrated that regular exposure to UVB radiation but not to UVA radiation increases circulating 25(OH)D above a level of 100 nmol/l and also significantly reduces blood pressure by approximately six mmHg in hypertensive patients with initial 25(OH)D levels of 26 nmol/l, within an intervention period of six weeks [19] (See Figure 3).



In another study, elderly women were supplemented with calcium and 20 µg vitamin D daily, or with calcium alone [20]. Initial 25(OH)D levels in the two study groups were 24.6 and 25.7 nmol/l, respectively. Compared with calcium supplementation alone, supplementation with vitamin D and calcium resulted in an increase in serum 25(OH)D

of 72 %, a decrease in serum PTH of 17 %, a decrease in systolic blood pressure of 9.3 %, and a decrease in heart rate of 5.4 %.

Cardiovascular disease

In humans, strong evidence of a role for vitamin D in the pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease comes from patients with end-stage renal disease (ESRD). In these patients, adjusted cardiovascular mortality is 10 to 20 times higher compared with the general population [21]. In patients with ESRD, the vitamin D metabolite, 1 α -vitamin D, and the vitamin D analogue, paricalcitol, are very effective drugs in reducing the risk of death from cardiovascular disease [22,23]. ESRD is also frequently associated with vascular calcification, and the very high serum PTH levels are regarded as an important risk factor in the pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease [24].

In the general population, the presence of vascular calcification is a predictor of poorer five-year survival [25]. Keeping in mind the inverse relationship between 25(OH)D and PTH, it is interesting that in the Tromsø study the rate of coronary heart disease was higher in the subjects with serum PTH > 62 pg/ml than in those with normal or low serum PTH levels (relative risk 1.67 in men and 1.78 in women) [26]. When the mean 25(OH)D concentrations from different studies in children, adolescents, and young adults are plotted against geographic latitude, an inverse association between 25(OH)D and geographical latitude does exist, while there is a direct association between geographical latitude and ischaemic heart disease (see Figure 4).



Inflammatory and autoimmune diseases

The active vitamin D metabolite calcitriol is an important modulator of the immune system. Calcitriol is able to suppress pro-inflammatory cytokines and to enhance anti-inflammatory cytokines. A disturbed cytokine metabolism seems to play an important role in the aetiology of rheumatoid arthritis and also of multiple sclerosis. In patients with rheumatoid arthritis, treatment effects of activated vitamin D are dose-dependent. Moreover, high doses of vitamin D and 25-hydroxyvitamin D are also able to significantly improve pain symptomatology (see Figure 5).

There is increasing evidence from animal studies and from epidemiological and intervention studies in humans that vitamin D insufficiency increases the risk of developing multiple sclerosis [27]. In patients with multiple sclerosis in South Germany, seasonal variations in disease activity are inversely related to seasonal fluctuations in vitamin D status (see Figure 6).







Prevention of vitamin D insufficiency

At present, no effective strategies exist in Europe to improve the vitamin D status of those adults who are at risk of vitamin D insufficiency. There is no doubt that environmental UVB exposure is the most important natural source of vitamin D. Therefore, strategies to improve vitamin D status should include regular weekly UVB exposure (for example, one-guarter of one minimal erythemal dose [MED] most days of the week). The use of lamps with artificial UVB, in a tanning bed for instance, would offer the opportunity to improve vitamin D status at home. Such a measure would also have the advantage that exact recommendations could be given for UVB exposure times as well as for the percentage of body surface which should be exposed to the UVB radiation. Dietary intakes that are needed to maintain adequate circulating 25(OH)D levels range between 50 and 100 µg (2000-4000 IUs) daily [28,29]. Since almost all foods naturally contain less than 10 µg (400 IUs) of vitamin D per 100 g edible portion, dietary advice would not be a good choice. Even fortified foods are usually enriched with not more than 10 µg vitamin D per 100 g edible portion. However, a daily vitamin D supplement could be very effective. Unfortunately, over-the-counter supplements usually contain no more than 25 µg vitamin D per tablet and in some countries, such as Great Britain, they contain even less. Thus, a minimum of 2-4 tablets have to be taken to achieve adequate circulating 25(OH)D levels in the absence of UVB exposure. Such a measure may be impractical for a high percentage of people at risk. Prevention of vitamin D insufficiency or deficiency must become a major target for public health services in the future. Many countries will have to change their guidelines on UVB exposure and/or their food legislation.

References

- 1. McKenna, M., Differences in vitamin D status between countries in young adults and elderly. Amer J Med 1992; **93**: 69-77.
- 2. Bhattoa, H. P., Bettembuk, P., Ganacharya, S. and Balogh, A., *Prevalence and seasonal variation of hypovitaminosis D and its relationship to bone metabolism in community dwelling postmenopausal Hungarian women.* Osteoporos Int 2004; **15**: 447-451.
- **3.** Pal, B. R., Marshall, T., James, C. and Shaw, N. J., *Distribution analysis of vitamin D highlights differences in population subgroups: preliminary observations from a pilot study in UK adults.* J Endocrinol 2003; **179**: 119-129.
- Goswami, R., Gupta, N., Goswami, D., Marwaha, R., Tandon, N. and Kochupillai, N., Prevalence and significance of low 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations in healthy subjects in Delhi. Amer J Clin Nutr 2000; 72: 472-475.
- Yoshizawa, T., Handa, Y., Uematsu, Y., Takeda, S., Sekine, K., Yoshihara, Y., Kawakami, T., Arioka, K., Sato, H., Uchiyama, Y., Masushige, S., Fukamizu, A., Matsumoto, T. and Kato, S., *Mice lacking the vitamin D receptor exhibit impaired bone formation, uterine hypoplasia and growth retardation after weaning.* Nat Genet 1997; 16: 391-396.
- 6. Li, Y. C., Pirro, A. E., Amling, M., Delling, G., Baron, R., Bronson, R. and Demay, M. B., *Targeted ablation of the vitamin D receptor: an animal model of vitamin D-dependent rickets type 2 with alopecia.* Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997; **94**: 9,831-9,835.
- 7. Chapuy, M. C., Arlot, M. E., Duboeuf, F., Brun, J., Crouzet, B., Arnaud, S., Delmas, P. D. and Meunier, P. J., *Vitamin* D₃ and calcium to prevent hip fractures in elderly women. N Engl J Med 1992; **327**: 1,637-1,642.
- 8. Dawson-Hughes, B., Harris, S. S., Krall, E. A. and Dallal, G. E., *Effect of calcium and vitamin D supplementation on bone density in men and women 65 years of age or older.* N Engl J Med 1997; **337**: 670-676.
- **9.** Chapuy, M. C., Pamphile, R., Paris, E., Kempf, C., Schlichting, M., Arnaud, S., Garnero, P. and Meunier, P. J., Combined calcium and vitamin D₃ supplementation in elderly women: confirmation of reversal of secondary hyperparathyroidim and hip fracture risk: the Decalysos II study. Osteoporosis Int 2002; **13**: 257-264.
- Aloia, J. F., Talwar, S. A., Pollack, S. and Yeh, J., A randomised controlled trial of vitamin D₃ supplementation in African American women. Arch Intern Med 2005; 165: 1,618-1,623.
- Grant, A. M., Avenell, A., Campbell, M. K., McDonald, A. M., MacLennan, G. S., McPherson, G. C., Anderson, F. H., Cooper, C., Francis, R. M., Donaldson, C., Gillespie, W. J., Robinson, C. M., Torgerson, D. J. and Wallace, W. A., (The RECORD trial group.) Oral vitamin D₃ and calcium for secondary prevention of low-trauma fractures in elderly people (randomised evaluation of calcium or vitamin D, RECORD): a randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2005; 365: 1,621-1,628.
- Porthouse, J., Cockayne, S., King, C., Saxon, L., Steele, E., Aspray, T., Baverstock, M., Birks, Y., Dumville, J., Francis, R., Iglessias, C., Puffer, S., Sutcliffe, A., Watt, I. and Torgerson, D. J., *Randomised controlled trial of calcium and supplementation with cholecalciferol (vitamin D₃) for prevention of fractures in primary care.* BM J 2005; **330**: 1,003-1,009.
- 13. Lehtonen-Veromaa, M. K., Mottonen, T. T., Nuotio, I. O., Irjala, K. M., Leino, A. E., Viikari, J. S., Vitamin D and attainment of peak bone mass among peripubertal Finnish girls: a 3-y prospective study. Am J Clin Nutr 2002; **76**: 1,446-1,453.
- 14. McKeigue, P. M., Pierpoint, T., Ferrie, J. E. and Marmot, M. G., *Relationship of glucose intolerance and hyperinsulinaemia to body fat pattern in south Asians and Europeans.* Diabetologia 1992; **35**: 785-791.
- **15.** Harris, M. I., Flegal, K. M., Cowie, C. C., Eberhardt, M. S., Goldstein, D. E., Little, R. R., Weidmeyer, H. M. and Byrd-Holt, D. D., *Prevalence of diabetes, impaired fasting glucose, and impaired glucose tolerance in U.S. adults. The Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1994. Diabetes Care 1998; 21: 518-524.*
- **16.** Baynes, K. C., Boucher, B. J., Feskens, E. J. and Kromhout, D., *Vitamin D, glucose tolerance and insulinaemia in elderly men.* Diabetologia 1997; **40**: 344-347.
- 17. Chiu, K. C., Chu, A., Go, V. L. and Saad, M. F., *Hypovitaminosis D is associated with insulin resistance and beta cell dysfunction.* Am J Clin Nutr 2004; **79**: 820-825.
- 18. Hyppönen, E., Läärä,, E., Reunnen, A., Jarvelin, M. R. and Virtanen, S. M., Intake of vitamin D and risk of type 1 diabetes: a birth-cohort study. Lancet 2001; **358**: 1,500-1,503.
- 19. Krause, R., Buhring, M., Hopfenmuller, W., Holick, M. F. and Sharma, A. M., Ultraviolet B and blood pressure.

Lancet 1998; 352: 709-710.

- Pfeifer, M., Begerow, B., Minne, H. W., Nachtigall, D. and Hansen C., Effects of a short-term vitamin D₃ and calcium supplementation on blood pressure and parathyroid hormone levels in elderly women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2001; 86: 1,633-1,637.
- **21.** Foley, R. N., Parfrey, P. S. and Sarnaak, M. J., *Clinical epidemiology of cardiovascular disease in chronic renal disease.* Am J Kidney Dis 1998; **32**: (5 Suppl 3): S112-S119.
- Shoji, T., Shinohara, K., Kimoto, E., Emoto, M., Tahara, H., Koyama, H., Inaba, M., Fukumoto, S., Ishimura, E., Miki, T., Tabata, T. and Nishizawa, Y., *Lower risk for cardiovascular mortality in oral lalpha-hydroxy vitamin* D₃ users in a haemodialysis population. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2004; 19: 179-184.
- 23. Teng, M., Wolf, M., Ofsthun, N., Lazarus, J. M., Hernan, M. A., Camargo, C. A. and Thadhani, R., *Activated injectable vitamin D and hemodialysis survival: A historical cohort study.* J Am Soc Nephrol 2005; **16**: 1,115-1,125.
- 24. Rostand, S. G. and Drueke, T. B., *Parathyroid hormone, vitamin D, and cardiovascular disease in chronic renal failure.* Kidney Int 1999; **56**: 383-392.
- 25. Margolis, J. R., Chen, J. T., Kong, Y., Peter, R. H., Behar, V. S. and Kisslo, J. A., *The diagnostic and prognostic significance of coronary artery calcification. A report of 800 cases.* Radiology 1980; 137: 609-616.
- 26. Kamycheva, E., Sundsfiord, J. and Jorde, R., Serum parathyroid hormone levels predict coronary heart disease: the Tromso Study. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil 2004; 11: 69-74.
- 27. Zittermann, A., *Vitamin D in preventive medicine: are we ignoring the evidence?* Br J Nutr 2003; **89**: 552-572.
- 28. Heaney, R. P., Davies, K. M., Chen, T. C., Holick, M. F. and Barger-Lux, M. J., *Human serum* 25*hydroxycholecalciferol response to extended oral dosing with cholecalciferol.* Am J Clin Nutr 2003; **77**: 204-210.
- Vieth, R., Kimball, S., Hu, A. and Walfish, P. G., Randomized comparison of the effects of the vitamin D₃ adequate intake versus 100 mcg (4000 IU) per day on biochemical responses and the wellbeing of patients. Nutrition J 2004; 3: 8.

The author may be contacted at the Department of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery, Ruhr University of Bochum, Heart and Diabetes Center North-Rhine Westfalia, Georgstraße 11, 32545 Bad Oeynhausen, Germany. Tel: +49 5731 97 1912, fax: + 49 5731 97 2020, e-mail: azittermann@hdz-nrw.de.

Genes, environment and prostate cancer risk: sunlight and vitamin D-related genes

Nicholas J. Rukin, Christopher J. Luscombe, Richard C. Strange*, Keele University Medical School, University Hospital of North Staffordshire, England

Prostate cancer is a major cause of morbidity and mortality, accounting for 10,164 deaths in the United Kingdom in 2003 [1]. The lifetime risk of being diagnosed with prostate cancer is one in 13 [2]. Prostate cancer is the second biggest cancer killer in males, resulting in 13% of all cancer deaths [1]. In the United States, prostate cancer is now the lead-ing cause of cancer death for males, having recently overtaken lung cancer. With an ageing population, prostate cancer incidence will increase and consume an increasing proportion of healthcare resources. Its causes are multifactorial, with risk dependent on interactions between environmental and genetic factors. Twin studies suggest that prostate cancer risk is approximately equally derived from genetic and environmental factors [3].

In this review we consider evidence indicating that ultraviolet radiation (UVR), skin pigmentation and related genetic factors mediate prostate cancer susceptibility.

We provide support for this view by considering four questions that we argue are linked to the hypothesis: (1) Are levels of UVR exposure lower in prostate cancer cases than controls? (2) As skin type mediates UVR-induced cutaneous synthesis of vitamin D, is it associated with prostate cancer risk? (3) If skin type mediates prostate cancer risk, are polymorphisms associated with this phenotype determinants of prostate cancer risk? (4) If UVR mediates risk through a vitamin D-related mechanism, do polymorphisms in the vitamin D receptor (VDR) influence risk?

Ultraviolet radiation

Humans are repeatedly exposed to UVR in daily life. Sunlight reaching the earth's surface comprises UVR (wavelength, 290-400 nm) and visible light (400-780 nm). UVR has a direct effect on the skin, leading to formation of cyclobutanepyrimidine dimers that can give rise to characteristic DNA mutations. [4]. Such mutations are linked to skin cancers by a complex series of events. Excessive UVR exposure is also related to immune suppression, premature ageing of skin and cataract formation [5]. Accordingly, public health, government and scientific agencies including Cancer Research UK have emphasised the dangers of sunlight and the need to adopt lifestyles that reduce exposure.

Despite these adverse associations, UVR offers substantial health benefits. The importance of this was recognised in the early 20th century with the realisation that inadequate exposure to sunlight, particularly common in industrialised areas, was associated with rickets. This resulted from inadequate vitamin D synthesis due to pollution blocking UVR passage to the earth. Over recent years it has become clear that, apart from its essential role in preventing rickets, vitamin D has a vital role in many key biochemical, immunological and carcinogenic pathways.

(1): Are levels of UVR exposure lower in prostate cancer cases than controls?

As early as the 1930s, there were reports that extent of exposure to UVR was inversely related to certain cancer mortality rates. It was not until 1980 that an ecological study linked colon cancer mortality in the United States to extent of exposure to UVR and production of vitamin D [6]. Further ecological studies have found similar inverse relationships between non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, ovarian and breast cancer [7-11]. In 1990 Hanchette and Schwartz looked at prostate cancer mortality data in the United States [9]. They found that prostate cancer mortality exhibited a significant north-south trend, with lower mortality rates in the sunnier south.

These data, based on an ecological approach, support the hypothesis that UVR protects against sporadic prostate cancer. Subsequent ecological studies have shown similar relationships for cancers of the breast, bladder, colon, oesophagus, kidney, lung, ovary, pancreas, rectum, stomach and uterus and regional UVR [12]. While interesting, it has been suggested that data derived from an ecological approach require cautious interpretation because associations may result from unrecognised confounding factors.

We hypothesised that UVR exposure is protective against development of prostate cancer via a mechanism in-

volving individual vitamin D status. In 1999, we initiated a study into the relationship between UVR and prostate cancer susceptibility, based on 210 prostate cancer cases and 155 benign prostate hypertrophy (BPH) controls [13]. All men were North European Caucasians resident in North Staffordshire (latitude 53.01° N). We used a previously validated questionnaire to determine acute and chronic UVR exposure patterns.

Low cumulative exposure to UVR was associated with increased risk of prostate cancer (odds ratio=3.03, 95% CI [confidence interval]=1.59-5.78). We showed that childhood sun-burning (odds ratio=0.18, 95% CI=0.08-0.38), regular foreign holidays (odds ratio=0.41, 95% CI=0.25-0.68) and regular sunbathing (odds ratio=0.83, 95% CI=0.76-0.89) were associated with reduced risk of prostate cancer. Furthermore, cases with low UVR exposure developed cancer at a significantly (p=0.006) younger median age (67.7 years, inter-quartile range [IQR]=61.5-74.6) than cases with higher exposure (72.1 years, IQR=67.5-76.4); p=0.006. These findings are compatible with UVR having a protective role against prostate cancer susceptibility.

Because we had studied only a small group we performed a confirmatory study starting in 2001, comprising 212 new prostate cancer cases and 135 BPH controls, to determine whether our previous findings, showing a protective effect for UVR exposure, could be reproduced [14]. Data from this new study confirmed that higher levels of cumulative exposure, childhood sun-burning, adult sunbathing and regular holidays in hot climates were again each independently and significantly associated with a reduced risk of prostate cancer. Collectively, these two studies add further evidence for the relationship between UVR exposure and prostate cancer, at least in northern Europe, an area with limited sun exposure for about half the year.

Data indicating that the association between UVR and prostate cancer risk was relevant in sunny environments come from recent studies by John *et al* in Caucasian Americans from the San Francisco area of California [15]. John *et al* measured constitutive pigmentation on the upper arm (a sun-protected site) and facultative pigmentation on the forehead (a sun-exposed site), using a reflectometer as a surrogate for UVR exposure, and calculated a forehead/upper arm index. Risk of advanced prostate cancer was reduced in patients with high sun exposure as assessed by the index. While it has been argued that there is no formal relationship between forehead/upper arm index and chronic exposure [16] these data provide further support for the UVR hypothesis.

Clearly, a problem with assessing the link between UVR and cancer risk (and ultimately agreeing safe levels of exposure) is our ability to accurately assess the intensity and duration of an individual's UVR exposure patterns over a lifetime. Our questionnaire recorded various parameters of UVR exposure. When assessing lifetime UVR exposure retrospectively, individuals may suffer from recall bias. Our questionnaire assesses sunbathing score, regular foreign holidays in sunny climates, time spent indoors/outdoors at work, as well as cumulative UVR exposure.

We believe this sunbathing score offers a realistic measurement of deliberate UVR exposure. Many people sunbathe within the critical time period of 11a.m. to 3p.m., when UVR intensity is maximal. What is often not recorded or recalled is whether individuals used sunscreen or covered up their body during this exposure period, and the extent to which this could affect UVR efficacy. Regular foreign holidays suggest individuals have increased UVR exposure and this may allow increased vitamin D levels. Time spent working indoor and outdoors is not necessarily a good measure of exposure. Individuals do not always expose themselves to UVR while working outdoors and, with no vitamin D being produced from October to April in the UK, this measurement is not very specific. We tended to use cumulative exposure as one of the main factors in determining UVR exposure. The questionnaire recorded median levels of exposure of 1,100 hours a year (approximately three hours a day), which appears high and which includes the non-vitamin D productive months between October to April. Thus, this parameter may not be an accurate reflection of vitamin D levels.

Unfortunately, there is no suitable alternative to date. 25-hydroxy vitamin D (25(OH)2D) levels have been examined, but these only reflect a snapshot in time and can vary substantially with seasons [5]. The aetiological steps of tumorigenesis are likely to develop over a long period of time and point measurements of 25(OH)2D levels may not provide an accurate representation of long-term vitamin D adequacy. What is needed is a marker for long-term vitamin D levels, like the glycosylated haemoglobin 1C (HbA1c) used to access long-term serum glucose levels.

UVR exposure is difficult to calculate, and the parameters we have used are semi-qualitative measures. Combinations of several of these parameters may offer a more realistic view of chronic UVR exposure.

(2): As skin type mediates UVR-induced cutaneous synthesis of vitamin D, is it associated with prostate cancer risk?

Skin pigmentation mediates an individual response to UVR. Thus, deeply pigmented skin has a sun-protective factor of about 10 compared with a pale skin [17]. Skin type can readily be classified using the Fitzpatrick skin

classification. This defines four main types of skin response to UVR in Caucasians. Type 1 skin always burns and never tans, type 2 usually burns and tans gradually, type 3 burns rarely and tans gradually and type 4 never burns and readily tans. Assigning individuals into these groups is usually straightforward, though there is overlap (particularly between types 2 and 3), and with increasing exposure individuals can move groups.

The Radiation and Environmental Health unit of the World Health Organisation (WHO) proposed a U-shaped curve relating exposure to UVR and disease burden [18]. This curve demonstrates that as exposure to UVR is increased, the disease burden level decreases (see Figure 1). This is evident in the case of rickets. With increasing exposure, rickets disappears and disease burden lessens. There comes a point where the curve flattens out and where it is estimated health is optimised. Once UVR exposure increases past this point, disease burden increases because of increased risk of skin cancer. Skin type affects an individual's response to UVR, so the different skin types have alternative starting positions on the graph. Therefore, individuals have their own optimal exposure level. Such UVR levels have been proposed for skin types and latitude by Holick [19].

Figure 1



Individuals have differing UVR exposure patterns and the impact of these may vary with host factors such as skin type. We hypothesise that 'ideal' UVR exposure varies with individual skin type.

It could be hypothesised that since men who tan readily have high melanin levels in skin and produce less vitamin D they will be at highest risk of prostate cancer. Unfortunately, human conditioning means that at least some individuals with sun-sensitive skin (skin types 1 and 2) tend to avoid UVR [20]. Accordingly, it is possible that some skin type 1 individuals develop less prostate cancer because they synthesise vitamin D more effectively, or that they contract more prostate cancer due to their sun avoidance.

We hypothesised that the impact of skin type on risk would be related to the level of UVR exposure. We investigated whether skin type and level of UVR exposure were associated with prostate cancer risk in 453 cancer cases and 312 BPH controls [20]. Using a recursive partitioning approach, we examined if the effects of skin type 1 were more evident in men with low levels of cumulative exposure per year or low sunbathing score. This type of analysis allows prediction of a dependent variable on the basis of a number of predictors. The software algorithm partitions predictors (cumulative exposure per year, sunbathing score and skin type) so that more homogenous groups (cases or controls) are obtained. In the first partition the algorithm lists the predictors in order of their Bonferroni-corrected p values. The algorithm then effects further partitioning into each node.

Analysis showed that in men who never or very rarely sunbathed, those with skin types 2-4 were at significantly increased risk of prostate cancer compared with skin type 1. In those men with high UVR exposure levels skin type did not have an association with prostate cancer. While these results do not prove the hypothesis, they suggest that in individuals with low UVR exposure, inability to pigment is beneficial. We interpret this effect to be due to increased vitamin D synthesis.

(3): If skin type mediates prostate cancer risk are polymorphisms associated with this phenotype determinants of prostate cancer risk?

Humans differ from other primates in that they have lost most of their body hair [21]. This enables humans to sweat more effectively but has the detrimental effect of reducing skin protection against UVR-induced damage [21].

Humans synthesise melanin from tyrosine in a reaction catalysed by tyrosinase. Melanin helps to absorb electromagnetic radiation both in the visible and ultraviolet wavelengths. This helps protect DNA and other proteins from UVR-induced damage. The two types of melanin, eumelanin (brown black) and pheomelanin (red yellow) exert their effect on individuals' skin pigmentation. For example, pale-skinned, red-haired individuals often have large amounts of pheomelanin and tanned, dark-haired people more eumelanin. Skin response to UVR is linked to skin pigmentation. This means those with paler skin are more sensitive to UVR in terms of burning and vitamin D production.

Human skin pigmentation is a complex genetic characteristic. In man, skin pigmentation is polygenic with a prominent determinant being the melanocortin 1 receptor (MC1R). The MC1R encodes a 317 amino acid G-protein coupled receptor. The gene is intronless (see Glossary) and is highly polymorphic. Binding of α -melanocyte stimulating hormone (α -MSH) to the MC1R leads to increased intracellular cAMP and this alters transcription of a number of key intracellular genes, mostly from the tyrosinase family, which are important in melanin synthesis. MC1R activity is associated with individual phenotypes such as red hair and freckles, a tendency to burn rather than tan and an increased risk of skin cancer.

With our findings that UVR alters susceptibility to prostate cancer and that skin pigmentation alters an individual's response to UVR, we hypothesised that polymorphism in genes that mediate skin pigmentation will influence susceptibility to prostate cancer. We examined susceptibility to prostate cancer in relation to MCIR and tyrosinase single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) [22]. In 210 prostate cancer cases and 155 BPH controls we showed that MCIR Arg(160)/Arg(160) homozygotes were at increased risk (odds ratio=1.94, p=0.027), while tyrosinase A2/A2 homozygotes were at reduced risk of prostate cancer (odds ratio=0.48, p=0.033). These associations remained significant after correction for UVR exposure. Stratification of cases and controls by quartiles of exposure showed that the protective effect of tyrosinase A1/A2 (odds ratio=0.075, p=0.006) and A2/A2 (odds ratio=0.055, p=0.003) was particularly strong in subjects who had received the greatest UVR exposure.

These data showed, for the first time, that genes linked with skin pigmentation synthesis are associated with prostate cancer risk, possibly because they indirectly mediate the protective effects of UVR. Importantly, susceptibility is associated with an interaction between host genetic predisposition and UVR exposure. To date there is no further published work on skin pigmentation genetics and prostate cancer.

Glossary

Cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP): intracellular chemical messenger Exons: DNA segments in a gene that encode the amino acid sequence of a protein Introns: DNA in a gene that separates the exons and does not encode the protein Homozygotes: carry two identical copies of that gene, one maternal and one paternal Dimerisation: a unit from two chemical structures

Haplotype: the collective genotype of a number of inherited variants on a single chromosome

T/C substitution: change in the base in a sequence of DNA from thymine (T) to cytosine (C)

(4): If UVR mediates risk through a vitamin D-related mechanism, do polymorphisms in the vitamin D receptor (VDR) influence risk?

Systemic or locally produced 1,25-dihydroxy vitamin D (1,25(OH)₂D) binds to the nuclear VDR, causing a conformational change in the VDR followed by dimerisation with the retinoid X receptor [23]. This complex interacts with the vitamin D response element (VDRE) in target genes, initiating transcription. 1,25(OH)2D and the vitamin D receptor (VDR) are central to the hypothesis that UVR exposure mediates prostate cancer risk. The UVR hypothesis makes the VDR a good candidate gene to study. The VDR gene is located on chromosome 12 and has over 238 single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) [23]. The VDR has a promoter, coding and regulatory region. The F/f30875 (Fok1) SNP, situated in exon 2, alters transcription, and a T/C substitution causes a smaller protein to be produced [24].

Recently, SNPs have been identified at specific transcription factor binding sites. The G/A1229 (Cdx2) SNP was identified within the exon le region of the gene [25]. This is within the binding site of the Cdx2 protein, a transcription factor that regulates VDR gene expression in the small intestines and other tissue [23]. The G/A3944 (GATA) SNP within the exon la region was identified in 2004 [26]. This lies within a core sequence of a likely GATA-3 binding site. Polymorphisms within this region have been linked to susceptibility and outcome in malignant melanoma [26].

To date, molecular epidemiological studies have shown conflicting results regarding an association of VDR polymorphisms with prostate cancer risk. Early genetic epidemiology studies examined the relationships of the Taq1, poly (A) micro satellite repeat, Bsm1 and Fok1 SNPs. Results were contradictory and inconclusive, in part because many studies were underpowered. Some of these data were included in a recent meta-analysis based on 17 published studies which assessed the associations of Taq1, poly (A), Bsm1 and Fok1 polymorphisms in relation to prostate cancer [27]. These four SNPs were thought to be unlikely to be a major determinant of susceptibility to prostate cancer.

More recently, we examined the relationship of VDR SNPs by stratifying polymorphisms by UVR exposure (a surrogate for vitamin D status) [28,28,29]. We examined SNPs within the promoter and coding region to identify susceptibility candidate genes. The GATA GG genotype, present in the promoter region, was lower in the cancer than in the BPH patients (odds ratio=0.63, 95 per cent CI=0.41-0.98, p=0.039). When we then stratified SNPs by UVR exposure, the Fok1 ff allele was associated with a significant increased risk of prostate cancer with UV exposure greater than the median. For the first time this linked environmental and genetic factors, in the form of UVR exposure and VDR genotype. A confirmatory study by John *et al* in the United States showed similar results [15]. Again, they assessed VDR SNPs and linked genotype frequencies to levels of UVR exposure.

Our most recent work on the VDR has shown that the 5' haplotype promoter region plays an important role in determining susceptibility, and SNPs within this region may have a synergistic effect on prostate cancer risk (unpublished data). This is supported by new evidence suggesting that SNPs in this region do have functional significance [30].

Our work has shown that prostate cancer susceptibility is mediated by UVR [28,29] We have also predicted, on the basis of the hypothesis, genetic factors that are important in determining susceptibility to sporadic prostate cancer [22,28,29,31]. Combinations of genetic and environmental factors have further strengthened the relationship. Thus, in the general population there are individuals with strong genetic risk while others have a lifestyle that confers a strong environmental risk. Who does and does not develop prostate cancer depends on the impact of these and presumably other largely uncharacterised factors such as diet (see Figure 2).



Suggested influence of gene-environmental interaction in determining susceptibility to prostate cancer. Individuals with high genetic risk and low UVR exposure have a high risk of prostate cancer. Individuals with adequate UVR exposure and low genetic risk are at low risk of prostate cancer.

Migration studies

If the UVR/vitamin D story is correct, we may be able to identify individuals who are at increased risk of disease or advise more scientifically on disease-avoidance approaches. Using prostate cancer as an example, we would expect increased rates of prostate cancer in males who have emigrated from Africa and Asia to Northern Europe. Thus, they receive less UVR exposure in Northern Europe compared to their native continents. The same may be true for a Caucasian population. If Caucasians move to an area where UVR exposure is high compared to their native climate, we might expect lower rates of cancer. Australia is a potentially interesting test bed since its Caucasian population arises mainly from the United Kingdom and Ireland, where UVR exposure is relatively low. We might simplistically expect that the descendants of Caucasian immigrants to Australia will have higher levels of UVR exposure than their UK relatives and, accordingly, less prostate cancer.

It is emphasised, however, that there does not need to be a clear relationship between ambient exposure and

that received by an individual. Indeed, an important factor regarding UVR exposure is sun avoidance. Due to increased rates of skin cancers many people practise sun avoidance, so actual UVR exposure in individuals in sunny climates may be similar to that of Northern Europeans. Data from the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare show that the incidence of prostate cancer has remained static since the mid-1990s after the introduction of PSA testing [32] Interestingly, mortality for prostate cancer is less in Australia than the United Kingdom. This could be due to several confounding factors, but UVR exposure may have a role.

However, when comparisons are made between different countries' national statistics, problems can arise. National statistics reflect population trends, not individuals' risk factors. The only way to fully compare the two would be by age-matched comparison studies. To date there appears to be no published work on prostate cancer and UVR in a native Australian population. Studies looking at Middle Eastern and Near Eastern immigrants to Australia have shown a reduced incidence of prostate cancer compared to a native Australian-born population [33,34].

Multiple sclerosis (MS), like prostate cancer, is a disease that is related to latitude and possibly UVR exposure. Data from Australia show that MS incidence increases with latitude from north to south [35,36]. This same trend is seen in migration studies of British individuals who emigrated to Australia [35]. These findings provide further support for the UVR hypothesis and emphasise the need to determine individual exposure through cases and controls.

Conclusion

Prostate cancer is a common malignancy in ageing men, with numbers likely to increase with time. The hypothesis that prostate cancer risk is mediated by exposure to sunlight is compatible with the known influence of vitamin D on key biological processes. A link between susceptibility to prostate cancer and UVR exposure is suggested by our data, some of which has been independently replicated. Skin pigmentation, as a surrogate for pigmentation efficiency, does affect susceptibility to prostate cancer in a low UVR exposure group, with skin type 1 offering relative protection. SNP studies in both the VDR and the MCIR have been associated with susceptibility to prostate cancer. Although sun-burning and excessive tanning do have significant risks for skin cancer and skin ageing, moderate sensible exposure to the sun in order to prevent hypovitaminosis D, particularly for people with deeply pigmented skin, may be beneficial.

With known low levels of vitamin D in the UK population, and many people not synthesising endogenous vitamin D from October to April, is there a role for increased vitamin D fortification of food, as well as vitamin D supplementation? Indeed, is it safe to inform the public to expose themselves to a 'safe' level of UVR during the summer months? Holick has created such tables, suggesting appropriate UVR exposure for differing skin types [19]. We are not advocating widespread deliberate UVR exposure, but a consensus on adequate exposure does need to be formulated. The possible benefits of UVR must be weighed against the risks of sun-induced skin cancers.

However, caution is required in using these data to derive public health advice. Encouraging people to increase exposure may be inappropriate if we are not yet sure what levels of exposure are significant in increasing skin cancer risk. Indeed, advice may need to be tailored to an individual's own characteristics such as level of pigmentation or ability to initiate a pigmentary response to sunlight. It is reasonable to state that these data are interesting and worthy of investigation, since the potential public health benefits are huge.

References:

- 1. http://info.cancerresearchuk.org/cancerstats/types/prostate/?a=5441. Accessed 2005.
- 2. Office for National Statistics. *Registrations of cancer diagnosed in 1993-1996, England and Wales.* Health Statistics Quarterly 1999: 59-70.
- 3. Lichtenstein, P., Holm, N. V., Verkasalo, P. K., Iliadou, A., Kaprio, J., Koskenvuo, M. et al., Environmental and heritable factors in the causation of cancer--analyses of cohorts of twins from Sweden, Denmark, and Finland. N Engl J Med 2000; 343: 78-85.
- 4. Moon, S. J., Fryer, A. A. and Strange, R. C., *Ultraviolet radiation: effects on risks of prostate cancer and other internal cancers*. Mutat Res 2005; **571**: 207-219.
- 5. Grant, W. B. and Holick, M. F., *Benefits and requirements of vitamin D for optimal health: a review.* Altern Med Rev 2005; **10**: 94-111.
- 6. Garland, C. F. and Garland, F. C., *Do sunlight and vitamin D reduce the likelihood of colon cancer?* Int J Epidemiol 1980; 9: 227-231.
- 7. Freedman, D. M., Zahm, S. H. and Dosemeci, M., Residential and occupational exposure to sunlight and mortality from non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: composite (threefold) case-control study. BMJ 1997; **314**: 1,451-1,455.
- 8. Garland, F. C., Garland, C. F., Gorham, E. D. and Young, J. F., *Geographic variation in breast cancer mortality in the United States: a hypothesis involving exposure to solar radiation.* Prev Med 1990; **19**: 614-622.
- 9. Hanchette, C. L. and Schwartz, G. G., *Geographic patterns of prostate cancer mortality. Evidence for a protective effect of ultraviolet radiation.* Cancer 1992; **70**: 2,861-2,869.
- 10. Hartge, P., Devesa, S. S., Grauman, D., Fears, T. R. and Fraumeni, J. F. Jr., *Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and sunlight*. J Natl Cancer Inst 1996; **88**: 298-300.
- **11.** Lefkowitz, E. S and Garland, C. F., *Sunlight, vitamin D, and ovarian cancer mortality rates in US women.* Int J Epidemiol 1994; **23**: 1,133-1,336.
- 12. Grant, W. B., An estimate of premature cancer mortality in the US due to inadequate doses of solar ultraviolet-B radiation. Cancer 2002; **94**: 1,867-1,875.
- **13.** Luscombe, C. J., Fryer, A. A., French, M. E., Liu, S., Saxby, M. F., Jones, P. W. *et al.*, *Exposure to ultraviolet radiation: association with susceptibility and age at presentation with prostate cancer*. Lancet 2001; **358**: 641-642.
- Bodiwala, D., Luscombe, C. J., Liu, S., Saxby, M., French, M., Jones, P. W. et al., Prostate cancer risk and exposure to ultraviolet radiation: further support for the protective effect of sunlight. Cancer Lett 2003; 192: 145-149.
- **15.** John, E. M., Schwartz, G. G., Koo, J., Van Den, B. D. and Ingles, S. A., *Sun exposure, vitamin D receptor gene polymorphisms, and risk of advanced prostate cancer.* Cancer Res 2005; **65**: 5,470-5,479.
- **16.** Oh, C., Hennessy, A., Ha, T., Bisset, Y., Diffey, B. and Rees, J. L., *The time course of photoadaptation and pigmentation studied using a novel method to distinguish pigmentation from erythema.* J Invest Dermatol 2004; **123**: 965-972.
- 17. Cripps, D. J., Natural and artificial photoprotection. J Invest Dermatol 1981; 77: 154-157.
- **18.** http://www.who.int/ionizing_radiation/research/en/GBD4web.pdf. Accessed 2005.
- 19. Holick, M. F. and Jenkins, M., *The UV advantage*. ibooks, New York 2003.
- 20. Bodiwala, D., Luscombe, C. J., French, M. E., Liu, S., Saxby, M. F., Jones, P. W. et al., Susceptibility to prostate cancer: studies on interactions between UVR exposure and skin type. Carcinogenesis 2003; 24: 711-717.
- **21.** Wong, T. H. and Rees, J. L., *The relation between melanocortin 1 receptor (MCIR) variation and the generation of phenotypic diversity in the cutaneous response to ultraviolet radiation.* Peptides 2005; **26**: 1,965-1,971.
- Luscombe, C. J., French, M. E., Liu, S., Saxby, M. F., Jones, P. W., Fryer, A. A. et al., Prostate cancer risk: associations with ultraviolet radiation, tyrosinase and melanocortin-1 receptor genotypes. Br J Cancer 2001; 85: 1,504-1,509.
- 23. Rukin, N. J., Luscombe, C. J. and Strange, R. C., Vitamin D: New insights into its broader role in disease pathogenesis. Retinoids 2005; 21(4): 50-54.
- 24. Arai, H., Miyamoto, K., Taketani, Y., Yamamoto, H., lemori, Y., Morita, K. et al., A vitamin D receptor gene polymorphism in the translation initiation codon: effect on protein activity and relation to bone mineral density in Japanese women. J Bone Miner Res 1997; **12**: 915-921.
- 25. Arai H, Miyamoto KI, Yoshida M, Yamamoto H, Taketani Y, Morita K et al. The polymorphism in the caudal-
related homeodomain protein Cdx-2 binding element in the human vitamin D receptor gene. J Bone Miner Res 2001; **16**: 1,256-1,264.

- 26. Halsall, J. A., Osborne, J. E., Potter, L., Pringle, J. H. and Hutchinson, P. E., A novel polymorphism in the 1A promoter region of the vitamin D receptor is associated with altered susceptibility and prognosis in malignant melanoma. Br J Cancer 2004; **91**: 765-770.
- 27. Ntais, C., Polycarpou, A., Ioannidis, J. P., *Vitamin D receptor gene polymorphisms and risk of prostate cancer: a meta-analysis.* Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2003; **12**: 1,395-1,402.
- **28.** Bodiwala, D., Luscombe, C. J., French, M. E., Liu, S., Saxby, M. F., Jones, P. W. *et al.*, *Polymorphisms in the vitamin D receptor gene, ultraviolet radiation, and susceptibility to prostate cancer.* Environ Mol Mutagen 2004; **43**: 121-127.
- **29.** Moon, S. J., Holley, S., Bodiwala, D., Luscombe, C.J., French, M. E., Liu, S. *et al.*, *Associations between A/G1229, G/A3944, F/f30875, C/T48200 and T/t65013 genotypes and haplotypes in the vitamin D receptor gene, ultraviolet radiation and susceptibility to prostate cancer.* Ann Hum Gen 2006. In press.
- d'Alesio, A., Garabedian, M., Sabatier, J. P., Guaydier-Souquieres, G., Marcelli, C., Lemacon, A. *et al.*, *Two single-nucleotide polymorphisms in the human vitamin D receptor promoter change protein-DNA complex formation and are associated with height and vitamin D status in adolescent girls*. Hum Mol Genet 2005; 14: 3,539-3,548.
- **31.** Luscombe, C. J., French, M. E., Liu, S., Saxby, M. F., Jones, P. W., Fryer, A. A. *et al.*, *Outcome in prostate cancer associations with skin type and polymorphism in pigmentation-related genes.* Carcinogenesis 2001; 22: 1,343-1,347.
- 32. http://www.aihw.gov.au/publications/phe/aht01/aht01-c05b.pdf. Accessed 2005.
- 33. McCredie, M., Coates, M. and Grulich, A., *Cancer incidence in migrants to New South Wales (Australia) from the Middle East, 1972-91.* Cancer Causes Control 1994; **5**: 414-421.
- 34. Khlat, M., Bouchardy, C. and Parkin, D. M., *[Cancer mortality in immigrants from the Near East in Australia].* Rev Epidemiol Sante Publique 1993; **41**: 208-217.
- 35. Hammond, S. R., English, D. R. and McLeod, J. G., *The age-range of risk of developing multiple sclerosis:* evidence from a migrant population in Australia. Brain 2000; **123**(Pt 5): 968-974.
- **36.** Miller, D. H., Hammond, S. R., McLeod, J. G., Purdie, G. and Skegg, D. C., *Multiple sclerosis in Australia and New Zealand: are the determinants genetic or environmental?* J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1990; **53**: 903-905.

*Corresponding author. Professor Strange can be contacted at the Central Pathology Laboratory, University of North Staffordshire, Hartshill, Stoke on Trent, Staffordshire ST4 7PA, England, or via richard.strange@uhns.nhs.uk.

Vitamin D: photobiology and relevance for cancer

Johan Moan*, Zoya Lagunova and Alina Porojnicu, Department of Radiation Biology, The Norwegian Radium Hospital, Oslo, Norway

The sun is our most important source of vitamin D. Exposure to ultraviolet radiation from sun-beds can also give substantial amounts of vitamin D. This is even true for so-called UVA sun-beds, since they emit some UVB, and since UVB is orders of magnitude more efficient than UVA both with respect to vitamin D photosynthesis and melanogenesis.

UVB exposure of the skin leads to conversion of 7- dehydrocholesterol (7-DHC) to previtamin D3, which is converted in a heat-driven reaction to vitamin D3. Vitamin D3 binds to D-binding protein, and goes to the liver where hydroxylation to 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 (calcidiol) takes place. Calcidiol is present in human serum in concentrations of the order of 10-100 nmol/l, and is regarded as a reliable measure of the vitamin D status of a person. Calcidiol is further hydroxylated to 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 (calcitriol) in the liver. Calcitriol is believed to be the active hormone. This is certainly true with respect to bone metabolism. With regard to cancer protection, however, calcidiol may be more important. Many tumours have receptors for calcidiol. Our data show that the calcidiol level is 20-50% higher in late summer than in late winter. We believe that this explains improved survival in a number of cancer forms when treatment is started in the season of high calcidiol levels.

Rickets is prevented at a calcidiol serum level above about 12.5 nmol/l. However, the general optimal level is somewhere between 100 and 250 nmol/l. To reach such a level, a daily intake of 100-200 µg vitamin D is required. This equals about 50-100 g of cod liver oil. Sun or sun-bed exposures amounting to 2 MEDs (minimal erythemal dose) per week would give the same calcidiol level. One MED is the UV exposure giving a slight erythema (skin redness). In the Nordic countries the sun gives about 1 MED in 10-20 minutes at midday in midsummer.

An adequate vitamin D level counteracts many cancer forms (prostate, breast, colon, lung cancer as well as lymphomas). The incidence rates or the severity of several other diseases are decreased by sufficient vitamin D3 levels: multiple sclerosis, diabetes, rheumatoid arthritis and cardiovascular diseases. The action mechanisms of vitamin D may be related to its immune- and cell-differentiating effects. Even though most of the 250 deaths a year from skin cancer in Norway may be due to sun exposure, there are probably large health advantages of increased sun or sun-bed exposure, notably for old persons and immigrants with dark skin or who seldom expose their skin to the sun.

The importance of vitamin D

Vitamin D has played an important role in the entire animal and plant kingdom for millions of years. It absorbs radiation in the same wavelength band as proteins and DNA (290-320 nm); that is, in the UVB region. This suggests that it may have played a sun-protective role since the beginning of life on Earth.

Plants make vitamin D2 (ergocalciferol) from ergosterol, while animals mainly produce vitamin D3 (cholecalciferol) through UVB absorption by 7-dehydrocholesterol (7-DHC). Animals with fur secrete 7-DHC in sweat. When the sun shines on fur containing 7-DHC, vitamin D3 is formed, and the animals ingest it when they lick their fur. Cow's milk contains more vitamin D in summer than in winter. In humans, a dark skin colour reduces vitamin D production. Early hominids living in Africa probably had a dark skin colour, as have Africans today. Migration out of the Equatorial regions led to decreasing pigmentation [1]. These considerations clearly show the biological impact of the vitamin.

It may even have played a role in the Wurm period (70,000-30,000 years ago), when the Neanderthals disappeared and the Cro-Magnons took the lead. The former had little or no vitamin D-containing fish on their menu, while the latter had. Bones of Neanderthals bear sign of rickets or osteomalacia [2]. The same is true for bones of the Nordic people who emigrated to Greenland in the 9th century, but mysteriously disappeared in the 15th century.

Urbanisation and the changes in lifestyle brought by the industrial revolution made rickets a serious health problem from the 15th to the 20th century [3]. In the 1820s, it was found that sun exposure could heal rickets [4]. After the First World War, it was observed that radiation from a mercury lamp had a similar effect [5]. At that time, it was also shown that cod liver oil healed dogs with rickets [6]. Food was fortified by UV exposure, and thus enriched in vitamin D2. The research activity and curiosity about vitamin D was wide-ranging in those days: exposure of rat cages was found to heal rickets in rats put into them! Vitamin D2 might have been formed in traces of food or in rat excrement under UV-exposure. A synergistic action of basic research, clinical research and public information campaigns almost eradicated rickets and osteoporosis in a couple of decades.

Changes in diet and/or less outdoor work may explain the rising trends in incidence of these bone diseases in recent years [7]. Migration of people with a dark skin colour to temperate, northern regions may also play a role. Vitamin D deficiency is observed in many countries, even in large groups of people with white skin. It is an open question if the numerous campaigns against exaggerated sun exposure have reached the wrong populations: anxious people, rather than sun-worshippers.

In recent years there has been a revitalised interest in vitamin D and its positive health effects.

The photosynthesis of vitamin D₃ in skin

7-DHC is present in the skin of most vertebrates. Humans have 0.1-0.2mg/cm2 in the dermis, 0.1-1 mg/cm2 in the basal layer and 0.7-1.5 mg/cm2 in the epidermis [8]. Skin thickness decreases with age and so do the concentration of 7-DHC and the efficient photo-conversion of 7-DHC. The photobiosynthesis of vitamin D3 decreases by a factor of about four between the ages of 20-30 years and 60-80 years [9].

The fluence rate of UVB decreases rapidly with increasing depth below the skin surface, and only a small fraction (about 2%) of the 7-DHC in the dermis (where the blood vessels are) is photoconverted, while this percentage is about 20-30 in the epidermis. Africans with black skin (skin type 6) need 10-15 times more UV radiation than a white person to get the same amount of vitamin D3 [10].

Sun-beds are extremely efficient vitamin D3 producers (see Figure 1) [11 and own unpublished results]. The action spectrum of 7-DHC conversion to previtamin D3 peaks at about 295 nm [12]. Exposure to a sun-bed emitting radiation just in the wavelength region around 295 nm would give more vitamin D3 than sun exposure, since previtamin D3 and vitamin D3 are photolabile with different action spectra [12].

Figure 1



UV exposure of previtamin D3 produces lumisterol and tachysterol. After about 10-15 minutes of Equatorial sun the maximum level of previtamin D3 is reached, after which only lumisterol is formed [13]. 7-DHC is squeezed between polar heads of long-chained fatty acid molecules in cell membranes and in the skin [8]. These surroundings stabilise the photoproduct previtamin D3 until it can undergo a heat-driven isomerisation to vitamin D in about 12 hours [12].

Loomis proposed that the high melanin concentration in African skin protected the Africans against vitamin D intoxication [1]. However, sun-induced vitamin D toxicity has never been observed. This may be due to the photo-lability of both previtamin D3 and vitamin D3 [10]. Under moderate UV fluence rates vitamin D3 needs to be

photo-protected, and this is achieved by it being transported away from the skin to the liver, bound to D-binding protein [14].

Vitamin D biochemistry

Vitamin D is hydroxylated to calcidiol (25 (OH) D) in the liver. Normally its concentration is 30-100 nmol/l in human serum. The cytochrome P-450 enzyme in the kidneys transforms calcidiol to 1,25 (OH) D (calcitriol) by the addition of one more hydroxyl group. Calcitriol has been regarded as the active hormone, which is certainly true with respect to bone metabolism. Two isomers of calcitriol are formed: 1,25 (OH)₂D and 24,25 (OH)₂D. Their relative significance is disputed [15]. A number of tissues have calcidiol receptors and produce calcitriol [16].

The effects of vitamin D metabolites on cell differentiation and tumour progression are well-documented [15,17,18]. Calcidiol may be more important than believed until now. Our research shows that tumour prognosis is related to the calcidiol level and not to the calcitriol level, which is constant throughout the year [19-21]. The biological efficiency of calcitriol, on a molar basis, is 125-400 times that of calcidiol [22] and not 2,000 as earlier believed [23]. Since the concentration of calcidiol in serum is 500-1,000 times that of calcitriol one can estimate that calcidiol probably contributes some 70-90% to the overall biological effect, and not simply 15-30%, as earlier thought. Newer observations support the important role of calcidiol [24-27].

What is an 'optimal' vitamin D status?

The answer to the question of what constitutes 'optimal' vitamin D status is dependent on sex, age and physiological conditions like pregnancy, breast-feeding, overweight and abnormalities of the calcium metabolism. It is likely that there are different optimal levels, depending on what is being considered: cancer, multiple sclerosis, arthritis, diabetes, cardiovascular diseases or bone metabolism. Relevant proposed optimal levels can be found in the references [28]. Figure 1 summarises this. Levels found by us in our sun-bed experiments are also given in the Figure.

If these values are correct, there is vitamin D deficiency in large populations in the Western world [29-37]. Winter values are notably low. Among elderly people, extremely low levels are reported: 18 nmol/l in Switzerland, 10 nmol/l in France. Children in Brazil have around 105 nmol/l, while veil-bearing women in sunny Turkey have only 10 nmol/l [18]. In Norway, average values of around 50 nmol/l are found. A north-south gradient seems to exist: 40-50 nmol/l at around 50-70°N and 70 nmol/l at 0-30°N. Non-human primates have higher levels than humans. Rhesus monkeys, for instance, have 450 nmol/l [38]. We can guess that increases above 50 to 70 nmol/l play a role in cancer progression, in view of our data on the seasonal dependency of cancer prognosis.

Vitamin D from food and sun

From October to March no vitamin D3 is produced in skin at northern latitudes, due to the low UVB fluence rate in solar radiation [13]. Summer values are 30-100% higher than winter values (see Figure 2). We found similar values to those reported in an early study in Tromsø [37]. However, although photosynthesis of vitamin D3 is about 30% more efficient in South Norway than in North Norway, this is almost compensated for in the north by a 20% higher vitamin D intake from food, mainly cod liver.

A daily supplement of 1.4 μ g D2 per kg weight (children) gave 71 nmol/l D2-calcidiol in winter (when the D3 calcidiol level was 62.5 nmol/l) [39]. Vitamin D3 seems to be 70% more efficient than vitamin D2 [39]. Similar findings were reported by another group: vitamin D3, 1 μ g per day for 60 days, led to a calcidiol increase of 0.7 nmol/l [40]. Daily supplements of 25, 125 and 250 μ g D3 led to an increase in the calcidiol level from 70 nmol/l to 88, 125 and 205 nmol/l, respectively, in healthy men (see figure 2 overleaf).

To maintain summer values of calcidiol, food supplements of about 13 μ g vitamin D3 per day are needed in the dark season [40,41]. For persons with 20 nmol/l serum calcidiol, a daily supplement of 10 μ g vitamin D3 raised the level to 40 nmol/l within three months [42]. For healthy men without vitamin D3 deficiency a similar food supplement raised the calcidiol level by only 11 nmol/l [43]. A linear calcidiol increase was found through taking a daily supplement of up to 1,250 μ g vitamin D [43]. Such a daily supplement (corresponding to 600 ml of cod liver oil) gave 640 nmol/l calcidiol in the serum. Obese people need a higher vitamin D intake, since the vitamin is stored in fatty tissue [44].



Winter values (upper panel) and winter-summer percentage increase (lower panel) in calcidiol concentrations at different latitudes. Data from references 29-37.

A number of meteorological parameters affect the fluence rate of UV radiation and, consequently, the rate of vitamin D photosynthesis in skin. For instance, the UV fluence rate is almost doubled when snow is on the ground. It should be noted that the action spectra for pigment induction, erythema and vitamin D3 production (probably also that for non-melanoma skin cancer induction) practically overlap, and are mainly located in the UVB region. Thus, a sun-bed giving pigmentation without producing vitamin D3 cannot be manufactured. However, it is possible to optimise the spectrum of a sun-bed to maximise vitamin D3 production and, at the same time, to minimise the skin cancer risk. Skin cancer risk is always an accompanying factor in radiation, whether from sun-bed or sun.

Fifteen minutes of midsummer sun exposure of face and hands at noon has been suggested, to give sufficient supplementation of vitamin D3 [45]. Regular exposure of this magnitude, which may be about the average exposure of an English office worker, gave a calcidiol level of 36 nmol/l [46]. A similar study of elderly persons in the Netherlands raised serum calcidiol concentration from 18 to 60 nmol/l in three months [42]. 1.5 MEDs per week to 1,000 cm² of skin produced a level similar to supplementing food with 10 μ g (about 5 g of cod liver oil) per day. In psoriasis patients who were exposed weekly to three whole-body MEDs, calcidiol increased from 50 to 200 nmol/l ever eight weeks [47]. Similarly, 0.7 MEDs given three times per week raised the level from 55 to 150 nmol/l [48]. Three MEDs as a single whole-body dose gave 25 nmol/l, as determined after one week. One MED whole-body exposure corresponded to ingestion of 400 μ g vitamin D2 [49].

In popular terms, therefore, one can say that one hour of midday sun per week during midsummer in Northern Europe would give a calcidiol level within the range 70 to 150 nmol/l. This corresponds to food supplements of 100-200 µg per day, or 50-100g cod liver oil. Old, dark-skinned or obese people need more of either sun or vitamin D supplements.

Sun-beds are extremely efficient vitamin D3 producers if used with care. Even UVA sun-beds emit enough UVB to produce substantial amounts of vitamin D [49,50].

Practically all sun lotions with sun-protecting factors reduce vitamin D3 photosynthesis. The reduction factor is almost as large as the factor of erythema protection, since the action spectra of erythema and that of vitamin D3 production are quite similar. Experimental data agree with this conclusion [51].

What about cancer and other diseases?

A number of cell and animal experiments, as well as epidemiological studies, have shown that vitamin D protects against many cancer forms or, at least, improves their prognosis. North-South gradients have been demonstrated for prostate, breast and colon cancer [52-56]. There is a correlation between high risk of prostate cancer and low sun exposure early in life [57]. Persons who were frequently sunburned as children had lower than average risks of getting lymphomas later in life [58]. Even in the case of cutaneous malignant melanoma, for which sun-burning is an accepted risk factor, the prognosis seems to be best for those with signs of high sun exposure in the skin surrounding the melanomas [59]. We have found a seasonal variation in the prognosis of all the above-mentioned cancer forms (see Figure 3) [19-21], and propose a role for calcidiol, which varies with season (upper panel, Figure 3), rather than for calcitriol, which is constant throughout the year (middle panel).

Figure 3



Figure 4



Where are we on the scale?

Seasonal variation of calcidiol in human serum in two age groups (upper panel). Seasonal variation of serum calcitriol in the same age groups (middle panel). Relative risk of death within three years after diagnosis of four cancer forms (lower panel) at various times of year [19-21]. Positive and negative health effects of exposure to ultraviolet radiation. The scale of the exposure axis will be different for different persons.

Rickets, osteoporosis and osteomalacia are clearly related to a low vitamin D level. In addition, recent investigations have shown that sun exposure has a number of beneficial health effects, probably via its vitamin D-producing property (see Figure 4). Sun exposure can reduce high blood pressure and the incidence rates of cardiovascular diseases [60,61]. It can improve the symptoms of patients with multiple sclerosis [62,63]. It can lead to a reduction in the incidence rates of diabetes [64], and it can relieve the symptoms of arthrosclerosis [65].

Several of the mentioned diseases are of an autoimmune nature, and the well-documented immuno-modulating effects of vitamin D may be involved.

Conclusion

Sun exposure is our best source of vitamin D. Non-erythemogenic exposures, both to sun and sun-beds, give substantial vitamin D production in the skin. An adequate level of this vitamin is associated with large health benefits, relieving symptoms and reducing the incidence rates of many diseases, as well as of internal cancers. Our restrictive attitude to sun and sun-beds should be re-evaluated. Over-exposure should be avoided, both because of skin cancer induction and because of photodegradation of previtamin D3 and vitamin D3 caused by erythemogenic exposures.

References

- 1. Loomis, W. F., Skin-pigment regulation of vitamin-D biosynthesis in man. Science 1967; 157(788): 501-506.
- 2. Ivanhoe, F., Was Virchow right about Neanderthals? Nature 1970; 227(5,258): 577-579.
- 3. Holick, M. F., Vitamin D: photobiology, metabolism and clinical application. In: The liver: biology and photobiology (eds. Arias, I. M., Boyer, J. L., Fausto, N., Jakoby, W. B., Schachter, D., Shafritz, D. A.). Raven Press, New York 1994: 543-562.
- 4. Sniadecki, J., *Jerdrzej Sniadecki (1768-1838) on the cure of rickets (1840).* Cited in Mozolowski, W., Nature 1939; **143**: 121-124.
- 5. Huldschinsky, K., *Heilung von Rachitis durch kunstliche Honensonne.* Dtsc Med Wochenschr 1919; **45**: 712-713.
- 6. Mellanby, E., An experimental investigation on rickets. Lancet 1919; 1: 407-412.
- 7. Welch, T. R., Bergstrom, W. H. and Tsang, R. C., Vitamin D-deficient rickets: the reemergence of a onceconquered disease. J Pediatr 2000; **137**(2): 143-145.
- 8. Holick, M. F., MacLaughlin, J. A., Clark, M. B., Holick, S. A., Potts, J. T., Jr., Anderson, R. R. *et al.*, *Photosynthesis of previtamin D*₃ *in human skin and the physiologic consequences.* Science 1980; **210**(4,466): 203-205.
- MacLaughlin, J., Holick, M. F., Aging decreases the capacity of human skin to produce vitamin D₃. J Clin Invest 1985; 76(4): 1,536-1,538.
- **10.** Holick, M. F., MacLaughlin, J. A. and Doppelt, S. H., *Regulation of cutaneous previtamin D*₃ photosynthesis in man: skin pigment is not an essential regulator. Science 1981; **211**(4482): 590-593.
- **11.** Tangpricha, V., Turner, A., Spina, C., Decastro, S., Chen, T. C. and Holick, M. F., *Tanning is associated with optimal vitamin D status (serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentration) and higher bone mineral density.* Am J Clin Nutr 2004; **80**(6): 1,645-1,649.
- 12. MacLaughlin, J. A., Anderson, R.R. and Holick, M. F., Spectral character of sunlight modulates photosynthesis of previtamin D₃ and its photoisomers in human skin. Science 1982; **216**(4549): 1,001-1,003.
- Webb, A. R., DeCosta, B. R. and Holick, M. F., Sunlight regulates the cutaneous production of vitamin D₃ by causing its photodegradation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1989; 68(5): 882-887.
- 14. Cooke, N. E. and David, E. V., Serum vitamin D-binding protein is a third member of the albumin and alpha fetoprotein gene family. J Clin Invest 1985; **76**(6): 2,420-2,424.
- **15.** Reichel, H., Koeffler, H. P. and Norman, A. W., *The role of the vitamin D endocrine system in health and disease.* N Engl J Med 1989; **320**(15): 980-991.
- 16. Zehnder, D., Bland, R., Williams, M. C., McNinch, R. W., Howie, A. J., Stewart, P. M. *et al.*, *Extrarenal expression of 25-hydroxyvitamin d(3)-1 alpha-hydroxylase.* J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2001; **86**(2): 888-894.
- 17. Mehta, R. G. and Mehta, R. R., Vitamin D and cancer. J Nutr Biochem 2002; 13(5): 252-264.
- **18.** Zittermann, A., *Vitamin D in preventive medicine: are we ignoring the evidence?* Br J Nutr 2003; **89**(5): 552-572.
- 19. Moan, J., Porojnicu, A. C., Robsahm, T. E., Dahlback, A., Juzeniene, A., Seinar, T. *et al., Solar radiation, vitamin D and survival rate of colon cancer in Norway.* J Photochem and Photobiol 2004; 1: **78**(3): 189-93.
- 20. Porojnicu, A. C., Robsahm, T. E., Hansen Ree, A. and Moan, J., Season of diagnosis is a prognostic factor in Hodgkin's lymphoma. A possible role of sun-induced vitamin D. Br J Cancer 2005; **93**: 571-574.
- Robsahm, T. E., Tretli, S., Dahlback, A. and Moan, J., Vitamin D₃ from sunlight may improve the prognosis of breast-, colon- and prostate cancer (Norway). Cancer Causes Control 2004; 15(2): 149-158.
- Colodro, I. H., Brickman, A. S., Coburn, J. W., Osborn, T. W. and Norman, A. W., Effect of 25-hydroxy-vitamin D₃ on intestinal absorption of calcium in normal man and patients with renal failure. Metabolism 1978; 27(6): 745-753.
- 23. Trummel, C. L., Raisz, L. G., Blunt, J. W. and DeLuca, H. F., 25-Hydroxycholecalciferol: stimulation of bone resorption in tissue culture. Science 1969; 163(874): 1,450-1,451.
- 24. Reasner, C. A., Dunn, J. F., Fetchick, D. A., Liel, Y., Hollis, B. W., Epstein, S. *et al.*, *Alteration of vitamin D metabolism in Mexican-Americans.* J Bone Miner Res 1990; **5**(1): 13-17.
- **25.** Francis, R. M., Peacock, M., Storer, J. H., Davies, A. E., Brown, W. B. and Nordin, B. E., *Calcium malabsorption in the elderly: the effect of treatment with oral 25-hydroxyvitamin D*₃. Eur J Clin Invest 1983; **13**(5): 391-396.
- **26.** Bell, N. H., Epstein, S., Shary, J., Greene, V., Oexmann, M. J. and Shaw, S., *Evidence of a probable role for 25hydroxyvitamin D in the regulation of human calcium metabolism.* J Bone Miner Res 1988; **3**(5): 489-495.
- 27. Barger-Lux, M. J., Heaney, R. P., Lanspa, S. J., Healy, J. C. and DeLuca, H. F., *An investigation of sources of variation in calcium absorption efficiency*. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1995; **80**(2): 406-411.

- 28. Dawson-Hughes, B., Heaney, R. P., Holick, M. F., Lips, P., Meunier, P. J. and Vieth, R., *Estimates of optimal vitamin D status*. Osteoporos Int 2005; **16**(7): 713-716.
- **29.** Bhattoa, H. P., Bettembuk, P., Ganacharya, S. and Balogh, A., *Prevalence and seasonal variation of hypovitaminosis D and its relationship to bone metabolism in community dwelling postmenopausal Hungarian women.* Osteoporos Int 2004; **15**(6): 447-451.
- **30.** Bouillon, R. A., Auwerx, J. H., Lissens, W. D. and Pelemans, W. K., *Vitamin D status in the elderly: seasonal substrate deficiency causes 1,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol deficiency.* Am J Clin Nutr 1987; **45**(4): 755-763.
- 31. Brot, C., Vestergaard, P., Kolthoff, N., Gram, J., Hermann, A. P. and Sorensen, O. H., Vitamin D status and its adequacy in healthy Danish perimenopausal women: relationships to dietary intake, sun exposure and serum parathyroid hormone. Br J Nutr 2001; **86**(Suppl 1): S97-103.
- Brustad, M., Alsaker, E., Engelsen, O., Aksnes, L. and Lund, E., Vitamin D status of middle-aged women at 65-71 degrees N in relation to dietary intake and exposure to ultraviolet radiation. Public Health Nutr 2004; 7(2): 327-335.
- Finch, P. J., Ang, L., Colston, K. W., Nisbet, J. and Maxwell, J. D., Blunted seasonal variation in serum 25hydroxy vitamin D and increased risk of osteomalacia in vegetarian London Asians. Eur J Clin Nutr 1992; 46(7): 509-515.
- Hine, T. J. and Roberts, N. B., Seasonal variation in serum 25-hydroxy vitamin D₃ does not affect 1,25dihydroxy vitamin D. Ann Clin Biochem 1994; 31(Pt 1): 31-34.
- **35.** Mowe, M., Bohmer, T. and Haug, E., *Vitamin D deficiency among hospitalized and home-bound elderly.* Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen 1998; 20; **118**(25): 3,929-3,931.
- **36.** Sem, S. W., Sjoen, R. J., Trygg, K. and Pedersen, J. I., *Vitamin D status of two groups of elderly in Oslo: living in old people's homes and living in own homes.* Compr Gerontol [A] 1987; **1**(3): 126-130.
- 37. Vik, T., Try, K. and Stromme, J. H., *The vitamin D status of man at 70 degrees north.* Scand J Clin Lab Invest 1980; **40**(3): 227-232.
- Shinki, T., Shiina, Y., Takahashi, N., Tanioka, Y., Koizumi, H. and Suda, T., *Extremely high circulating levels of 1 alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ in the marmoset, a new world monkey.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1983; 114(2): 452-457.
- **39.** Zittermann, A., Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D response to oral vitamin D intake in children. Am J Clin Nutr 2003; **78**(3): 496-497.
- **40.** Heaney, R. P., Davies, K. M., Chen, T. C., Holick, M. F. and Barger-Lux, M. J., *Human serum* 25*hydroxycholecalciferol response to extended oral dosing with cholecalciferol.* Am J Clin Nutr 2003; **77**(1): 204-210.
- **41.** Dawson-Hughes, B., *Racial/ethnic considerations in making recommendations for vitamin D for adult and elderly men and women.* Am J Clin Nutr 2004; **80**(Suppl 6): S1,763-1,766.
- **42.** Chel, V. G., Ooms, M. E., Popp-Snijders, C., Pavel, S., Schothorst, A. A., Meulemans, C. C. *et al.*, *Ultraviolet irradiation corrects vitamin D deficiency and suppresses secondary hyperparathyroidism in the elderly*. J Bone Miner Res 1998; **13**(8): 1,238-1,242.
- **43.** Barger-Lux, M. J., Heaney, R. P., Dowell, S., Chen, T. C. and Holick, M. F., *Vitamin D and its major metabolites:* serum levels after graded oral dosing in healthy men. Osteoporos Int 1998; **8**(3): 222-230.
- **44.** Bell, N. H., Epstein, S., Greene, A., Shary, J., Oexmann, M. J. and Shaw, S., *Evidence for alteration of the vitamin D-endocrine system in obese subjects.* J Clin Invest 1985; **76**(1): 370-373.
- **45.** Chuck, A., Todd, J. and Diffey, B., Subliminal ultraviolet-B irradiation for the prevention of vitamin D deficiency in the elderly: a feasibility study. Photodermatol Photoimmunol Photomed 2001; **17**(4): 168-171.
- **46.** Diffey, B. L., *Human exposure to ultraviolet radiation. In: Photodermatology* (ed. Hawk, J. L. M.). Arnold, London 1999: 5-24.
- Prystowsky, J. H., Muzio, P. J., Sevran, S. and Clemens, T. L., Effect of UVB phototherapy and oral calcitriol (1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃) on vitamin D photosynthesis in patients with psoriasis. J Am Acad Dermatol 1996;
 35(5 Pt 1): 690-695.
- **48.** Holick, M. F., Tian, X. Q. and Allen, M., Evolutionary importance for the membrane enhancement of the production of vitamin D₃ in the skin of poikilothermic animals. Proc Natl Acad Sci US A 1995; **92**(8): 3,124-3,126.
- **49.** Adams, J. S., Clemens, T. L., Parrish, J. A. and Holick, M. F., *Vitamin-D synthesis and metabolism after ultraviolet irradiation of normal and vitamin D-deficient subjects.* N Engl J Med 1982; **306**(12): 722-725.
- 50. Moan, J. and Johnsen, B., What kind of radiation is efficient in solaria, UVA or UVB? J Photochem Photobiol

B 1994; **22**(1): 77-79.

- Matsuoka, L. Y., Ide, L., Wortsman, J., MacLaughlin, J. A. and Holick, M. F., Sunscreens suppress cutaneous vitamin D₃ synthesis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1987; 64(6): 1,165-1,168.
- **52.** Freedman, D. M., Dosemeci, M. and McGlynn, K., Sunlight and mortality from breast, ovarian, colon, prostate, and non-melanoma skin cancer: a composite death certificate-based case-control study. Occup Environ Med 2002; **59**(4): 257-262.
- 53. Garland, C. F., Comstock, G. W., Garland, F. C., Helsing, K. J., Shaw, E. K. and Gorham, E. D., Serum 25hydroxyvitamin D and colon cancer: eight-year prospective study. Lancet 1989; 2(8673): 1,176-1,178.
- 54. Gorham, E. D., Garland, F. C. and Garland, C. F., *Sunlight and breast cancer incidence in the USSR*. Int J Epidemiol 1990; 19(4): 820-824.
- **55.** Grant, W. B., Geographic variation of prostate cancer mortality rates in the United States: Implications for prostate cancer risk related to vitamin D. Int J Cancer 2004; **111**(3): 470-471.
- 56. Hanchette, C. L. and Schwartz, G. G., *Geographic patterns of prostate cancer mortality. Evidence for a protective effect of ultraviolet radiation.* Cancer 1992; **70**(12): 2,861-2,869.
- 57. John, E. M., Schwartz, G. G., Koo, J., Van Den, B. D. and Ingles, S. A., *Sun exposure, vitamin D receptor gene polymorphisms, and risk of advanced prostate cancer.* Cancer Res 2005; **65**(12): 5,470-5,479.
- 58. Smedby, K. E., Hjalgrim, H., Melbye, M., Torrang, A., Rostgaard, K., Munksgaard, L. *et al.*, *Ultraviolet radiation exposure and risk of malignant lymphomas.* J Natl Cancer Inst 2005; 97(3): 199-209.
- 59. Berwick, M., Armstrong, B. K., Ben Porat, L., Fine, J., Kricker, A., Eberle, C. *et al., Sun exposure and mortality from melanoma.* J Natl Cancer Inst 2005; **97**(3): 195-199.
- **60.** Krause, R., Buhring, M., Hopfenmuller, W., Holick, M. F. and Sharma, A. M., *Ultraviolet B and blood pressure*. Lancet 1998; **352**(9,129): 709-710.
- **61.** Rostand, S. G., Ultraviolet light may contribute to geographic and racial blood pressure differences. Hypertension 1997; **30**(2 Pt 1): 150-156.
- 62. Hernan, M. A., Olek, M. J. and Ascherio, A., *Geographic variation of MS incidence in two prospective studies of US women.* Neurology 1999; **53**(8): 1,711-1,718.
- **63.** McLeod, J. G., Hammond, S. R. and Hallpike, J. F., *Epidemiology of multiple sclerosis in Australia. With NSW and SA survey results.* Med J Aust 1994; **160**(3): 117-122.
- **64.** Karvonen, M., Jantti, V., Muntoni, S., Stabilini, M., Stabilini, L., Muntoni, S. *et al.*, *Comparison of the seasonal pattern in the clinical onset of IDDM in Finland and Sardinia*. Diabetes Care 1998; 21(7): 1,101-1,109.
- **65.** Cantorna, M. T., Vitamin D and autoimmunity: is vitamin D status an environmental factor affecting autoimmune disease prevalence? Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 2000; **223**(3): 230-233.

Disclosure: The present work was supported by the Sigval and Nancy Bergesens Foundation. Calcidiol and calcitriol levels were measured by JP Berg, Aker Hospital, Oslo, Norway.

* Corresponding author. Professor Moan can be contacted at the Department for Radiation Biology, Institute for Cancer Research, The Norwegian Radiumhospital, Montebello, 0310 Oslo, Norway. Tel: +47 2293 4268, fax: +47 2293 4270.

Insufficient sunshine as a cause of multiple sclerosis: evidence for the correlation

Professor George Ebers, University Department of Clinical Neurology, Radcliffe Infirmary, Oxford, UK

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is the commonest chronic neurological disease of young adults, and here in the UK there is a prevalence of about one in 750. In Scotland it's quite a bit higher than that, probably at least one in 500, maybe even one in 400. Sociologists say the average circle of acquaintances and friends that people have is about 2,000 and that gives you some idea of how common the disease is, because most of you are likely to know one or two people who have MS. It's a cruel disease. After 15 years about 50 per cent of MS patients are unable to walk unassisted, and after 25 years at least half will be in a wheelchair, or worse. It's familial about 20 per cent of the time.

There are enormous economic, social and medical costs. In the UK, there are about 750 new cases a year. That works out to about two a day, and the lifetime cost in each case is about £1.5 million. Very crudely, £3 million a day in terms of financial commitment accrues just for new cases and that's not counting the approximately 70,000 existing cases in the UK. So it's an enormous financial burden. I won't discuss the social costs, but they are best understood by those who've had a parent with it. This is a burden for many, many children.

Now, the information in Figure 1 has been known for a long time, although this is a relatively new slide. This is the geography of Australia, and I'm showing Australia for a particular reason. The Figure shows the distribution of MS in this sub-continent, by tracking the distribution of interferon prescriptions. It ties in extremely well with data obtained in other ways. So, in Tasmania there are 136 cases per 100,000, up in the northern territories there are about 20, and Queensland's rate is about 47. So there's a very big 5- or 6-fold difference in rate, going from the south to the subtropical north. (The MS gradient in the southern hemisphere goes from south to north, and in the northern hemisphere from north to south.)

The limitation in looking at data from Australia is that really you are not looking at a gradient per se, you are looking at the huge dominance of urban centres in a sub-continent which is largely devoid of people in the centre (the dots represent population numbers). So this is not the best way of examining potential gradients. But the differences are very, very large and they are very influential. The fact that people are diagnosed and put on the slide based upon where they happen to live isn't necessarily what you want if the risk is determined early in life. What you really want is where people are born or perhaps where they spent their childhood, and those are data which are rather difficult to get.



Figure 1 POPULATION DISTRIBUTION, AUSTRALIA (a) & ESTIMATED MS PREVALENCE BY STATE (b) (estimated MS population 13,000)

What you'd really like to have is a situation in which people don't move from where they are born and they are distributed in a way that is homogenous. Rather than them being in urban centres, you'd like to have a situation in which individuals are distributed in an even, homogenous way in the country. It's not something that springs to mind easily, but there is a place where you can actually get the ideal sort of circumstance for the geography of this disease.

It turns out, most improbably, it comes from France. In France, there are two different healthcare systems. One healthcare system is for the general population and there is a separate healthcare system for farmers and their families. What's ideal for our purposes about farmers? They don't move, they are evenly distributed throughout the country, and they are not urban dwellers. Looking at MS prevalence per 100,000 inhabitants in France, you get about a 2-fold drop as you go south, from 103 up in the north-eastern part of France down to 45 per 100,000 in Corsica. So it's very clear-cut, and based on reasonably good numbers. It shows a very clear pattern which is the inverse of Australia (see Figure 1) but climatologically coherent. There's a little bit of an anomaly along the coast. The coastal dwellers in France actually have a lower rate of MS than would be expected based on latitude. It is possible that this may have something to do with eating fish.

The work on this is being carried out by my colleague Christian Confavreux in Lyons. Interestingly, George Chaplin and I have been able to correlate some rather high-tech information to it, drawing on NASA data for France relayed by the Toms satellite, which has been orbiting the earth eight times a day for over 30 years. It calculates the ultraviolet radiation virtually anywhere in the world, through a variety of paradigms that have been validated over a number of years. Its picture of the UV MED, or minimal erythematous dose (the dose of UV causing minimal pinkness of skin) is similar to the map of MS prevalence in France which the Lyons group has put together.

A number of years ago I initiated a network of clinics in Canada which essentially spans the country. There are 16 university centre sites where MS patients are looked after, and over a period of about 20 years we were able to put together a population which is now in excess of 25,000 MS patients. This allowed us to ask some questions that can only be answered by very large numbers.

The first thing we did was studies of twins. It took us about 20 years to collect 450 pairs, which is pretty much the number of twins you would expect to be found, based on the prevalence rate in Canada. We found that if you are an identical twin, your risk of MS is 30% if your twin has it, whereas if you are a fraternal or non-identical twin, which is for genetic purposes the same as having a non-twin brother or sister, then the rate is 4% – a big difference between identical twins and fraternal twins.

Because the rate for fraternal twins wasn't much different from the rate for just brothers and sisters who are not twins, this indicated that the increased familial environment that you would have in fraternal twins – by being the same age, and sharing the same maternal environment and many other things more than would ordinarily be shared by brothers and sisters – didn't seem to have any impact on risk. That was the first indication that the prevailing notion at the time, that MS had something to do with some sort of viral infection, probably wasn't going to be right.

The next thing we did was a study in people who were adopted at birth, and it took 20,000 MS cases to do this study because adoptions are relatively uncommon. In Canada 1.2% of the population is adopted and most of those are adopted around the time of birth. We knew that the rate for a biological brother and sister was 40 times greater than the general population rate of one in 1,000. Of course that could be genes, or it could be environment. So we decided to look at the rate of MS in those individuals who grew up with a non-biological relative destined to get MS, compared to a biological relative; for example, the unrelated adoptive brothers and sisters of someone destined to get MS.

The answer was black and white. The rate for the non-biological relative in the same environment was one in 1,200, which is the same as the general population rate of one in 1,000, whereas you would have expected 25 cases to have occurred based on the biological risk among sufferers' actual brothers and sisters. It was clear-cut that the risk within a family was not determined by the common familial environment. So familial risk is genetic and we could not show any effect of shared familial environment on risk.

The next studies were done in half-sibs, the first systematic half-sib studies in any disease. We didn't expect that we would get as much out of them as we did. These studies are very well-utilised in animal husbandry and if any of you have an agricultural background you will know a lot about half-sib studies because that's what people in agriculture do. They have a sire or a dam that will have offspring with one common parent, but not two. A lot of the original studies that bear very strongly on gene/environment effects actually come from agriculture.

We had the opportunity of collecting these, and we had a bit of an advantage sociologically, stemming from the rising divorce rate. Because the divorce rate has risen so rapidly over the last generation or two, there are a lot of half-sibs, so it's actually a much more common situation now. In a family where you've got one parent in common

but not two, you can ask some interesting questions.

Conveniently, it turns out that among half-sibs, roughly half are raised together and about half are raised apart. That's helpful because it's kind of like the twin study approach where you get identical twins separated at birth, reared apart and then try and see what happens to them. Of course, you can't do that study in MS or any other particular disease because there just aren't enough people on the planet in that position, it's a rare event. And they would have to be separated, not only just apart but apart by risk and, of course, that almost never happens. So in fact the half-sib study is what you really want. It's much more powerful than a twin study and once you realise the potential of this then you have increasing admiration for our agricultural colleagues who twigged to the power of this methodology a long time ago.

In half-sibs it turns out their risk is about half that of full sibs, and that's important. The reason is that it tells you something about the complexity of inheritance. What it says is that if the risk only drops by half that means the complexity genetically can't be very great, and that's contrary to what everyone has been thinking. So now you can ask, what's the rate for those raised together and those raised apart, and you can also ask, if one parent is in common but not two, does it matter which parent it is? Does it matter if it's the father in common or if it's mother in common? And it turns out it matters a lot and the raised together/raised apart issue also turns out to be very important.

Figure 2 (below) is a graph showing the rate of MS per 1,000 in Canada, looking at a variety of different populations. It includes the general population of one in 1,000; the adopted relatives, one in 1,000; the rate for step-sibs of MS patients, which is one in 1,000, and the conjugal one, looking at the rate for husbands and wives of MS patients, and that's one in 1,000. So we can demonstrate no effect of shared common familial environment all the way from birth right through to marriage. What happens in the half-sibs that are raised apart compared to the halfsibs that are raised together? We found that the ones who were raised apart have a slightly higher rate than those who were raised together. So there is no effect of the common familial environment.

Figure 2



Half-sibs raised together and apart, as shown in Figure 2, are a kind of anchor point for Figure 3, because now we are seeing an almost 400-fold difference in risk. The half-sibs raised together (1/2 sib r.t.) bar at the right end of Figure 2 is now to the left in Figure 3. The incidence in monozygotic female twins concordant for MS is 380 per 1,000 twins (right hand side of Figure 3) which is almost 400 times the general population incidence of one in 1,000. The incidence in concordant monozygotic female twins is about seven times that in concordant dizygotic female twins, but the incidence of MS in sibs is only twice that in half-sibs. From the point of view of genetics these two ratios might be expected to be the same. This provides an important clue about the nature of susceptibility to MS. Unlikely as it may seem, susceptibility to MS appears to have gender specificity.

The familial microenvironment can't be demonstrated to contribute anything to risk, yet there is a huge

Figure 3



environmental effect reflected in an unambiguous latitude gradient in every country that's been studied. Basically, this leaves climate or diet or even the consequences of that to explain the influence of environment in MS. And actually, diet is not very attractive because in fact it's largely familial unless there are differences in regional diets, which does happen in some countries. People in a family tend to eat the same things, so you would have expected to see some impact of that common familial diet. But we can't see anything.

So it leaves us with climate, the direct or indirect consequences of climate, and that's a broad area.



Season of birth in MS patients



Ratios of Canadian MS births compared to controls (inverse is seen for unaffected sibs and for S.Hemisphere patients)

Nevertheless, the notion that something within the familial environment triggers the risk can't be supported. We looked at it another way and asked about the genetics. If parents who are first cousins have a child with MS, the risk to subsequent children is increased by 100-fold, showing the impact of the shared genetics on risk.

One of the difficulties with trying to establish what actually determines MS risk has been the heavy reliance on data from migrants. For various reasons, migrants are often selected for studying the timing of differential geographic risk, but there tend to be relatively few of them. It's been possible in Canada to do a study which we would describe as an intra-familial migration study. This came up because one of my patients was an oil engineer from Edmonton who spent three years in Bahrain, and he had two children there, and four more in Edmonton. Knowing that one of them got MS, which was the one? We're in the process of finalising these data, but in the interests of passing on some knowledge, I can tell you that the results support the view that risk is determined within a family by where the individual was born. There's a clear difference between offspring born in areas of high risk or low risk.

One of my students was interested in examining season of birth in MS, and came up with the results in Figure 4, which shows the season of birth in MS patients in Canada. The last time something like this was seen, it turned out to be a very strong hint as to the cause of neural tube defects. A long time ago, in the 1950s, it was recognised that the timing of birth influenced the risk of neural tube defects, and it took another 35 years before anybody figured out what it meant. Hopefully, on this occasion, it won't take that long. But there is a season of birth effect in MS which is pretty clear. In Canada and the northern European countries, risk is increased by about 10 per cent by being born in May, and it's decreased by 10 per cent by being born in November, and if you go to the southern hemisphere, in Argentina or Australia, you see the reverse. In the unaffected sibs of these southern hemisphere individuals, you see the reverse; that is, there are more May births and fewer November births. I told my students I was not about to get up in front of an audience and say that being a Taurus would increase your risk of disease, and made them replicate this data in four other countries.

The environmental factor in MS acts at a population level and determines the risk differential between Tasmania and northern Queensland, which is 5- or 6-fold (see Figure 1). If we could convert the rate in Tasmania to the rate in Queensland, we could prevent 80% of the cases of MS there. The evidence is all circumstantial at this point. It doesn't have to be vitamin D, it could be something else related to sunlight. There are a variety of potential considerations. Vitamin D has to be entertained as a possibility.

The first trials to test whether the primary prevention of MS is related to the sun and/or vitamin D are now at the planning stage. This is probably going to happen in a couple of places. One is in Canada, where a prevention study is being geared up, the other is in Australia.

When we examined the sex ratio for incidence of MS in Canada by year of birth, going back to 1920, we found that the rate of MS in Canada appears to have been steadily increasing for the last 50 years, and I think the same is true of the UK, although there isn't much data. Everybody has been doubtful of this, including myself, because there have been changes in diagnostic methodology, and a variety of other factors confound the evidence.

Most of the increase in incidence of MS during the 20th century is due to an increase in the number of women who have contracted the disease. Contemporary reports from 1920 suggest that equal numbers of men and women developed MS at that time, although our retrospective determination of the sex ratio in 1920 puts this slightly higher. In fact we believe that the sex ratio has moved from around equity in 1920 to about 3.5 to 1 in 1975-79. More than three women develop the disease today for every man who does so. The reason for this is not yet clear but there must be a powerful environmental factor driving this difference forward. Again this suggests that understanding why women are so vulnerable to the disease will yield important information about the cause.

Just to summarise what I've said. MS is a very important disease. It's hugely important economically and socially. It looks like it may be increasing in rate. The risk is partly determined by genes and environment. The environmental part is certainly something that acts at a broad population level. Vitamin D is a good candidate, but not the only candidate. I think some additional work needs to be done. But it's very hard to get direct evidence to implicate vitamin D especially if this is operative decades before onset of the disease. If anyone can think of a way of getting direct evidence – we're going to require information on something that might have happened 25 or 30 years ago, which is notoriously difficult and believe me, we've tried – then let me know.

The author can be contacted at the University Department of Clinical Neurology, Radcliffe Infirmary, Woodstock Road, Oxford OX2 6HE, UK. Tel: + 44 1865 228 568, e-mail: george.ebers@clneuro.ox.ac.uk.

Bibiliography

1. Lincoln, M.R, Montpetit, A., Cader, M.Z., Saarela, J, Dyment, D.A., Tiislar, M., Ferretti, V., Risch, N.J., Peltonen, L., Ebers, G.C., Hudson, T.J., *A predominant role for the HLA class II region in the association of the MHC region with multiple sclerosis.* Nature Genetics 2005; **37**: 1,108-1,112.

2. Dyment, D.A., Herrera, B.M., Cader, M.Z., Willer, C.J., Lincoln, K.R., Sadovnick, A.D., Risch, N., Ebers, G.C., *Complex interactions among MHC haplotypes in multiple sclerosis: susceptibility and resistance*. Hum Mol Genet 2005; **14(14)**: 2,019-2,026.

3. Willer, C.J., Dyment, D.A., Sadovnick, A.D., Rothwell, P.M., Murray, T.J., Ebers, G.C. (For the Canadian Collaborative Study Group.) *Timing of birth and risk of multiple sclerosis: population based study*. BMJ 2005; **330**(7,483): 120.

4. Willer, C.J., Dyment, D.A., Risch, N.J., Sadovnick, A.D., Ebers, G.C., *Twin concordance and sibling recurrence rates in multiple sclerosis*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 2003; **100** (22): 12,877-12,882.

How much vitamin D is enough for optimum health?

Reinhold Vieth, Department of Nutritional Sciences and Department of Laboratory Medicine and Pathobiology, University of Toronto, and Director, Bone and Mineral Laboratory, Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, Mount Sinai Hospital, Toronto, Ontario, Canada

In 1950, one of the most famous scientists in England, Sir Richard Doll, essentially proved that smoking shortens your life expectancy [1,2]. Not too long ago, he wrote: 'In retrospect, it can be seen in medical evidence that the harm done by smoking has been accumulating for 200 years, and it took until 1950 to appreciate that and do something about it [3].' I put it to you that the vitamin D story is probably very much like that. If you are a smoker and you stop smoking, you reduce your all-cancer mortality risk by 30%. Based on other presentations offered here, if you are British, and if you were to take substantially higher doses of vitamin D supplement, you might be lowering your odds of dying of cancer to a similar degree. However, without a prescription in the UK, you are not permitted to consume enough vitamin D to make a meaningful difference to your health.

In one of his last publications, Richard Doll reported on the use of vitamin D in older adults [4]. The researchers invited older British adults into a study involving three pills a year. Participants were randomised either to 100,000 IUs of vitamin D, or a placebo. The dose was equivalent to 821 IUs a day of vitamin D. Participants in the vitamin D group reported one-third fewer first hip, wrist, forearm or vertebral fractures than participants in the control group. If that kind of effect were for a commercial product, it would be on every newspaper page as an advertisement.

Data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey in the United States (NHANES) show that average bone density increases with average serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentration; that is, serum 25(OH)D, the measure of vitamin D nutrition, that comes from UV exposure of skin, or from diet or supplements. Based on the NHANES population data for bone density, one should wish to have a serum 25(OH)D concentration that is higher than 100 nmol/l [5].

Anyone in the UK wishing to take the preceding research to heart, and opting to take available supplements, would fail to affect bone, because the resulting increase in serum 25(OH)D would be negligible. With the highest permitted non-prescription dose of vitamin D in the UK, serum 25(OH)D will increase by about 10 nmol/l, from a typical UK value of 40 nmol/l, up to 50 nmol/l [6]. The amounts of the vitamin D available over the counter in the UK are of negligible benefit to adults, and all scientists knowledgeable about vitamin D know this.

The benefit of vitamin D, shown at the highest level in the hierarchy of evidence, is the prevention of fractures. Prospective, randomised, placebo-controlled trials have shown repeatedly that vitamin D prevents fractures – if consumed in adequate amounts. Bischoff-Ferrari *et al* published a meta-analysis in the Journal of the American Medical Association, in which they combined the clinical trial data available up to the year 2005 (see Figure) [7] The research studies that addressed the primary prevention of fractures produced a persuasive picture; that if vitamin D supplementation increases the serum 25(OH)D concentration to a value higher than 72 nmol/l, there is a statistical reduction in the risk of fracture.

The more recent British RECORD study [8] garnered much interest, with some newspaper headlines saying, 'Calcium and vitamin D are useless'. There were several problems with the study. First, the RECORD study was a secondary prevention study; that is, it focused on subjects who had already suffered fractures, thus it was a therapeutic intervention. The other studies summarised in Figure 1 are primary prevention; that is, they deal with nutrition for healthy people. For them, the data consistently show that vitamin D lowers risk of fracture.

Furthermore, there was a high drop-out rate in the RECORD study, with 30% of participants leaving the study, yet the statistical analysis was of a style referred to as 'intention to treat'. This means that despite their withdrawal from the study, subjects were still counted as if they had remained in the study. (If people did not take part in a trial, and nothing happened, the conclusion that vitamin D does nothing is a very weak one.) In addition, even participants who did complete the RECORD study were evidently not compliant, and they did not consume all their doses. The serum 25(OH)D concentrations reported for treated subjects in the RECORD study were equal to the serum 25(OH)D concentrations of subjects in other vitamin D trials who had taken only 400 IUs a day.

By incorporating the data from the RECORD study into the graph summarising data from the primary preven-

tion studies, it comes as no surprise that the RECORD study concluded that the vitamin D was ineffective – the serum 25(OH)D levels were not high enough, there were too many drop-outs to be convincing, and its subjects already had osteoporotic fractures. Participants in the RECORD study should have received more aggressive treatment.



Effect of vitamin D dose and serum 25(OH)D concentration on relative risk of fractures in adults



This figure is redrawn from the meta-analysis of primary prevention studies by Bischoff-Ferrari et al, where citations are given for the complete group of studies [7]. Updated in this figure are data from a secondary prevention study, the RECORD Study, published more recently [8]. Symbols indicate the dose used, and the RECORD study is shown with the open boxes. The horizontal line indicates the ratio of risk expected if there is no difference between the groups. The dashed lines are regressions through the data weighted for sample size, and they show that fracture risk decreases as serum 25(OH)D increases.

A recent consensus conference in Lausanne addressed the question, what serum 25(OH)D concentration is the minimum desired for fracture prevention? The consensus recommendation was that we should be wanting 25(OH)D concentrations to be higher than 75 nmol/l [9]. The question addressed was, how much would the average person have to take in order to have a 25(OH)D concentration at that target? The consensus recommendation was to consume 800 to 1,000 IUs a day (20-25 μ g a day) of vitamin D.

In the UK, the public cannot purchase these doses of vitamin D without a prescription. Current British guidelines for vitamin D nutrition declare that adults under 50 years of age do not need any vitamin D supplementation [10]. Only breast-feeding mothers, expectant mothers and the elderly are advised to take 400 IUs a day, and any more than this is by prescription-only in the UK. The official safety recommendation for vitamin D in the UK exists only as a draft document, three years after its publication and the disbandment of the Expert Group on Vitamins and Minerals (EVM) that wrote it.

The seemingly innocent statement, 'For guidance purposes only, a level of 25 micrograms per day (1,000 IUs a day) supplementary vitamin D would not be expected to cause adverse effects in the general population' is, in reality, a nutritional millstone around the neck of the British public. It is partly because of this statement that the British are prevented easy access to vitamin D supplements in amounts that might compensate for the insufficient amount of vitamin D acquired through sun exposure. Doses of 1,000 IUs per day – or larger – are probably needed if health benefits including prevention of cancer (see the reports of others at this symposium) and fractures

(see Figure) are to be realised.

Osteoporosis fracture prevention and bone density preservation are the best evidence that an optimal level of vitamin D nutrition is a serum 25(OH)D concentration higher than 72 nmol/l. Prevention of osteoporosis fractures requires at least 800 IUs/day of vitamin D ($20\mu g/day$). This is cheap and readily available in North America, but not in the UK.

Now to return back to the issue of public health and Richard Doll. The solution to the problem of smoking was easy to deal with compared to vitamin D. It is easy to tell people not to do something, such as to quit smoking. On the other hand, vitamin D is itself still perceived by many as toxic [11], and this makes the implementation of public health measures that involve doing something, like consuming more vitamin D, all the more difficult. Outdated perceptions, such as those built into official UK documents relating to vitamin D, are like a millstone around the neck of the British public. The outdated guidelines in the UK make it impossible to solve the problem of vitamin D insufficiency through the use of a vitamin supplement.

We do not need the highest standard of evidence for every potential health benefit of vitamin D to establish its value. We only need one – osteoporosis. If you address that benefit by permitting the public access to products that contain more vitamin D, you make it possible for the public to derive benefit for the less well-proven health effects as well.

The practical message for the British is that legislation surrounding vitamin D must change in the UK. The public should be able to purchase vitamin D in a pharmacy without a prescription, in amounts that are at least 800 IUs a day ($20\mu g$ day). This dose has been objectively shown to reduce fractures, and it is a conservative suggestion for an 'optimum' dose of vitamin D for adults. This dose is safe, and it is a fraction of the amount of vitamin D obtained by exposing skin to summer sun.

References:

- 1. Doll, R. and Hill, A. B., Smoking and carcinoma of the lung; preliminary report. BMJ 1950; 2: 739-748.
- 2. Peto, R., Darby, S., Deo, H., Silcocks, P., Whitley, E. and Doll, R., *Smoking, smoking cessation, and lung cancer in the UK since 1950: combination of national statistics with two case-control studies.* BMJ 2000; **321**: 323-329.
- 3. Doll, R., Uncovering the effects of smoking: historical perspective. Stat Methods Med Res 1998; 7: 87-117.
- Trivedi, D. P., Doll, R. and Khaw, K. T., Effect of four-monthly oral vitamin D₃ (cholecalciferol) supplementation on fractures and mortality in men and women living in the community: a randomised double blind controlled trial. BMJ 2003; **326**: 469-475.
- 5. Bischoff-Ferrari, H. A., Dietrich, T., Orav, E. J. and Dawson-Hughes, B., *Positive association between 25-hydroxy vitamin D levels and bone mineral density: a population-based study of younger and older adults.* Am J Med 2004; **116**: 634-639.
- 6. Vieth, R., *The Pharmacology of Vitamin D, Including Fortification Strategies.* In: Vitamin D. (Eds. Feldman, D., Glorieux, F., Pike, J. W.) Elsevier, New York 2005: 995-1,015.
- 7. Bischoff-Ferrari, H. A., Willett, W. C., Wong, J. B., Giovannucci, E., Dietrich, T. and Dawson-Hughes, B., *Fracture prevention with vitamin D supplementation: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials.* JAMA 2005; **293**: 2,257-2,264.
- Grant, A. M., Avenell, A., Campbell, M. K. et al., Oral vitamin D₃ and calcium for secondary prevention of low-trauma fractures in elderly people (Randomised Evaluation of Calcium Or vitamin D, RECORD): a randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2005; 365: 1,621-1,628.
- 9. Dawson-Hughes, B., Heaney, R. P., Holick, M. F., Lips, P., Meunier, P. J. and Vieth, R., *Estimates of optimal vitamin D status*. Osteoporos Int 2005; **16**: 713-716.
- 10. Expert Group on Vitamins and Minerals. *Review of vitamin D.* EVM/00/11. August 2002. Available at *http://www.food.gov.uk/multimedia/pdfs/evm-00-11r.pdf#page=2.* Accessed February 15, 2006.
- 11. Expert Group on Vitamins and Minerals. *Safe Upper Levels for Vitamins and Minerals*. Food Standards Agency, Great Britain, 2003. Available at *http://www.food.gov.uk/multimedia/pdfs/vitmin2003.pdf*. Accessed February 15, 2006.

The author can be contacted at Mount Sinai Hospital, 600 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5G 1X5. Tel: +1 416 586 5920; fax: +1 416 586 8628.

Vitamin D insufficiency in the UK and diabetes

Elina Hyppönen, Centre for Paediatric Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Institute of Child Health, University College London, UK

During my talk I demonstrated that vitamin D insufficiency is a current problem in Britain and presented data showing how infant vitamin D supplementation or vitamin D deficiency early in life may contribute to the risk of type I diabetes. The elderly and those of black or Asian ethnic minority groups are known to have a high risk of vitamin D deficiency, but a significant proportion of the adult British Caucasian population is also affected. Children who grow rapidly and who do not get sufficient exposure to sunlight are at increased risk of rickets. Evidence from Mediterranean countries indicates that even in a sunny climate vitamin D deficiency is a serious concern in breast-fed infants who do not receive supplemental vitamin D. There is a need to re-evaluate vitamin D supplementation recommendations for infants in the UK and to ensure that appropriate supplements are made widely available.

Vitamin D and type 1 diabetes

In vitro studies and animal experiments have shown that the active hormonal form of vitamin D, calcitriol, has important influences on T-cell activity, which may have profound effects on the autoimmune process leading to beta cell destruction in type 1 diabetes [1]. There is increasing evidence from animal experiments indicating that administration of calcitriol may reduce the progression to type 1 diabetes, and complete protection from the disease has even been achieved when sufficiently large doses have been used [2]. Although calcitriol is also known to be important for normal insulin secretion [3,4], it is not clearly established whether these direct effects on the beta cell are a mechanism by which vitamin D might reduce the risk of developing type 1 diabetes.

To date, there are few data on the effect of vitamin D intake or status on diabetes risk in humans, and studies have been restricted to looking at either very early exposure (that is, vitamin D supplementation in uterus/during infancy) or vitamin D status and supplementation after diabetes diagnosis.

The first report on the association between vitamin D supplementation in infancy and diabetes risk came from the EURODIAB study that combined data from seven European countries [5]. Pooled analysis of this multinational case-control study suggested a 33% reduction in the subsequent risk of developing type 1 diabetes if the child had received vitamin D supplementation during the first year of life [5]. In a Norwegian case-control study published a year later, the offspring of mothers who had taken cod liver oil supplementation in infancy were inconclusive of type 1 diabetes, whereas their findings on the effect of vitamin D supplementation in infancy were inconclusive (the suggested effect ranged from a nearly 90% reduction in diabetes risk to a two-fold increase) [6].

In our own study on the 1966 Northern Finland Birth cohort, there was a remarkably consistent association between several indicators of vitamin D intake and status with the risk of type 1 diabetes, which was robust to adjustment for a wide range of neonatal, anthropometrical and social indicators [7]. The incidence of type 1 diabetes by age 31 was reduced by over 80% if vitamin D supplementation during the first year was regular, compared to no supplementation.

Furthermore, among children who had received vitamin D supplementation regularly, a further 80% risk reduction was seen if the dose given to the infant had been at least at the level of the contemporary recommendation of 2,000 IUs (50 μ g) per day [7]. Infants suspected of having had rickets during the first year of life had a three-fold risk of developing diabetes compared to others. Although studies on the association between vitamin D and type 1 diabetes have given promising results, it is clear that more research, including intervention studies, is needed to establish if the occurrence of type 1 diabetes is reduced by increasing vitamin D intake.

Link between changing supplementation recommendations and incidence of type 1 diabetes in Finland?

Although the incidence of rickets is still much lower than half a century ago, an increase in its incidence was observed during the 1980s in Finland [8]. The recommended dose of vitamin D supplementation has been reduced to a tenth of the level recommended in the early 1960s. The reduction was implemented in steps. In 1964 the recommended dose was reduced from the dose interval of 4,000-5,000 IUs to 2,000 IUs per day [9], and in 1975 the daily dose was further reduced to 1,000 IUs. The change to the current recommendation of 400 IUs in Finland was made in 1992.

There is also some indication of lower compliance in giving vitamin D supplementation to infants in the early 1990s when compared to that observed in the 1966 cohort.

In the STRIP Baby intervention study (1991-1993), 93% of one-year-olds were given vitamin D supplementation [10]. According to a small survey carried out in Finland in 1993, 65% of 138 children under two had received vitamin D supplementation regularly [11]. The corresponding proportions in the Northern-Finland Cohort 1966 Study were 99.7% and 88%, respectively. Therefore, it seems plausible that the constant increase in the incidence of type 1 diabetes observed in Finland during the past decades could be related to the combination of changes in the recommendations of vitamin D supplementation, and compliance in giving the supplementation to the infants.

Vitamin D supplementation and status in Britain

Evidence from Mediterranean countries indicates that even in a sunny climate, vitamin D deficiency is a serious concern in breast-fed infants who do not receive supplemental vitamin D [12]. However, in the UK, no vitamin D supplementation is routinely recommended for breast-fed infants (although it is included as part of the Healthy Start Programme, the reform of the Welfare Food Scheme).

Risk groups for vitamin D deficiency in Britain include breast-fed infants who do not receive supplementation. Infants from black or ethnic minority groups are at particularly high risk of developing vitamin D deficiency. Indeed, individuals (of all age groups) from ethnic minority groups are commonly affected by vitamin D deficiency, due to reduced vitamin D synthesis in the skin as the result of darker skin pigmentation or cultural clothing habits [13-15]. Vitamin D synthesis is also reduced in the elderly [16], and vitamin D deficiency is an especially severe problem among individuals living in institutions [17,18].

Data from the British 1958 Cohort (aged 44-45, 2002-2004) confirmed the extremely high rates of vitamin D insufficiency in ethnic minority groups [19]. However, vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency also affect significant proportions of the British Caucasian adult population. Overall, one quarter of the British Caucasians had insufficient levels of vitamin D (25(OH)D <40 nmol/l), while nearly two-thirds of individuals in ethnic minority groups were affected. Problems of vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency were particularly prevalent during the winter and spring months, when reserves built up during the previous summer had been depleted. According to the data, nearly half of the adult Caucasian population in Britain are estimated to have insufficient levels of 25(OH)D during winter/spring, and would be in need of supplementation.

Vitamin D as a public health concern in Britain

Vitamin D status in the general British population is not satisfactory, and increased intake of dietary vitamin D is required to correct for the lack of exposure to ultraviolet light (and hence vitamin D synthesis in the skin), especially during winter and spring. Commercially available infant milk formulas are currently fortified with vitamin D, so that a child consuming one litre per day receives around 400 IU, corresponding to the dose currently recommended for infants in Canada and several European countries. However, there is no doubt that breast milk is the best food for babies, as it contains important protective immunological factors in addition to optimal amounts of all nutrients, with the exception of vitamin D. There is clearly a need to re-evaluate vitamin D supplementation recommendations for infants in the UK and to ensure that appropriate supplements are made widely available.

References:

- 1. Zella, J. B. and DeLuca, H. F., *Vitamin D and autoimmune diabetes.* J Cell Biochem 2003; 88: 216-222.
- 2. Zella, J. B., McCary, L. C. and DeLuca, H. F., Oral administration of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D(3) completely protects NOD mice from insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Arch Biochem Biophys 2003; **417**: 77-80.
- Billaudel, B., Faure, A., Labriji-Mestaghanmi, H. and Sutter, B. C., Direct in vitro effect of 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D₃ on islets insulin secretion in vitamin deficient rats: influence of vitamin D₃ pretreatment. Diabete Metab 1989; 15: 85-87.
- 4. Norman, A. W., Frankel, J. B., Heldt, A. M. and Grodsky, G. M., Vitamin D deficiency inhibits pancreatic secretion of insulin. Science 1980; 209: 823-825.
- 5. The EURODIAB Substudy 2 Study Group. Vitamin D supplement in early childhood and risk for Type I (insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus. Diabetologia 1999; 42: 51-54.
- 6. Stene, L. C., Ulriksen, J., Magnus, P. and Joner, G., *Use of cod liver oil during pregnancy associated with lower risk of Type I diabetes in the offspring.* Diabetologia 2000; **43**: 1,093-1,098.
- 7. Hyppönen, E., Läärä, E., Reunanen, A., Järvelin, M. and Virtanen, S. M., *Intake of vitamin D and risk of type 1 diabetes: a birth-cohort study.* Lancet 2001; **358**: 1,500-1,503.
- 8. Ala-Houhala, M., Sorva, R., Pelkonen, A., Johansson, C., Stahlberg, M. R., Hakulinen, A. *et al.*, *[A recurrence of rickets prevalence, diagnosis and treatment]*. Duodecim 1995; **111**: 337-344.
- 9. Hallman, N., Hultin, H. and Visakorpi, J., *Riisitaudin ennakkotorjunnasta.* [*Prevention of rickets, in Finnish*]. Duodecim 1964; **80**: 185-189.
- Lagstrom, H., Jokinen, E., Seppanen, R., Ronnemaa, T., Viikari, J., Valimaki, I. *et al.*, Nutrient intakes by young children in a prospective randomized trial of a low-saturated fat, low-cholesterol diet. The STRIP Baby Project. Special Turku Coronary Risk Factor Intervention Project for Babies. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 1997; 151: 181-188.
- **11.** Sihvola, S., Lapsen terveys ja lapsiperheiden hyvinvointi. Sosiaalipediatrinen tutkimus suomalaisesta lapsesta. [Child health, and the well-being of families with children. Social-pediatric study of Finnish Child, in Finnish]. Mannerheimin Lastensuojeluliitto, Helsinki, 1994.
- 12. Challa, A., Ntourntoufi, A., Cholevas, V., Bitsori, M., Galanakis, E. and Andronikou, S., *Breastfeeding and vitamin D status in Greece during the first 6 months of life.* Eur J Pediatr 2005; **164**(12): 724-729.
- **13.** Pal, B. R., Marshall, T., James, C. and Shaw, N. J., *Distribution analysis of vitamin D highlights differences in population subgroups: preliminary observations from a pilot study in UK adults.* J Endocrinol 2003; **179**: 119-129.
- Datta, S., Alfaham, M., Davies, D. P., Dunstan, F., Woodhead, S., Evans, J. et al., Vitamin D deficiency in pregnant women from a non-European ethnic minority population an interventional study. BJOG 2002; 109: 905-908.
- **15.** Ladhani, S., Srinivasan, L., Buchanan, C. and Allgrove, J., *Presentation of vitamin D deficiency.* Arch Dis Child 2004; **89**: 781-784.
- **16.** Halloran, B. and Portale, A. A., *Vitamin D metabolism and aging.* In: *Vitamin D* (eds. Feldman, D., Pike, J. W., Glorieux, F. H.). Elsevier Academic Press 2005: 823-838.
- 17. Thomas, M. K., Lloyd-Jones, D. M., Thadhani, R. I., Shaw, A. C., Deraska, D. J., Kitch, B. T. *et al., Hypovitaminosis D in medical inpatients.* N Engl J Med 1998; **338**: 777-783.
- **18.** Liu, B. A., Gordon, M., Labranche, J. M., Murray, T. M., Vieth, R. and Shear, N. H., *Seasonal prevalence of vitamin D deficiency in institutionalized older adults.* J Am Geriatr Soc 1997; **45**: 598-603.
- **19.** Hyppönen, E., Power C. Unpublished.

Disclosure: Dr Hyppönen is funded by the Department of Health (UK) Public Health Career Scientist Award. The author may be contacted via email, on e.hypponen@ich.ucl.ac.uk.

Evidence of deficiency and insufficiency of vitamin D in the UK: National Diet and Nutrition Survey (NDNS) data, 1994-2004

Barbara J. Boucher, MD, FRCP, Centre for Diabetes and Metabolic Medicine, Queen Mary School of Medicine and Dentistry, London, UK

The following data summarise the findings for vitamin D status and for vitamin D intake as a proportion of recommended nutritional intakes (RNI) for children, the elderly and high-risk groups, that are contained in the published reports of the UK National Diet and Nutrition Survey (NDNS), 1995-2004 [1-5]. This is a population-based survey carried out in people of all ages across the UK; no specific figures were provided for South Asians and the data provided on this group, recognised to be at high risk for hypovitaminosis D, have been culled from work published in peer-reviewed journals [6-9].

The following points should be noted:

• The cut-offs used to define hypovitaminosis D are based, for deficiency, on evidence of association with bone disease (rickets in children and osteomalacia in adults) and, for insufficiency, on evidence of association with non-bony as well as bony disorders. Thus, throughout, the prevalence of insufficiency includes those with deficiency

• Vitamin D deficiency is currently 'defined' using a cut-off of serum 25(OH) vitamin D of about 25 nmol/l. Where NDNS data are not given for this cut-off level the data given are for the cut-off nearest to that level, and the exact level of cut-off is shown in the Tables

• Vitamin D insufficiency is currently defined using a cut-off of serum 25(OH) vitamin D of 50 nmol/l, though recent work suggests 70-75 nmol/l is more correct. Thus, the data given for insufficiency is given for both cut-offs when possible. Where NDNS data are not given for precisely these cut-off levels the data quoted are for cut-offs as near as possible to those levels and the exact cut-off levels shown in the Tables.

Vitamin D status of UK population

Table 1: Children aged 1 t	to 4 [1]					
Age years			1.5-2.5	2.	5-3.5	3.5-4.5
Deficiency						
Serum 25(OH)D<25 nmol/l	Boys		1%	1%	,)	0
	Girls		1%	1%	,)	0
Insufficiency (inc deficiency	r)					
Serum 25(OH)D<50 nmol/l	Boys		17%	23	%	12-22%
	Girls		17%	23	%	12-22%
Serum 25(OH)D<65 nmol/l	All		64%	62	62%	
Table 2: Children aged 4	-18 [2]					
Age years		4-6	7-10	11-14	15-18	Average
Deficiency						
Serum 25(OH)D <25 nmol/	Boys	3%	4%	11%	16%	8%
	Girls	7%	7%	11%	10%	8%
Insufficiency						
Serum 25(OH)D <50 nmol∕l	Boys	23%	26%	40%	54%	36%
	Girls	25%	26%	44%	49%	36%

62%

53%

55%

53%

Boys

Girls

77%

71%

76%

80%

Serum 25(OH)D <70 nmol/l

>50%

>50%

Table 3: Adults aged 19-0	64 [4]				
Age years	19-24	25-34	35-49	50-64	Average
Deficiency					
Serum 25(OH)D <25 nmol∕l					
Men	24%	16%	12%	9%	14%
Women	28%	28%	13%	15%	11%
South Asians					38-95%
Serum 25(OH)D <30 nmol∕l					
Men and Women					22%
Insufficiency					
Serum 25(OH)D <50 nmol∕l					
Men	70%	57%	58%	49%	57%
Women	67%	50%	57%	49%	60%
Serum 25(OH)D <70 nmol∕l					
Men	90%	80%	85%	85%	84%
Women	83%	76%	84%	78%	80%
Table 4: Adults over 65 l	iving indep	endently [5]			
Age years	65-74	75	-84	>85	Average
Deficiency					
Serum 25(OH)D <25 nmol∕l					
Men	5%	5%	0	13%	6%
Women	6%	15	%	25%	10%
Insufficiency					
Serum 25(OH)D <50 nmol∕l					
Men	17%	33	%	46%	23%
Women	37%	395	%	55%	3%
Table 5: Adults over 65 l	iving in resi	dential homes	s [5]		
Age years	•	65-84	 →85	A	verage
		2.404	100/		2024
Serum 25(OH)D <25 nmol/l	Men	36%	42%		8%
	Women	38%	36%	-	3/%
Insufficiency					
Serum 25(OH)D <40 nmol/l	Men	69%	68%	6	69%
	Women	75%	86%	8	30%
Table 6: Adults over 65,	using highe	r definitions o	f deficiency a	nd insufficien	cy [5]
Deficiency		Inc	dependent	Residentia	al

Deficiency		
Serum 25(OH)D <30 nmol/l	8%	37%
Insufficiency		
Serum 25(OH)D <75 nmol/l	60%	77%

Table 7: Pregnant women [9-11]

	South Coast UK [10]	South Asian [11]
Insufficiency		
Serum 25(OH)D <50 nmol/l	50%	54%

Age years	Boys 4-18 [2]	Girls 4-18 [2]	Men [4]	Women [4]
Scotland	63.0	60.7	43.7	42.5
N of England	58.5	63.5	50.9	52.4
Central and SW England & Wales	64.2	62.4	48.6	51.1
London and SE England	62.6	56.0	6.7	46.9

Table 8: Average vitamin D levels in blood over a year from north to south of the UK: mean 25(OH)D nmol/l over the seasons [2-4]

Intakes of vitamin D in the UK

The tables that follow show the recorded intake of vitamin D as a percentage of the daily recommended nutritional intake [RNI]. The RNIs for vitamin D in the UK are as follows: Children < 3 years: 7 μ g (~290 IUs)/day; High-risk adult groups*: 10-20 μ g (400-800 IUs)/day; Aged > 65: 10 μ g (400 IUs)/day

*There is no RNI for 'normal' adults in the UK; that is, adults who are not in high-risk groups. High-risk groups may be defined as people who are confined indoors, or adults who work indoors all day, pregnant women, those with dark skin, those wearing veils or all-over clothing, vegetarians, those eating low-fat diets, those over 65, and those regularly using sunscreen at factor 8 or above or avoiding summer sunshine. Many women regularly use foundation cosmetics containing sunscreen and they may well also be at high risk.

Table 9: Children aged 1-4 [1]

	0 11				
Age years	1.5-2.5	2.5-3.5	3.5-4.5	Average	
Total intake	26%	26%	26%	26%	
Intake from food	28%	26%	26%	27%	

Table 10: Children aged 4-18 [2]

Age years	Boys	Girls
Mean total intake vitamin D	2.6 µg (104 IUs)	2.1 μg (84 IUs)
% from cereals	37%	35%
% from fats (fortified) and meat	20%	20%
% from oily fish	7%	9%

Tables 11 and 12, which follow, show the percentage of people failing to reach various intakes, allowing for their intake from food alone or from food plus supplements. More people will fail to take in, say, 2.5 μ g from food alone than will fail to make that intake if you include supplements as well as food in their intake.

Table 11: Adults aged 19-64 failing to reach given average intake [3]

	Food and s	supplements	From food	only
Average intake	Men	Women	Men	Women
<2.5 μg (100 IUs)	32%	41%	34%	59%
<5.0 µg (200 IUs)	71%	70%	79%	89%
<10 µg (400 IUs)	93%	90%	97%	98%

Table 12: Adults aged over 65 failing to reach RNI (400 IUs/day) [5]

-	Food and supplements		From food only		
	Men	Women	Men	Women	
Living independently	46%	33%	41%	29%	
Residential	39%	34%	38%	33%	

Commentary

A continuing high prevalence of full-blown vitamin D deficiency in the UK is demonstrated in the Tables shown, which are based on data from the National Diet and Nutrition Survey published 1995-2004 for the population as a whole, and from other published data for British South Asians. The attendant risks of rickets in children and of osteomalacia and increased fracture rates in adults are especially regrettable in the country that identified vitamin D almost a century ago.

It has been known since the 1920s that these problems do not arise with adequate exposure to summer sunlight, even in this northern country, and that dietary supplementation (with, for example, cod liver oil) can both cure and prevent these problems. Furthermore, the continuing high prevalence rates of hypovitaminosis D is likely to be increasing the prevalence of the many non-bony disorders that are strongly associated with vitamin D inadequacy. These disorders include many common cancers (for example, breast, colon, prostate), type 2 diabetes, ischaemic heart disease, tuberculosis, rheumatoid arthritis, periodontal disease and autoimmune diseases such as type 1 diabetes of childhood and multiple sclerosis, as well as increased fracture rates in old age. These chronic disorders place heavy burdens upon individual sufferers and on the state, both in terms of the cost of their care to the NHS and in terms of the care and support needed in the community. Such costs would be expected to fall with avoidance of hypovitaminosis D in the population at large. Trials using really adequate vitamin D supplementation (for instance, 100,000 IUs orally once every four months, as studied by Trivedi, Doll and Khaw [12]), can reduce fracture rates in elderly people in the UK. Trials of similarly adequate supplementation for reduction in risks of chronic non-bony disorders are long overdue.

References:

- 1. Gregory, J. R., Collins, D. L., Davies, P. S. W. *et al.*, *The National Diet and Nutrition Survey: Children aged 1.5 to 4.5 years.* Volumes 1 and 2. HMSO, London, 1995.
- 2. Gregory, J., Lowe, C., Bates, C. *et al. The National Diet and Nutrition Survey: young people aged 4-18 years.* Vol 1: Report of the Diet and Nutrition Survey. The Stationery Office, London, 2000.
- 3. Henderson, L., Irving, K., Gregory, J. *et al. The National Diet and Nutrition Survey: adults aged 19 to 64 years.* Vol 3: Vitamin and mineral intake and urinary analyses. The Stationery Office, London, 2003.
- 4. Ruston, D., Hoare, J., Henderson, L. *et al. The National Diet and Nutrition Survey: adults aged 19 to 64 years.* Vol 4: Nutritional status (anthropometry and blood analyses, blood pressure and physical activity). The Stationery Office, London, 2004.
- 5. Finch, S., Doyle, Lowe, C. *et al. The National Diet and Nutrition Survey: people aged 65 years and over.* Vol 1: Report of the Diet and Nutrition Survey. The Stationery Office, London, 1998.
- 6. Shaw, N. J. and Pal, B. R., Vitamin D deficiency in UK Asian families: activating a new concern. Arch Dis Child 2002; 86: 147-149.
- 7. Iqbal, S. J., Kaddam, I., Wassif, W., Nichol, F. and Walls, J., *Continuing clinically severe vitamin D deficiency in Asians in the UK (Leicester).* Postgrad Med J 1994; **70**: 708-714.
- 8. Boucher, B. J., Mannan, N., Noonan, K., Hales, C. N. and Evans, S. J., *Glucose intolerance and impairment of insulin secretion in relation to vitamin D deficiency in east London Asians.* Diabetologia 1995; **38**: 1,239-1,245.
- **9.** Pal, B. R., Marshall, T., James, C. and Shaw, N. J., *Distribution analysis of vitamin D highlights differences in population subgroups: preliminary observations from a pilot study in UK adults.* J Endocrinol 2003; **179**: 119-129.
- Boucher, B. J. et al., Maternal Vitamin D status contributes inversely to cord proinsulin and directly to abdominal girth in white babies born in Southern England. Ped Res 2003; 53(6): Suppl (Part 2). Also in 2nd World Congress on fetal origins of adult disease. Abs 110; p14A-15A.
- **11.** Datta, S., Afaham, M., Davies, D. P., Dunstan, F., Woodhead, S., Evans, J. and Richards, B., *Vitamin D deficiency in pregnant women from a non-European ethnic minority population an interventional study. (A study from Cardiff.)* BJOG 2002; **109**: 905-908.
- Trivedi, D., Doll, R. and Khaw, K., Effect of four-monthly oral vitamin D₃ (cholecalciferol) supplementation on fractures and mortality in men and women living in the community: randomised double blind controlled trial. British Medical Journal 2003; **326**: 469-474.

The author can be contacted at the Centre for Diabetes and Metabolic Medicine, Queen Mary School of Medicine and Dentistry, 4 Newark St, London El 2AT, UK. Tel: +44 1243 811 230; e-mail:bboucher@doctors.org.uk.

Do we need more sun exposure?

Brian Diffey, Regional Medical Physics Department, Newcastle General Hospital, Newcastle, UK

In his paper, Oliver Gillie discusses the health consequences of not enough exposure to sunlight resulting in vitamin D insufficiency and calls for a shift in public health messages concerning sun exposure. I will argue that the evidence that such a shift will reduce the population burden of disease, especially cancer, is inadequate, that we receive more than enough sun exposure during recreational activities and that changing population lifestyles to synthesise 'adequate' vitamin D during adventitious sun exposure is fanciful.

The incidence of skin cancer, and cutaneous malignant melanoma in particular, continues to rise in many countries, including the UK, and is predicted to continue rising for some years to come. The rise is commonly attributed to changing lifestyles resulting in increasing intermittent, high-dose exposure to sunlight, especially during childhood, as a consequence of outdoor pursuits and vacations at sunny locations. In an attempt to stabilise or even reduce this upward trend, the Health Education Authority introduced the Sun Know How campaign in 1995 and, following its demise in 2000, Cancer Research UK took on the SunSmart campaign.

The focus of these campaigns is to advise people who intend spending prolonged periods in strong sunshine how to limit their exposure. It's not about telling people to avoid the sun. The particular core message is a warning not to get over-exposed such that the skin gets sunburnt. Yet Oliver Gillie has suggested that these campaigns are killing many more people than saving lives and has called for the SunSmart programme to be abandoned as soon as possible. And so what we're now seeing in the media are confusing public health messages about just what is appropriate behaviour in the sun.

So the question I want to examine is: 'Do we need a revised public health policy on sun exposure?' And in order to answer this question, I'm going to explore a number of subsidiary questions.

First of all, how much sun exposure do we actually receive in this country? Our sun exposure on a day-to-day basis depends primarily on three factors: it depends upon astronomical considerations of the height of the sun in the sky; it depends upon what the weather is like and, most importantly, it depends upon how long we are out of doors and what we're doing when we are out there.

Broadly speaking, we can divide our sun exposure into adventitious exposure, which is the sort of exposure that all of us got this morning as we were walking to the meeting, and elective exposure, when we deliberately go to seek the sun for recreational purposes, usually during summer weekends and during our summer holidays.

By combining average monthly values of measured ambient UV radiation in the UK with exposure (relative to ambient) on sites such as the face and hands, together with estimates of time spent outside (but not in vehicles) during weekdays and at weekends, it is possible to give some indication of the range of daily exposures at different times of the year (see Figure 1). The data shown for holiday exposure in Figure 1 relate to someone who is ambulant; for keen sunbathers who are prone or supine, daily exposures of 10 SED or higher are easily achievable. (An exposure of 2-3 SED [standard erythema dose] is necessary for a minimal erythema [MED] in unacclimatised white skin that burns easily.)

During the winter months between November and February in the UK, there is insufficient ambient UV to synthesise vitamin D, especially when low ambient temperatures mean it is unlikely anything more than the face and hands will be exposed when outdoors.

On the other hand, elective (that is, recreational) sun exposure during weekends and holidays in the summer months (May to August), when an appreciable area of the body surface is likely to be exposed for one or more hours in largely unshaded sunshine, will result in more than enough exposure for adequate synthesis of vitamin D. This will be true even if sun protection measures such as sunscreens are employed, due to their imperfect nature. Since sun exposure regulates the cutaneous production of vitamin D by causing its photodegradation, the production of vitamin D is limited, no matter how long a person is exposed to sunlight. Hence it is simply not possible to synthesise large stocks of cutaneous vitamin D by prolonged sun exposure. Campaigns such as the Cancer Research UK SunSmart programme are intended to advise people primarily during their recreational exposure for extended periods in strong sunshine and there is no need to compromise on the key messages in these campaigns to ensure adequate sun exposure.

This leaves our adventitious sun exposure from March to October and during summer weekdays when we are at work. We live in a time-poor society, however. Data from the UK 2000 Time Use Survey, where thousands of

people were asked to fill in a diary of how many minutes they spend each day on different activities, showed that on average each day British adults spend 508 minutes sleeping, 221 minutes at work on weekdays, 148 minutes watching TV, 85 minutes travelling, but just 14 minutes engaging in outside activities. We live very pressured lives in our modern society such that during the so-called 'vitamin D window' around the middle of the day there are many things competing for our time. We may be at work. We may be travelling. And the notion proposed by Oliver Gillie in his paper that people should sunbathe during this time in order to synthesise 'adequate' vitamin D is unlikely to be realised.

Figure 1



Representative daily UV exposure of an ambulant indoor worker in the UK

So rather than advocate primary prevention of vitamin D insufficiency by prescriptive sun exposure which, because of the many confounding factors of time of day, season, latitude, weather, presence of nearby shade, behaviour and area of skin exposed is complex and will only lead to confusion, it might be better to rely on secondary prevention by encouraging more outdoor physical activity. Not only would this be beneficial to the nation's health in terms of obesity, diabetes and coronary disease, but people would also receive some subliminal UV exposure in the process.

That brings us to the next question. Even if people could be persuaded to increase the duration and anatomical extent of their sun exposure, is there any evidence that this would change the vitamin D status of the population? Figure 2 shows the variation in serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D (25(OH)D) levels with season and latitude. While these data will be confounded by differences in population demographics and dietary intake of vitamin D between the studies, compounded additionally by problems that might be present in comparing results due to non-standardisation in 25(OH)D assay, two points emerge.

First, it is clear from these data that there is only a modest seasonal variation in mean vitamin D status but, more importantly, mean population levels of people living in sunny regions like Florida and Australia are not appreciably different from people living at much more northerly latitudes, including the UK and Norway. Furthermore, the overall mean winter and summer levels from all studies of 21 and 30 ng/ml, respectively, fall into the band between 20-40 ng/ml (50-100 nmol/l), which Armin Zitterman has termed hypovitaminosis.

So whatever the health benefits of vitamin D may be in diseases like cancer, it would appear that living in a sunny location or modifying lifestyle to achieve greater sun exposure is not likely to be an effective means of significantly changing population vitamin D status. The more likely consequence is an increase in the adverse effects associated with sun exposure.



Mean (+1 standard deviation) levels of serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D of adults in winter and summer in Miami 26° N, Geelong 38°S, Boston 42°N, south west Germany 49°N, Calgary 51°N, Bristol 51°N and northern Norway 65-71°N. (For comparison, the UK encompasses the latitudes 50°-60°N). The broken lines indicate differing vitamin D status.

Is there then strong evidence that sun exposure – not vitamin D *per se* – reduces cancer incidence and mortality? The approach I take is *Pluralitas non est ponenda sine necessitate*; words of the medieval English philosopher and Franciscan monk, William of Ockham (about 1285-1349) which can be paraphrased as 'keep it simple'.

The annual ambient solar UV radiation in southern Australia and New Zealand is about two to three times that in northern Europe (UK, Ireland, Scandinavia and the Baltic States), rising to more than a four-fold increase in northern Australia. The maximum UV index (a measure of midday sunburning intensity in the summer) is 14 in Brisbane and only 6-7 in London, and studies of individual exposure to sunlight demonstrate that median doses in Australia are appreciably higher than those measured in a similar cohort of subjects in England. Consequently, there is overwhelming evidence that people living in Australia and New Zealand are exposed to considerably more solar UV radiation than those living in northern Europe.

The health impact of this difference in the solar UV environment is most convincingly seen in the Table, which shows that the incidence and mortality of melanoma in Australia and New Zealand is about four and two times higher, respectively, than in northern Europe. Yet when the incidence of other cancers that are claimed to be modified by exposure to solar UV is examined, a very different picture emerges.

Colorectal cancer is less common in northern Europe than in Australia and New Zealand, with little difference in mortality (see Table), an observation that makes it difficult to believe that sun exposure can be having any important protective benefit in this cancer. Similar conclusions can be drawn about prostate cancer. And despite the considerable differences in population solar UV exposure, the incidence and mortality of female breast cancer, one of the principal cancers for which sun exposure has been said to be protective, is virtually identical in both regions.

In support of the epidemiological observation of large differences in melanoma incidence, there are animal models confirming the role of UV radiation in the induction of skin cancers, including melanoma. There are no animal data supporting the protective role of UV exposure in other cancers.

The rise in melanoma incidence over the past decades is commonly attributed to increased opportunity for sun exposure. It might be expected, therefore, that if sunlight were protective in other cancers we would observe a corresponding fall in incidence. Yet, as Figure 3 demonstrates, not only has an upward trend in melanoma been apparent for the past 30 years in the UK, but there have also been increases in the incidence of breast, colon and prostate cancer over the same period. 60

Let me make it clear that I am not saying that UV or vitamin D may not have some role in cancer incidence and mortality. But when I look at data like these, they do not persuade me that living in a sunny country is a sure way of reducing my risk of getting, or dying from, cancer. And that's important, because if we're going to have a change in public health policy, we need to base it on firm evidence. I think the data presented by others are interesting and important but nevertheless insufficient for defending a change in public health policy concerning sun exposure.

Now, moving on to perhaps the most pertinent question. Is the SunSmart campaign impacting adversely on the

Table: The age-standardised incidence and mortality rates per 100,000 person years with 95% confidence intervals for selected cancers in Australia/New Zealand and in Northern Europe. (GLOBOCAN 2002: Cancer Incidence, Mortality and Prevalence Worldwide. IARC CancerBase No. 5, version 2.0, Lyon: IARC Press, 2004.)

Males	Melanoma		Colorectal		Prostate	
	incidence	mortality	incidence	mortality	incidence	mortality
Northern Europe	8.4 (8.2-8.6)	2.2 (2.1-2.3)	37.5 (37.1-37.9)	17.6 (17.3-17.9)	57.4 (56.9-57.9)	19.7 (19.4-20.0)
Australia/New Zealand	37.7 (36.7-38.7)	5.2 (4.8-5.6)	48.2 (47.1-49.3)	19.4 (18.7-20.1)	79.9 (78.6-17.5)	18.1 (17.5-18.7)
Females	Melano	oma	Colore	ctal	Breas	t
	incidence	mortality	incidence	mortality	incidence	mortality
Northern Europe	10.0 (9.8-10.2)	1.6 (1.5-1.7)	26.4 (26.1-26.7)	12.7 (12.5-12.9)	82.5 (81.9-83.1)	22.6 (22.3-22.9)
Australia/New Zealand	29.4 (28.5-30.3)	2.8 (2.6-3.0)	36.9 (36.0-37.8)	14.1 (13.6-14.6)	84.6 (83.2-86.0)	19.4 (18.7-20.1)

Figure 3





(Courtesy of Cancer Research UK)

population sun exposure that we get? The messages of the SunSmart code are about keeping in the shade, making sure you don't burn, covering up, taking extra care of children and using factor 15+ sunscreen. The question we should ask, though, is that although those may be the messages, are they changing behaviour?

Figure 4 is a photograph taken on Brighton Beach around the middle of the day, during summer. Not many people seeking the shade, are there? Not many people covering up. But does this picture surprise many readers? What you may have been more surprised about is if I'd showed a picture of an empty Brighton Beach because everybody was seeking the shade. The point is that although people know the messages, it's very difficult – particularly in this country – to get people to adopt them. So if this is the situation during our elective exposure, how much less effective is a message about avoiding the sun between 11 a.m. and 3 p.m. going to be during our casual exposure? When was the last time you saw the London parks deserted around lunchtime in the summer because people were scared to go out in the sun? So the message may be there, but the reality is that it's not having much of an impact.

If we were to abolish the messages in the SunSmart campaign it would almost certainly make little or no difference to population levels of vitamin D in this country. The one thing we could well see, however, is an ever-upward, or

Figure 4



Brighton beach around the middle of the day, during summer.

perhaps an accelerating, trend in the number of people getting and dying from skin cancer.

Finally, in adopting changes to public health policy, consideration needs to be given to the social and psychological consequences of the action. Cancer is a disease that is perhaps most feared by people, and public health messages that make patients feel blameworthy that their cancer may be self-imposed (for example, not getting enough sunlight in this instance), or that they should move away from family and friends to a sunny country in the belief that this would extend their life need a strong evidence base.

So, in conclusion, we cannot justify presently public health campaigns to increase the burden of solar ultraviolet radiation in the white population of the UK as a whole, as a means of reducing the incidence and mortality of cancer and other chronic diseases. Consequently, there is no need for British people to deliberately spend more time outdoors in strong sunshine. Nor should we abandon current sun awareness campaigns in the UK, which are not a message for year-round outdoor behaviour, but rather are aimed primarily at avoiding excessive exposure in strong sunshine that can result in acute signs such as skin reddening and increase the lifetime risk of skin cancer. This is especially true for children and adolescents, where there is epidemiological evidence that exposure to high levels of sunlight during this period is a strong determinant of subsequent risk of melanoma. Furthermore, the continuing popularity of overseas holidays and global warming will act as drivers for increasing UK population exposure to high levels of sun exposure.

The author can be contacted at the Regional Medical Physics Department, Newcastle General Hospital, Newcastle NE4 6BE, UK. Tel: +44 191 256 3516, e-mail: b.l.diffey@ncl.ac.uk.

A new health policy for sunlight and vitamin D

Oliver Gillie, PhD, director of the Health Research Forum

Insufficient vitamin D, obtained from diet or sunlight, is beginning to be recognised as a major 'lifestyle' risk factor which may be as important as smoking, obesity or alcohol abuse. Low levels of vitamin D are now very common in all industrial countries and are associated with a wide range of chronic disease. Increasing evidence suggests that lack of vitamin D is a significant cause of much of this disease. Other papers in this volume provide evidence of this.

Vitamin D insufficiency differs from other major risk factors in the ease with which it may be remedied. Vitamin D intake can be raised to healthy levels in three different ways: by taking supplements, by increased consumption of fortified foods, and by sunbathing. These three ways of increasing vitamin D levels need not involve any substantial change in personal habits or way of life.

No difficult personal choices are required for vitamin D levels to be improved. There is no need to give anything up, as smokers must do, and no need to curb the appetite, as must those who eat or drink too much. Nevertheless, there are serious practical obstacles which require government action if vitamin D levels are to be raised substantially in the UK and other industrial nations.

Optimal daily intake of vitamin D

The optimal daily intake of vitamin D is probably between 3,000 and 5,000 IUs per day [1]. However, in the UK hardly anybody gets anything near an optimal intake of vitamin D. Some 60% of people in the UK have serum levels of vitamin D that are insufficient (serum 25(OH)D <25nmol/l) and some 12% have levels that are actually deficient (serum 25(OH)D <50 nmol/l) [2,3].

Those with frank deficiency are at risk of rickets or osteomalacia and those with insufficient levels are at risk of osteoporosis. In addition, everyone with insufficient or deficient levels is at risk of the numerous chronic diseases associated with sub-optimal levels of vitamin D that are documented in this report and elsewhere [4,5].

An average UK diet may provide about 150 IUs of vitamin D per day. Together with two teaspoons of cod liver oil (600 IUs) an average person in the UK could obtain 750 IUs of vitamin D. The remaining vitamin D requirement must be obtained from the sun. In the following article I discuss in turn the problems of obtaining enough vitamin D from supplements, from food and from sunlight.

Incorrect government advice on supplements

Advice from the UK government says incorrectly that no vitamin D supplement is needed by healthy adults in the UK [6]. This advice was formulated at a time when the optimal uptake of vitamin D was thought to be much lower than it is today. Standard advice from doctors and health professionals continues to follow this government line and so discourages the public from taking a vitamin D supplement.

In fact, most people in the UK have sub-optimal levels of vitamin D (84% of adults aged 19 to 64 have serum levels <75 nmol/l) and would benefit from taking a supplement or otherwise improving their vitamin D status [2]. New UK government advice on daily vitamin D requirements for adults is urgently required.

Even if an adult in the UK wanted to take a vitamin D supplement the products that are readily available in the shops have a low potency. A dose of 200 IUs a day is commonly provided in over-the-counter products in the UK. Cod liver oil can provide 600 IUs a day but relatively few people are prepared to take it, even though its palatability can be much improved in formulations with orange juice. So over-the-counter supplements in the UK can improve vitamin D levels in only a minor way. More potent products providing a useful daily dose of 1,000 or 2,000 IUs vitamin D can be obtained via the internet. Similar high-dose vitamin D3 products need to be available over the counter in the UK. If government changed its recommendations these products could be made available quickly.

Some of the vitamin D products in the shops in the UK are formulated with vitamin D2 (ergocalciferol), an analogue of the natural compound, vitamin D3 (cholecalciferol), with about one-third of its potency. Most of the prescription products in the UK are also formulated with vitamin D2. The different potencies of vitamin D2 and D3 are well described in the scientific literature [7] but this information has not yet reached standard medical and pharmacological texts and is not reflected in any way in the labelling of products. This means that people who buy D2 products are unwittingly obtaining a dose which has a potency one-third of what is in any case a low dose. Labelling

which clarifies the differing potency of D2 and D3 is urgently required.

Once these problems are solved and suitable vitamin D products are available in the shops supplements could be promoted in a massive government health campaign. This would be a sensible approach which could be expected to pay dividends since disease caused by vitamin D insufficiency is believed to cost billions of pounds per year in the UK and billions of dollars per year in the US [4,8].

However, many people don't like to take supplements, can't be bothered, or don't remember. So, to ensure that everyone in the population gets enough vitamin D, other means of providing it need to be used as well.

Infant vitamin drops in the UK

In 1940, when Britain was fighting desperately for survival in World War 2, some forward-looking doctors and nutritionists started the Welfare Food scheme which provided free or reduced-cost foods including milk, concentrated orange juice and cod liver oil, to all infants under five in the UK [9]. Cod liver oil is the best natural source of vitamin D and has been used in Europe as a traditional health tonic for hundreds of years. Provision of vitamin D in early life is now thought to be important for prevention of diabetes type 2, for establishment of strong bones [11], and probably for prevention of multiple sclerosis (see George Ebers' paper in this report) and other chronic disease.

The UK Welfare Food Scheme began as a universal programme for all children regardless of family income. To begin with, some Welfare Foods were completely free and others were subsidised but by the 1970s free Welfare foods were only given to families on benefits. In 1975 cod liver oil was changed to a mixture of vitamins A, C and D provided in the form of drops, known as NHS infant vitamin drops. Beneficiaries dwindled over the years to a few thousand and the government ceased to promote NHS infant vitamin drops for sale with any enthusiasm. It seems that increasing affluence encouraged the idea that most people were well fed and so infant vitamins were no longer needed. This, of course, overlooked the fact that vitamin D insufficiency is extremely common in the UK and bears no relation to social class or quality of diet as it is commonly understood.

About two years ago NHS infant vitamin drops, which were made specially for government under licence, were found to leak in storage. The product was withdrawn and since then has not been available. Instead a commercial preparation, Abidec, has been made available to the small number of women who can claim the vitamins as a benefit; but Abidec is not sold in mother and baby clinics as the NHS infant vitamins were, and so infant vitamins have ceased to be a routine part of healthcare for babies. And there is another problem. Abidec is formulated with vitamin D2 which has one-third the potency of D3, and so infants given Abidec are getting a less than adequate dose of vitamin D.

It is a pathetic tale of government mismanagement which could be put right at little cost. Infant vitamins could prevent not only rickets, which has re-emerged as a problem disease among Asian families in the UK in recent years, but it might be expected to prevent at least some MS or diabetes and in so doing save millions if not billions of pounds. Rickets and D-deficiency are particular problems in breast-fed babies because mothers living in the UK generally have low serum levels of vitamin D and hence insufficient vitamin D in their breast milk.

Government advice on this is completely inadequate. In *Feeding your child*, the Department of Health advises: 'Generally... if you are still breastfeeding after your baby is six months old, he or she should have baby vitamin drops containing vitamins A, C and D.' This advice may date from the old observation that rickets does not tend to become evident and be diagnosed until babies are about six months of age [12]. By this time any vitamin D gained by the baby while still in the womb is totally exhausted. However, it is more logical to provide the baby with a vitamin D supplement before this point is reached. Vitamin drops containing D should be given from birth to breast-fed babies. Mothers would also be well advised to take a supplement containing vitamin D during pregnancy.

Fortification of food

The second way of increasing vitamin D intake is from food, but that too is difficult in the UK and other countries. The quantity of vitamin D obtained by individuals from food in the UK varies over a wide range. This is because we obtain vitamin D from a limited number of foodstuffs which are not a part of everybody's diet. Some 50% of vitamin D in the UK diet comes from cereals or margarine, which many people do not eat [2].

You may choose, as I do, a Mediterranean diet with olive oil, a wholemeal breakfast cereal such as oats or muesli, or wholemeal bread, and fruit. And you may think it is a healthy diet as, indeed, evidence suggests it is in general. But it is relatively deficient in vitamin D. On the other hand, a more traditional British cooked breakfast including white bread, margarine, a fortified breakfast cereal such as, for example, Kellog's Special K, followed by fried egg and sausage will contain a great deal more vitamin D.

Wholemeal products may be expected to reduce available vitamin D because the phytate present in bran binds calcium and prevents it from being absorbed from the bowel. This causes a more rapid breakdown or turnover of vitamin D, leading to lower serum levels [13]. So there is much to be said for choosing a brown, rather than wholemeal, bread which includes the wheatgerm that provides so many important B vitamins but excludes the fibre that contains phytate.

Much more vitamin D could be obtained from the diet if more foods were fortified with vitamin D. At present there are no legal measures in the UK that prevent this, but tighter European Union regulations will be introduced over the next year or so as part of procedures aimed at harmonisation of legislation. The food industry is not likely to be interested in fortifying more foods with vitamin D unless suitable health claims are permitted, which enable a market for D-fortified foods to be established. Health claims are tightly regulated so it will be necessary to negotiate a suitable health claim for vitamin D before many foods are likely to be fortified with it.

Government should take steps to facilitate approval of suitable health claims for vitamin D-containing foods, and take initiatives with industry to encourage the creation and promotion of D-fortified products. This could be done quite quickly if enthusiastic government backing was given.

Vitamin D from the sun

The third source of vitamin D is sunlight. This is in fact the major source of vitamin D for most people in the world except for those living in Polar regions. Inuit (Eskimos) obtain their vitamin D from fish and marine produce while Lapps obtain theirs from reindeer meat, which is relatively rich in vitamin D because the deer feed on moss rich in the vitamin.

The quantity of vitamin D obtained by exposure of the skin to the sun varies with season, skin type, latitude, weather and, of course, the amount of skin exposed. The northern location of the British Isles and our maritime weather produce a climate that is extreme in its lack of strong sunlight. People resident in the British Isles obtain no vitamin D at all from the sun in winter because the sun is too low in the sky and most of the UVB rays, which make vitamin D in skin, are absorbed by their long transit through the atmosphere. Casual exposure of hands, arms and face to the sun in summer in the UK produces some useful vitamin D, up to about 450 IUs per day, but this is nowhere near enough to provide an optimal level of vitamin D in the blood (Dianne Godar – personal communication).

The Scots, at 560 N, get almost one-third less sun than the southern English and this shows up in lower average blood levels of vitamin D [14]. It may also account for many of the unexplained differences that epidemiologists have found between the health and mortality of the Scots and the English, which are shaken off when the Scots migrate south to England [15,16]. The higher levels of certain cancers [17], heart disease [17], multiple sclerosis [18] and other conditions in Scotland cannot be entirely accounted for by higher levels of smoking or greater poverty. Epidemiologists have been left with an unexplained gap which may well be filled, at least in part, by vitamin D insufficiency. A number of reports have been written on health in Scotland and none of them have looked seriously at vitamin D insufficiency as a possible cause of disease other than that of bone.

A person with black skin (type 5 or 6) will get about one-fifth of the vitamin D that is obtained by someone with a white skin in the UK [19,20]. It is impossible for a person with a dark skin to obtain enough vitamin D for good health simply by casual exposure to the sun in the UK. This explains why rickets occurs in the UK predominantly in the babies of mothers with dark skins [21], and may also explain why certain other diseases such as diabetes and hypertension have been noted to be particularly problematic in dark-skinned minorities living in the UK [22].

Vitamin D gain from sunbathing

Major gains in vitamin D can be made in the UK by sunbathing. Exposure of the whole body to the sun can supply up to 10,000 IUs of vitamin D a day [23,24], or rather less at the beginning and end of the British summer when the sun is weak. There are 182 days (26 weeks) when the sun may be strong enough to make vitamin D in the skin in the UK. But, the sky will be clear and the air warm enough for sunbathing in less than half of these.

People able to sunbathe for half their weekends and bank holidays and half of their summer holidays might be able to sunbathe for 36 days a year in the UK. Averaged out, this will enable them to obtain about 2,000 IUs of vitamin D per day during the summer. Sunbathing in the lunch hour on weekdays when it might only be practical to expose legs, arms and possibly shoulders could produce some more useful vitamin D and might even bring the amount of vitamin D obtained over the summer into the optimum range. Even in the UK, the sun is potentially our best source of vitamin D and can provide a great deal more vitamin D than can be obtained from food.

Some of the vitamin D obtained over the summer may be stored and used in the darker autumn and winter days that follow, but how much is not known for certain. The half-life of vitamin D when measured by isotopic decay of 25(OH)D in the body is about 10 days [25]. However, measurement of 25(OH)D in real-life situations gives a different answer. Submariners returning after a 68-day voyage have been found to have levels of 25(OH)D reduced by 39%, giving an *in vivo* 'steady-state half-life' of the vitamin D pathway which is nearly three months [26,27]. Toxicity studies have also suggested a half-life of 'several months' [25], while studies of the winter decline in 25(OH)D in people living in Canada and Italy suggest that the decline does not continue in a linear fashion [28,29].

If this is correct, then sunbathing in summer may provide vitamin D which is surplus to immediate needs that may be stored for use in autumn and winter. The details of how vitamin D may be stored and how levels are maintained in winter are not well understood. Nevertheless, it is clear that higher levels achieved in summer will be followed by higher levels in winter and so it must be advantageous to achieve high summer levels.

So it makes sense to obtain high levels of vitamin D by sunbathing whenever possible in summer, while taking care not to burn. The alternative is to take high-dose vitamin D tablets which at present may only be obtained through the internet. People with darker skins (darker than types 1 and 2) would be advised to take a supplement in any case.

The SunSmart policy

The UK government has contracted the charity, Cancer Research UK, to be largely responsible for its policy on sunlight. The policy devised by CR-UK is called SunSmart. The name is identical to a policy developed in Australia and the SunSmart recommendations bear a remarkable similarity to recommendations of the Australian SunSmart policy. But Cancer Research UK says it is its own invention. Wherever it came from, it is completely unsuited to the climate of the British Isles. The British government has so far spent more than £3 million on promoting SunSmart and similar unsuitable policies [30].

SunSmart (see Box 1) consists of five principal recommendations which spell the word SMART down the left-hand side when arranged in order. The key recommendation is that for four hours during the middle of the day, the body should be covered up to protect against the sun; alternatively, a person may remain indoors or in the shade during those four hours. SunSmart also advises that suncream be applied 20 minutes before going out, although this is not clear from its five-point summary. A person adhering to this advice will get very little exposure to ultraviolet light which is, of course, strongest at midday, and so will make very little vitamin D.





Some people have taken the SunSmart advice to extremes and designed special head-to-toe garments for children which are reminiscent of chemical warfare suits (see photograph above). A child made to wear a suit of this kind, together with suncream on face and hands, is going to get virtually no vitamin D from the sun. It is difficult to see how a child dressed in this way could avoid consequent chronic disease of some kind unless also given a substantial vitamin D supplement.

Such total protection suits are the result of cancer scare stories used to promote SunSmart. These scares have induced some parents to take extreme measures to protect their children and have also persuaded some adults to take extreme measures to avoid sunlight. Such measures are likely to cause vitamin D deficiency with all its consequences, which quite probably include an overall increase in the risk of cancer.

The SunSafe advice

Some 28 years ago I began with others at *The Sunday Times* newspaper to compile information about lifestyle and health. The idea, encouraged by Harry Evans, our visionary editor, was to provide a guide to healthy living. The readership of *The Sunday Times* was such that our advice went out to millions of people. We took the job very seriously and compiled the advice in a book which we called *The Sunday Times Book of Body Maintenance* [31]. This exercise compelled me and others involved to think about what sort of advice is most valuable to the public and the best ways of promulgating it.

I continued to provide advice to readers when I went to *The Independent* and have continued to do so from time to time in books. I mention all this as a preface to advice which I provide here on sun exposure, to show that provision of advice is not a new departure for me and that I understand the serious considerations which must go into formulating it. The SunSafe advice (see Box 2), which I advocate here, has been carefully thought out for the reduction of risks of chronic disease from too much or too little sun. The SunSafe advice is conservative and reflects the advice given on sunlight in the UK in the past before prevention of skin cancer became the sole aim of sunlight policy.

The SunSmart programme (see Box 1) contains no positive statements about sunlight, only negative ones. SunSmart not only fails to encourage people to expose themselves to the sun, which is necessary for maintenance of healthy vitamin D levels, it actively discourages people from sun exposure of any kind. There is a clear risk that such negative advice will do harm by making people vulnerable to a variety of chronic diseases caused by vitamin D insufficiency, including cancer, as reviewed in other papers in this report. The SunSmart strategy is risky. It risks causing more cancer than it prevents. For this reason I have suggested that the SunSmart programme should be abandoned and replaced with a positive programme.

The SunSmart Advice

- Stay in shade between 11 a.m. and 3 p.m.
- Make sure you never burn
- Always cover up
- Remember to take extra care of children
- Then use factor 15 sunscreen

Box 1: The SunSmart advice from Cancer Research UK is not recommended. All its messages about sunlight are negative and so it can be expected to prevent or discourage exposure to the sun with consequent risks of increasing vitamin D insufficiency, deficiency and disease.

The SunSafe programme (see Box 2) provides positive guidelines for sun exposure which are based both on up-to-date evidence and common sense. This programme encourages people to expose themselves safely to the sun. As a result, they will gain substantially more vitamin D during the summer, with consequent benefits the following winter and spring. At the same time, SunSafe warns against burning, which is the only risk of sun exposure that has been clearly linked with skin cancer. The SunSafe programme provides a practical approach which codifies what many sensible British people already do in summer.

The SunSafe Advice - safe and smart

- **1.** Sunbathe safely without burning every day if you can.
- **2.** The middle of the day is a good time for sunbathing in the UK.
- **3.** Start by sunbathing for 2-3 minutes each side. Gradually increase from day to day.
- 4. Don't use sun screen while sunbathing.
- **5.** If feeling hot or uncomfortable expose a different area, cover up, move into the shade or use sun screen.
- **6.** When abroad, where the sun is generally stronger, expose yourself for shorter times until you find out how much is safe.
- 7. Children benefit from sun exposure, but need guidance.
- **8.**A tan is natural and is generally associated with good health.

Box 2: The SunSafe advice is based on upto-date scientific evidence and on the common-sense approach to sun exposure that was taken in the UK before advice such as SunSmart was promoted. It encourages safe exposure to the sun, which is our major source of vitamin D, and so can be expected to contribute to prevention of disease caused by vitamin D insufficiency.

In support of the SunSafe approach it is worth remembering that sunlight is a natural source of vitamin D for human beings. White skins have evolved so that sunlight can be used most effectively. It cannot be wise to suggest that a lifestyle which makes use of these natural means should be abandoned without very clear scientific evidence showing an overall benefit from such a change. Cancer Research UK and others suggest that the people in Britain lurk in the shade for four hours in the middle of the day, or put on sun screen and wait 20 minutes before emerging fully clothed, with hat, into full sunlight. These suggestions should be ignored because there is no clear scientific evidence that such crude sun avoidance measures have any overall benefit to health.

Protection against cancer

Some 16 different cancers have been shown to occur more frequently in northern states of the United States or in northern countries of Europe, compared with southern states or countries [32]. The incidence of these cancers varies systematically with latitude and/or intensity of sunlight. Using such data Bill Grant, an independent researcher, has calculated the number of 'extra' cancer deaths in the UK attributable to lack of exposure to sunlight [8]. Put crude-ly, these are deaths that would not occur if the UK had the same climate as Florida. However, it is not necessary to go to live in Florida to improve sun exposure. This can be done in the UK by sunbathing.

The estimated number of deaths per year from insufficient exposure to sun in the UK is much higher than deaths from all types of skin cancer. This in itself suggests that any measure, such as SunSmart advice, which further reduces general sun exposure may increase the overall risk of cancer. This can be seen to be even more likely when it is realised that only a proportion of the risk of melanoma may be caused by sun exposure – some estimates put it as low as 10% [4,33]. When this is borne in mind the overall risk of death from skin cancer can be seen to be small compared with the risk of death from cancer that is attributable to too little sun exposure.

Melanoma is a desperately tragic disease which is difficult or impossible to treat successfully once metastasis has occurred, and so we are all eager to prevent it if we can. Several studies have shown an association between cutaneous melanoma and sunburn, but other studies have shown that outdoor workers, who get much more sun exposure than indoor workers, are less vulnerable to the disease [34-36]. At least one careful study has shown that people who have greater lifetime exposure to the sun have a lower risk of melanoma [37], and another study has shown that people who have had greater sun exposure survive longer once melanoma has developed [38].

So much emphasis has been put on sunlight being a cause of melanoma that other possible causes of the disease are seldom mentioned. There are a few clues suggesting what these other causes may be. A link between cutaneous melanoma and higher social class or education has been found in a number of countries [39]. And several studies have found an increased risk of melanoma in those with greater adult height [40,41]. These clues suggest that melanoma may have similar causes to those proposed for other cancers [42].

For example, it has been suggested that plentiful food in childhood leads to higher growth hormone levels and greater adult height [42]. At the same time the high growth hormone levels may cause rapid cell growth and persistence of cells which are not fully differentiated. These cells are at high risk of developing into cancer cells. Vitamin D is known to act on cells to direct development towards full differentiation or apoptosis (regulated cell death) [43].

Evidence that melanoma is one of a group of cancers caused by some common factor or factors comes from studies showing that people with melanoma are particularly vulnerable to other cancers, possibly as a result of special conditions, such as too plentiful a diet in childhood and adolescence. A person who has had one melanoma has a 5-10% chance of developing another melanoma, as well as a significantly increased risk of developing other cancers [44-46]. Increased levels of insulin or insulin-like growth factors may well explain this increased vulnerability to melanoma and other cancers [47].

Vitamin D in the diet [48,49], as well as from the sun [37], may help to protect against melanoma, while obesity and lack of exercise may increase the risk of melanoma [41,50]. When melanoma is understood in this way, as a disease having multifactoral causes, then it can be seen that a more sophisticated prevention policy is needed that avoids sunburn but maintains or increases sun exposure so that vitamin D levels are improved and not reduced.
Conclusion

Many scientific studies suggest that insufficient vitamin D is a contributory cause of a wide range of chronic disease which probably includes multiple sclerosis, diabetes, heart disease and several types of cancer, in addition to the classic bone diseases. Evidence from scientific trials suggests that taking a vitamin D supplement may reduce the risk of fracture and other bone disease, hypertension and arthritis. At least 60 per cent of the adult population of the UK obtain insufficient vitamin D. So whatever the assessment of the evidence linking vitamin D insufficiency with chronic disease, it makes good sense for individuals to optimise their vitamin D levels. Much more could be done by governments and the European Union to make it easier for people to gain optimal vitamin D levels. Even so there is much that individuals themselves may do to improve their vitamin D levels and reduce the risk of chronic disease. A summary of what government and individuals may do follows.

What the government could do to raise population levels of vitamin D and reduce associated chronic disease falls into five categories:

1: Encourage non-mandatory fortification of a wide range of foodstuffs with vitamin D at suitable levels and agree suitable health claims for vitamin D. Announce a national campaign to promote such foods at a date agreed with producers.

2: Re-introduce a universal vitamin D supplement for all infants up to age five. Breast-fed babies should commence the supplement from birth. Other babies could commence the supplement on weaning because bottle milk is already fortified and so supplement is not needed until weaning. Uptake of these supplements should be promoted with an extensive national campaign. Vitamin D is not expensive. The main cost of this programme will be the cost of packaging, distribution and promotion.

3: Recommendations on use of vitamin D supplements and dose of vitamin D supplements for people of all ages are too low and need to be urgently reviewed.

4: Special government campaigns are needed to persuade people with darker skin living in the northern countries to take a year-round vitamin D supplement.

5: The SunSmart programme should be abandoned and regular safe sunbathing should be promoted.

How individuals may boost their vitamin D levels:

1: By taking a vitamin D supplement of 1-2,000 IUs per day all year round. A higher dose of 3,000 IUs per day might be better but is not yet approved by British or EU authorities.

2: By sunbathing safely (without burning) at every opportunity, following the SunSafe advice.

3: For those who can afford it, a winter sunshine holiday between January and March below latitude 35°, or in the southern hemisphere, will boost vitamin D levels when they are at their lowest. Suitable destinations include the Canary Islands, Florida, Caribbean, or any sub-tropical or tropical location.

4: Boosting calcium in the diet increases vitamin D levels in the body. Calcium may be increased relatively easily by consuming more milk, yoghurt and cheese, or by taking a calcium supplement. Eating brown, rather than wholemeal, bread will also boost calcium because wholemeal bread contains phytate which binds calcium and prevents it being absorbed from the bowel. Brown bread retains the wheatgerm which is a major source of B vitamins, and only lacks fibre. But lack of wheat fibre should not be a problem if plenty of vegetables and fruit, which are the best source of fibre, are eaten.

Vitamin D uptake may be boosted by altering the diet but this presents difficult choices and cannot provide sufficient vitamin D by itself. So it is not recommended as a priority. Margarine is one of the best sources of vitamin D but margarine contains trans-fatty acids, which have been linked to coronary heart disease. Certain breakfast cereals are fortified but these tend to be the more highly processed cereals that would not otherwise be a first choice.

Oily fish is a very good source of vitamin D for those who like it but the UK Food Standards Agency recommends that women who are or might become pregnant or are breast-feeding should eat no more than two portions per week and that men and children should eat no more than four portions a week. This is because fish accumulates pollutants, such as dioxins, that are discharged into the sea.

References

- 1. Heaney, R., Davie, K., Chen, T., Holick, M. F. and Barger-Lux, M., *Human serum 25-hydroxycholecalciferol response to extended oral dosing with cholecalciferol.* Am J Clin Nutr 2003; **77**: 204-210.
- 2. Boucher, B., Summary of data on prevalence of vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency in the UK, taken from the National Diet and Nutrition Survey data. Health Research Forum Occasional Reports: No. 2, 2006.
- 3. Ruston, D., Hoare, J., Henderson, L. et al., The National Diet and Nutrition Survey: adults aged 19-64 years. Vol 4: Nutritional status (anthropometry and blood analyses, blood pressure and physical activity). The Stationery Office, London, 2004.
- **4.** Gillie, O., Sunlight Robbery: Health benefits of sunlight are denied by current public health policy in the UK. Health Research Forum Occasional Reports 2004; **1**: 1-42.
- 5. Zittermann, A., Vitamin D in preventive medicine: are we ignoring the evidence? Br J Nutr 2003; 89: 552-572.
- 6. *Safe upper levels for vitamins and minerals.* Expert Group on vitamins and minerals. Food Standards Agency, London, 2002.
- Armas, L. A. G., Hollis, B. W. and Heaney, R. P., Vitamin D₂ is much less effective than vitamin D₃ in humans. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 2004; 89: 5,387-5,391.
- 8. Grant, W. B., Garland, C. F. and Holick, M. F., *Comparisons of estimated economic burdens due to insufficient solar ultraviolet irradiance and vitamin D and excess solar UV irradiance for the United States.* Photochemistry and Photobiology 2005; **81**: 1,276-1,286.
- 9. *Scientific Review of the Welfare Food Scheme.* Committee on medical aspects of food and nutrition policy. Rep Health Soc Subj (Lond) 2002; **51**: 1-147.
- **10.** Hyppönen, E., Läärä, E., Reunanen, A., Järvelin, M. R. and Virtanen, S. M., *Intake of vitamin D and risk of type 1 diabetes: a birth-cohort study.* Lancet 2001; **358**: 1,500-1,503.
- **11.** Tobias, J. and Cooper, C., *PTH/PTHrP Activity and the programming of skeletal development in utero.* Journal of Bone and Mineral Research 2004; **19**: 177-182.
- 12. Petzoldt, K., Kuhne, M., Blanke, E., Kieslich, K. and Kaspar, E., *[Delta-24(28)-dehydro-erogsterin, isolation and chemical reactions]*. Justus Liebigs Ann Chem 1967; **709**: 203-208.
- **13.** Pettifor, J. M., *Nutritional rickets: deficiency of vitamin D, calcium, or both?* American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 2004; **80**: S1,725-S1,729.
- 14. *Health effects of ultraviolet radiation.* Report of an Advisory Group on Non-ionising Radiation National Radiological Protection Board 2002; 13.
- **15.** Elford, J., Phillips, A. N., Thomson, A. G. and Shaper, A. G., *Migration and geographic variations in ischaemic heart disease in Great Britain.* Lancet 1989; **1**(8,634): 343-346.
- **16.** Hanlon, P. et al., Why is mortality higher in Scotland than in England and Wales? Decreasing influence of socioeconomic deprivation between 1981 and 2001 supports the existence of the 'Scottish Effect'. J Public Health (Oxf) 2005; **27**: 199-204.
- 17. Wanless, D., Securing Good Health for the Whole Population. HM Treasury, London 2004: 103-105.
- **18.** Willer, C., Dyment, D., Sadovnick, A., Rothwell, P. and Ebers, G., *Timing of birth influences multiple sclerosis susceptibility: the Canadian Collaborative Study Group.* British Medical Journal 2005; **330**: 120.
- 19. Harris, S. and Dawson-Hughes, B., *Seasonal changes in plasma 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations of young American black and white women.* American J Clinical Nutrition 1998; **67**: 1,232-1,236.
- 20. Serhan, E., Newton, P., Ali, H., Walford, S. and Singh, B. M., *Prevalence of hypovitaminosis D in Indo-Asian patients attending a rheumatology clinic.* Bone 1999; 25: 609-611.
- 21. Wharton, B. and Bishop, N., *Rickets.* Lancet 2003; **362**: 1,389-1,400.
- 22. Boucher, B. J., Inadequate vitamin D status: does it contribute to disorders comprising syndrome 'X'? British Journal of Nutrition 1998; **79**: 315-327
- 23. Vieth, R., Vitamin D supplementation, 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations, and safety. Am J Clin Nutr 1999; 69: 842-856.
- **24.** Holick, M. F., Sunlight "D"ilemma: risk of skin cancer or bone disease and muscle weakness. Lancet 2001; **357**: 4-6.
- 25. Vieth, R., *The pharmacology of vitamin D, including fortification strategies.* In: *Vitamin D 2nd edition* (eds. Feldman, D., Pike, J. W., Glorieux, F. H.) Elsevier Academic Press, 2005.
- **26.** Preece, M., Tomlinson, S., Ribot, C. *et al.*, *Studies of vitamin D deficiency in man.* Q J Medicine 1975; **44**: 575-589.
- 27. Dlugos, D., Perrotta, P. and Horn, W., Effects of submarine environment on renal-stone risk factors and

vitamin D metabolism. Undersea Hyperb Med 1995; **22**: 145-152.

- 28. Carnevale, V. et al., Longitudinal evaluation of vitamin D status in healthy subjects from southern Italy: seasonal and gender differences. Osteoporos Int 2001; 12: 1,026-1,030.
- 29. Rucker, D., Allan, J. A., Fick, G. H. and Hanley, D. A., *Vitamin D insufficiency in a population of healthy western Canadians*. CMAJ 2002; **166**: 1,517-1,524.
- Lapsley, P., Preventing Skin Cancer. Rapid Response to Alison Fry and Julia Vern. British Medical Journal 2003;
 326: 114-115.
- 31. Gillie, O. J. and Mercer, D., *The Sunday Times Book of Body Maintenance*. Michael Joseph, London, 1978.
- **32.** Grant, W., An estimate of premature cancer mortality in the United States due to inadequate doses of solar ultraviolet-B radiation. Cancer 2002; **94**: 1,867-1,875.
- **33.** Begg, C. B., *The search for cancer risk factors: when can we stop looking?* Am J Public Health 2001; **91**: 360-364.
- 34. Hakansson, N., Floderus, B., Gustavsson, P., Feychting, M. and Hallin, N., *Occupational sunlight exposure and cancer incidence among Swedish construction workers.* Epidemiology 2001; **12**: 552-557.
- 35. Elwood, J., *Melanoma and sun exposure.* Seminars in Oncology 1996; 23: 650-666.
- **36.** Garland, F. C., White, M. R., Garland, C. F., Shaw, E. and Gorham, E. D., *Occupational sunlight exposure and melanoma in the U.S. Navy.* Archives of Environmental Health 1990; **45**: 261-267.
- **37.** Kennedy, C., Bajdil, C. D., Willemze, R., de Gruijl, F. R. and Bavinck, J. N. B., *The influence of painful sunburns and lifetime sun exposure on the risk of actinic keratoses, seborrheic warts, melanocytic nevi, atypical nevi, and skin cancer.* Journal of Investigative Dermatology 2003; **120**: 1,087-1,093.
- **38.** Berwick, M. *et al., Sun exposure and mortality from melanoma.* Journal of the National Cancer Institute 2005; **97**: 195-199.
- **39.** Ortiz, C., Goodwin, J. and Freeman, J. L., *The effect of socioeconomic factors on incidence, stage at diagnosis and survival of cutaneous melanoma.* Med Sci Monit 2005; **11**: 163-172.
- **40.** Thune, I., Olsen, A., Albrektsen, G. and Tretli, S., *Cutaneous malignant melanoma: association with height, weight and body-surface area. A prospective study in Norway.* Int J Cancer 1993; **55**: 555-561.
- **41.** Shors, A. R., Solomon, C., McTiernan, A. and White, E., *Melanoma risk in relation to height, weight, and exercise (United States).* Cancer Causes Control 2001; **12**: 599-606.
- **42.** Gunnell, D. et al., Childhood leg length and adult mortality: follow up of the Carnegie (Boyd Orr) Survey of Diet and Health on Pre-War Britain. J Epidemiol Community Health 1998; **52**: 142-152.
- **43.** Campbell, M. and Colston, K. W., *The actions of the vitamin D receptor in health and malignancy; Polymorphic associations and gene regulatory actions.* In: *Nutrient Gene Interactions in Cancer* (eds. Sang and Froi). CRC Press, Boca Raton, 2005.
- 44. DiFronzo, L., Wanek, L., Elashoff, R. and Morton, D., *Increased incidence of second primary melanoma in patients with a previous cutaneous melanoma.* Annals of Surgical Oncology 1999; **6**: 705-711.
- **45.** Swerdlow, A., Storm, H. and Sasieni, P., *Risks of second malignancy in patients with cutaneous and ocular melanoma in Denmark, 1943-1989.* International Journal of Cancer 1995; **61**: 773-779.
- **46.** Riou, J-P., Ariyan, S., Brandow, K. and Fielding, L., *The association between melanoma, lymphoma, and other primary neoplasms.* Archives Surgery 1995; **130**: 1,056-1,061.
- Kuhn, C., Hurwitz, S., Kumar, M., Cotton, J. and Spandau, D., Activation of the insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor promotes the survival of human keratinocytes following ultraviolet B irradiation. Int J Cancer 1999;
 80: 431-438.
- **48.** Osborne, J. E. and Hutchinson, P. E., *Vitamin D and systemic cancer: is this relevant to malignant melanoma?* Br J Dermatol 2002; **147**: 197-213.
- **49.** Millen, A. *et al., Diet and melanoma in a case-control study.* Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers Prevention 2004; **13**: 1,042-1,051.
- **50.** Kirkpatrick, C. S., White, E. and Lee, J. A., *Case-control study of malignant melanoma in Washington State.* 2: *Diet, alcohol, and obesity.* Am J Epidemiol 1994; **139**: 869-880.

The author can be contacted at the Health Research Forum, 68 Whitehall Park, London N18 3TN. Tel: +44 20 7561 9677; e-mail: olivergillie@blueyonder.co.uk; website: www.healthresearchforum.org.uk

Disclosure: Oliver Gillie receives no financial support from commercial interests of any kind.

Author Biographies

Barbara J. Boucher, BSc, MD, FRCP, is senior lecturer at the Centre for Diabetes and Metabolic Medicine, Queen Mary School of Medicine and Dentistry, London. Dr Boucher has wide research interests in hormone metabolism, interferon α and type 1 diabetes, and effects of vitamin D deficiency in the elderly. She has studied possible causes of the increased prevalence of diabetes and heart disease in local Bangladeshis. She has found that hypovitaminosis D and variations in vitamin D axis genes increase the risk of type 1 and type 2 diabetes and also increase markers and risk factors for heart disease in UK Bangladeshis and whites. Dietary intake of vitamin D and omega 3 fatty acids from imported fish have been found to reduce and increase risk for type 2 diabetes in the two groups, respectively (unpublished). In collaboration with workers in Southampton she has found that bone strength in children relates to maternal vitamin D status. She has also studied interactions between vitamin D axis gene expression, dietary nutrients and colorectal cancer risk gene expression.

Brian Diffey, professor of medical physics at the University of Newcastle, is clinical director of the Northern Regional Medical Physics Department, the largest such department in the UK, employing around 300 physicists, engineers and technologists within 13 hospitals across the north of England. He is based at Newcastle General Hospital and also holds a personal chair in photobiology within the University of Newcastle's Medical School.

He has had a considerable involvement in studies of human exposure to sunlight, its effects on normal and diseased skin, and in measures that can be taken to reduce excessive exposure – especially the use of sunscreens, an area in which he has pioneered novel ways of measuring broad-spectrum protection by sunscreens that have been adopted world-wide by the sunscreen industry.

He has published more than 350 papers in the medical and scientific literature and advises a number of bodies including Cancer Research UK and the World Health Organisation on the impact of sun exposure on skin cancer.

George Ebers is Action Research professor of neurology in the Department of Clinical Neurology at the University of Oxford. Professor Ebers is a graduate of the University of Toronto and did his postgraduate work at Montreal, Cornell University, and the Rockefeller University. He is an active clinician but his research interests have primarily been in the area of neurological genetics and multiple sclerosis. His laboratory found the first genetic linkages for paramyotonia congenita and episodic ataxia, and co-reported the molecular defect in Thomsen's disease. He initiated and led with co-investigators the Canadian Collaborative Study of MS. He has studied the natural history of the disease with findings which have been relevant to the design, execution and interpretation of clinical trials in this area. His main interests at present are studying gene/environment interactions in MS.

Ian Gibson is Member of Parliament for Norwich North, and honorary professor at the University of East Anglia. Dr Gibson was born in Scotland and educated at Dumfries Academy. He attended the University of Edinburgh, where he was awarded a BSc and a PhD. After working at the Universities of Edinburgh, Indiana and Seattle, he joined the University of East Anglia where he became dean of the School of Biological Sciences and served as head of a 10-strong research team investigating various forms of cancer. In 2003, the University awarded him an honorary professorship.

In 1997, 2001 and 2005, he was elected as Member of Parliament for Norwich North. He specialises in science and health issues and chairs the All Party Parliamentary Group on Cancer, and the All Party Parliamentary Group on Cuba. He is the former chair of both the House of Commons Select Committee on Science and Technology and the Parliamentary and Scientific Committee. He is also co-manager and occasional pivotal defender in the Parliamentary football team. His work in Parliament has been recognised by MPs and members of the Lords. Dr Gibson has twice won the e-politix award for Health Champion, as well as the Backbencher of the Year award in 2003.

Oliver Gillie, founder of Health Research Forum, is a freelance medical writer and journalist with 25 years' experience working for national newspapers in the United Kingdom. Over the last three years he has been engaged in researching environmental causes of chronic disease, in particular the effects of vitamin D

deprivation. This has led to the publication of *Sunlight Robbery* – a report which shows how health benefits of sunlight are denied to the public by current government policy – and to the foundation of Health Research Forum, a not-for-profit organisation for discussion of public health policy. His writing on this subject has been recognised by awards from the Medical Journalists' Association and the Association of British Science Writers.

Oliver Gillie has won 14 other awards for his journalism and has been awarded the Royal Jubilee medal by the Queen for his work in science and medical journalism. He has been medical correspondent of *The Sunday Times* and medical editor at *The Independent* where he started the Health Page, which was an immediate success and was copied by all the other national quality dailies. He has BSc and PhD degrees from Edinburgh University where he studied developmental biology and genetics under Professor C.H. Waddington, the distinguished geneticist and embryologist. He also worked at the National Institute for Medical Research in Mill Hill, London, under Sir Peter Medawar, and has published several scientific papers on microbial genetics.

Michael F. Holick is professor of medicine, physiology and biophysics, director of the General Clinical Research Center and director of the Bone Health Care Clinic and the Heliotherapy, Light and Skin Research Center at Boston University Medical Center.

After earning a postgraduate degree in biochemistry, a medical degree, and completing a research postdoctoral fellowship at the University of Wisconsin, Madison, Dr Holick completed a residency in medicine at the Massachusetts General Hospital in Boston.

Dr Holick has made numerous contributions to the field of the biochemistry, physiology, metabolism, and photobiology of vitamin D for human nutrition. He determined the mechanism for how vitamin D is synthesised in the skin and demonstrated the effects of ageing, obesity, latitude, seasonal change, sunscreen use, skin pigmentation and clothing on this vital cutaneous process. Dr Holick has established global recommendations advising sunlight exposure as an integral source of vitamin D. He has helped increase awareness in the paediatric and medical community regarding vitamin D deficiency in the US population, and its role in causing metabolic bone disease, and osteoporosis in adults.

Dr Holick's laboratory recognised the important role that parathyroid hormone-related peptide (PTHrP) played in regulating skin and hair cell growth. He recently completed a study demonstrating that the topical application of PTH (1-34) is safe and efficient for treating psoriasis. These observations offer a novel approach for developing new dermaceuticals for treating skin and hair growth disorders.

Dr Holick is a Diplomate of the American Board of Internal Medicine, a Fellow of the American College of Nutrition, and a member of the American Academy of Dermatology and the American Association of Physicians. He has been the recipient of numerous awards and honours, including the American College of Nutrition award in 2002 and the Robert H. Herman Memorial Award in Clinical Nutrition in 2003 from the American Society for Clinical Nutrition. Dr Holick has served on a number of national committees and editorial boards and has organised and/or co-chaired several international symposia. He has authored more than 230 peer-reviewed publications, and written more than 200 review articles, as well as numerous book chapters. He has acted as editor and/or co-editor on eight books, and has recently written *The UV Advantage*, published by ibooks, New York.

Elina Hyppönen is a lecturer at the Institute of Child Health, University College, London. She holds a Department of Health (UK) Public Health Career Scientist position and has been appointed as docent in epidemiology at the University of Tampere, Finland. She has a PhD in epidemiology (University of Tampere, 2001). Dr Hyppönen graduated from the University of Kuopio, Finland, in 1996 with a Masters degree in health science and at the same time qualified as an authorised nutritionist. She also has Masters degrees in public health (University of Kuopio, 1997) and medical statistics (London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 2000). Her main research interests are short- and long-term health effects of vitamin D, diabetes, and intergenerational and genetic influences on growth and disease risk.

Johan Moan is a research scientist at the Institute for Cancer Research, The Norwegian Radium Hospital, and professor at Oslo University. Since 1976 Professor Moan's main research field has been photochemotherapy of cancer (PCT). This led to the start of clinical photochemotherapy at the Norwegian Radium Hospital in 1991. He began research in the field of environmental physics and biology in 1987. The project is mainly concerned with UV-photobiology, the biological consequences of ozone depletion and the relationship between skin cancer and ultraviolet radiation. The activity of the group has led to several patents, some of which have been utilised

by the company Photo Cure. Professor Moan has won numerous prizes for his work, including the national prize from the Sigval and Nankis Bergesen Foundation, the prize of honour from the European Society for Photobiology, and the Birkeland prize for physics. He has published 385 scientific papers.

Richard Strange is professor of clinical biochemistry at Keele University Medical School, North Staffordshire, and clinical director of pathology services at the University Hospital of North Staffordshire. Professor Strange is a Fellow of the Royal College of Pathologists. His current research interests are in the application of molecular epidemiological approaches to determine the impact of selected genetic polymorphisms on disease risk and outcome. Of particular current interest is the role of ultra-violet radiation in determining susceptibility to prostate cancer, basal cell carcinoma and multiple sclerosis via a vitamin D-mediated mechanism.

Reinhold Vieth is professor in the Department of Nutritional Sciences and the Department of Laboratory Medicine and Pathobiology at the University of Toronto. He began research in the field of vitamin D in 1974. He is a Fellow of the Canadian Academy of Clinical Biochemists, and since 1992 has been director of the Bone and Mineral Laboratory at Mount Sinai Hospital's Pathology and Laboratory Medicine Department, which serves as the regional reference laboratory for biochemical tests related to vitamin D nutrition and bone disease.

Dr Vieth is recognised internationally as an expert in the toxicology and clinical nutrition of vitamin D. His work is the basis of current European guidelines for the safe adult intake of vitamin D. His longstanding, controversial perspective – that adult requirements for vitamin D are much higher than those currently recommended – is gaining broad acceptance.

Armin Zittermann is clinical research manager at the Department of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery, Heart Center North-Rhine Westfalia, Germany, and University Lecturer at the Department of Nutrition and Food Sciences, Bonn, Germany. Dr Zittermann's main research interests are human vitamin D status, including prevalence and consequences of vitamin D insufficiency in different population groups. He is also interested in immunological aspects of heart transplantation. Moreover, he has a longstanding interest in nutritional aspects of osteoporosis and cardiovascular diseases and their relation to the interaction of environmental factors and biomedical risk factors. His work spans nutrition, epidemiology, physiology, and biochemical methods, including the basis for causal inference.